AD-750 493

PILOT'S AND NAVIGATOR'S HANDBOOK FOR CIVIL AVIATION (SELECTED ARTICLES)

G. V. Markov, et al

Foreign Technology Division Wright-Patterson Air Force Base, Ohio

21 July 1972



FTD-MT-24-291-72

FOREIGN TECHNOLOGY DIVISION

D750493



PILOT'S AND NAVIGATOR'S HANDBOOK FOR CIVIL AVIATION (SELECTED ARTICLES)

by

G. V. Markov and L. A. Ostrogskiy



Best Available Copy

Security Classification			
DOCL (Security classification of title, body of abaim	MENT CONTROL D.	ATA - R&D	n the overall report in cleasified)
1. ORIGINATING ACTIVITY (Converse wither)	aion	Ze. REPO	AT SECURITY CLASSIFICATION
Air Force Systems Comma	and	25. GROL	UNCLASSIFIED
U. S. Air Force		<u></u>	
			,
PILOT'S AND NAVIGATOR'S	HANDBOOK FOR	CIVIL AVIA	ATION
4. DESCRIPTIVE NOTES (Type of report and inclusive Translation	dates)		
6. AUTHOR(S) (First neme, middle initial, last neme)	<u></u>		<u></u>
O U Markey and T A			
G. V. Markov and L. A.	Ustrogskiy		
1971	78. 10	280	75. NO. OF REFS
BO, CONTRACT OR GRANT NO.	Se. ORI	GINATOR'S REPORT	NUMBER(S)
4. PROJECT NO.	FTI)-MT-24 - 0291	-72
ç,	SO. 071	ER REPORT NOIS) (Any other numbers that may be asai
	11/0	report)	
10. DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT	<u>T72-09-06</u>		
Approved for public rel	.ease; distrib	ution unlim	nited.
Approved for public rel	ease; distrib	NEORING MILITARY	hited.
Approved for public rel	ease; distrib	ution unlim	nited. ACTIVITY plogy Division son AFB, Ohio
Approved for public rel	ease; distrib For Wri	ution unlin NSORING MILITARY eign Techno ght-Patters	nited. ACTIVITY Dlogy Division Son AFB, Ohio
Approved for public rel 11. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES 18. ABSTRACT	ease; distrib Is apo For Wri	ution unlin NSORING MILITARY eign Techno ght-Patters	nited. ACTIVITY Dlogy Division Son AFB, Ohio
Approved for public rel 11. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES 18. ADSTRACT This is a handbook for based both on US and Se	ease; distrib	ution unlin NSORING MILITARY eign Techno ght-Patters 	activity blogy Division son AFB, Ohio gators. It is
Approved for public rel 11. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES 13. ASSTRACT This is a handbook for based both on US and So and operating procedure	civilian pilcoviet systems s relative to	ution unlin NBORING MILITARY eign Techno ght-Patters ts and navi and include the follow	ators. It is es instructions ving: air nav-
Approved for public rel 11. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES This is a handbook for based both on US and So and operating procedure igation, international	civilian pilo viet systems air routes, c	ution unlin NSORING MILITARY eign Techno ght-Patters ts and navi and include the follow ompass erro	ACTIVITY Dology Division Son AFB, Ohio .gators. It is es instructions ving: air nav- or, course sys-
Approved for public rel This is a handbook for based both on US and So and operating procedure igation, international tems, great circle navi Doppler radar system. a	civilian pilo oviet systems air routes, c gation, vario zimuth and ra	ution unlin NBORING MILITARY eign Techno ght-Patters ts and navi and include the follow ompass erro ous navigati nge system.	activity activity blogy Division son AFB, Ohio actors. It is es instructions ving: air nav- br, course sys- on instruments, Foreign (non-
Approved for public rel This is a handbook for based both on US and So and operating procedure igation, international tems, great circle navi Doppler radar system, a Soviet) electronic shor	civilian pilo viet systems air routes, c gation, vario zimuth and ra	ution unlin NSORING MILITARY eign Techno ght-Patters ts and navi and include the follow ompass erro ous navigati nge system. ation system	ACTIVITY Dlogy Division Son AFB, Ohio Son AFB, O
Approved for public rel This is a handbook for based both on US and So and operating procedure igation, international tems, great circle navi Doppler radar system, a Soviet) electronic shor VORTAC, DME, VRM-5 and	civilian pilo viet systems air routes, c gation, vario t-range navig consol system	ution unlin weign Techno ght-Patters ts and navi and include the follow ompass error ous navigati nge system. ation system. ation system.	Activity Dology Division Son AFB, Ohio
Approved for public rel This is a handbook for based both on US and So and operating procedure igation, international tems, great circle navi Doppler radar system, a Soviet) electronic shor VORTAC, DME, VRM-5 and systems (CYTAC, DECCA, and landing equipment.	civilian pilo civilian pilo viet systems air routes, c gation, vario tornage navig consol system DECTRA), airt BSU-ZP airbor	ution unlin weign Techno ght-Patters ts and navi and include the follow ompass error us navigati nge system. ation system st, long-rar orne KURS-M	ACTIVITY ology Division son AFB, Ohio
Approved for public rel This is a handbook for based both on US and So and operating procedure igation, international tems, great circle navi Doppler radar system, a Soviet) electronic shor VORTAC, DME, VRM-5 and systems (CYTAC, DECCA, and landing equipment, 10m navigation slide ru	civilian pilo civilian pilo oviet systems es relative to air routes, co gation, vario cimuth and ra rt-range navig consol system DECTRA), airt BSU-ZP airbor ule, and the N	ution unlin NBORING MILITARY eign Techno ght-Patters ts and navi and include the follow ompass error ous navigati nge system, ation system s, long-rar orne KURS-M ne control IRK-2 naviga	activity logy Division son AFB, Ohio gators. It is es instructions ving: air nav- or, course sys- on instruments, Foreign (non- ems VOR, TACAN, nge navigation MP-1 navigation system, the NL- ation calculator.
Approved for public rel This is a handbook for based both on US and So and operating procedure igation, international tems, great circle navi Doppler radar system, a Soviet) electronic shor VORTAC, DME, VRM-5 and systems (CYTAC, DECCA, and landing equipment, 10m navigation slide ru General information and for the RBP-h RPSM-2	civilian pilo civilian pilo viet systems es relative to air routes, co gation, vario consol system DECTRA), airt BSU-ZP airbor ale, and the N trouble shoo	ution unlim weign Techno ght-Patters ts and navi and include the follow ompass error us navigati nge system. ation system stion system orne KURS-M me control IRK-2 navigation IRK-2 navigation IRK	activity logy Division son AFB, Ohio
Approved for public rel This is a handbook for based both on US and So and operating procedure igation, international tems, great circle navi Doppler radar system, a Soviet) electronic shor VORTAC, DME, VRM-5 and systems (CYTAC, DECCA, and landing equipment, 10m navigation slide ru General information and for the RBP-4, RPSN-2, methods of celestial na	civilian pilo For Wri civilian pilo oviet systems es relative to air routes, co gation, vario consol system DECTRA), airt BSU-ZP airbor the, and the N trouble shoo GROZA, and RO	ution unlim NBORNEG MILITARY reign Techno ght-Patters ts and navi and include the follow ompass error ous navigati nge system. ation system s, long-rar orne KURS-M re control RK-2 naviga ting instru vZ-1 radar s discussed b	activity logy Division son AFB, Ohio activity log Division son AFB, Ohio actions log ators. It is actions air nav- br, course sys- on instruments, action calculation System, the NL- action calculator. actions are given sets. Various briefly.
Approved for public rel This is a handbook for based both on US and So and operating procedure igation, international tems, great circle navi Doppler radar system, a Soviet) electronic shor VORTAC, DME, VRM-5 and systems (CYTAC, DECCA, and landing equipment, 10m navigation slide ru General information and for the RBP-4, RPSN-2, methods of celestial na	civilian pilo For Wri civilian pilo oviet systems es relative to air routes, co gation, vario torange navig consol system DECTRA), airt BSU-ZP airbor ale, and the N trouble shoo GROZA, and RO	ution unlim weign Techno ght-Patters ts and navi and include the follow ompass error us navigati nge system. ation system s, long-rar orne KURS-M ne control IRK-2 naviga ting instru VZ-1 radar s discussed h	Activity ology Division son AFB, Ohio
Approved for public rel This is a handbook for based both on US and So and operating procedure igation, international tems, great circle navi Doppler radar system, a Soviet) electronic shor VORTAC, DME, VRM-5 and systems (CYTAC, DECCA, and landing equipment, 10m navigation slide ru General information and for the RBP-4, RPSN-2, methods of celestial na	civilian pilo For Wri civilian pilo oviet systems es relative to air routes, co gation, vario consol system DECTRA), airt BSU-ZP airbor de, and the N trouble shoo GROZA, and RO avigation are	Aution unlin NEORING MILITARY reign Techno ght-Patters Ats and navi and include the follow ompass error ous navigati nge system. ation system orne KURS-M re control IRK-2 navigation ting instruction Z-1 radar s discussed b	Activity ology Division son AFB, Ohio activity e.gators. It is es instructions ving: air nav- or, course sys- on instruments, Foreign (non- ems VOR, TACAN, nge navigation AP-1 navigation AP-1 navigation System, the NI- ation calculator. actions are given sets. Various oriefly.
Approved for public rel This is a handbook for based both on US and So and operating procedure igation, international tems, great circle navi Doppler radar system, a Soviet) electronic shor VORTAC, DME, VRM-5 and systems (CYTAC, DECCA, and landing equipment, 10m navigation slide ru General information and for the RBP-4, RPSN-2, methods of celestial na	civilian pilo For Wri civilian pilo oviet systems es relative to air routes, co gation, vario t-range navig consol system DECTRA), airt BSU-ZP airbor ale, and the N trouble shoo GROZA, and RO	Aution unlin NBORING MILITARY reign Techno ght-Patters ts and navi and include the follow ompass erro us navigati nge system. ation system orne KURS-M me control IRK-2 navigating instru VZ-1 radar s discussed b	Activity ology Division on AFB, Ohio .gators. It is es instructions ying: air nav- or, course sys- on instruments, Foreign (non- ems VOR, TACAN, nge navigation AP-1 navigation AP-1 navigation System, the NL- ation calculator. Actions are given sets. Various oriefly.
Approved for public rel This is a handbook for based both on US and So and operating procedure igation, international tems, great circle navi Doppler radar system, a Soviet) electronic shor VORTAC, DME, VRM-5 and systems (CYTAC, DECCA, and landing equipment, 10m navigation slide ru General information and for the RBP-4, RPSN-2, methods of celestial na	civilian pilo For Wri civilian pilo oviet systems es relative to air routes, co gation, vario zimuth and ra t-range navig consol system DECTRA), airt BSU-ZP airbor ale, and the N trouble shoo GROZA, and RO vigation are	ution unlin NBORNEG MILITARY reign Techno ght-Patters ts and navi and include the follow ompass error ous navigati nge system. ation system s, long-rar orne KURS-M orne control RK-2 navigation ting instruction Z-1 radar s discussed b	Activity ology Division son AFB, Ohio
Approved for public rel 11. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES This is a handbook for based both on US and So and operating procedure igation, international tems, great circle navi Doppler radar system, a Soviet) electronic shor VORTAC, DME, VRM-5 and systems (CYTAC, DECCA, and landing equipment, 10m navigation slide ru General information and for the RBP-4, RPSN-2, methods of celestial na	civilian pilo viet systems s relative to air routes, o gation, vario consol system DECTRA), airbor de, and the N trouble shoo GROZA, and RO vigation are	Aution unlin NBORING MILITARY eign Techno ght-Patters Ats and navi and include the follow ompass error ous navigati nge system. ation system orne KURS-M re control RK-2 naviga ting instru Z-1 radar s discussed b	Activity ology Division son AFB, Ohio

•

•

	U	NC	LA	IS	S.	ΓF	Ľ	Е	D		
_		_	_	_	-		-	-	-	STATISTICS.	

	LINKA					
	HOLE	W7 '	ROLE	WT	ROLE	μ'
	1					
	l				1	l
	۱.				i	
		ł				ļ
	1					}
	1					
	1	1				[
	Í		}			
	1	9	1		1	1
	{	1 1				
	ļ	7			1	
	1	i.				
	1	Į		}		
	1	}	1	}		
	1	ł	1	}		1
	Į,		1]	}	1
	Í.	Į	1	l	1	1
	1		1	}		
	1	l .	1	1	1	
	1	{	{	Į	1	1
	j –	1			1	1
	1	1	1		1	1
	i	1	}	}	1	1
			1	}		
		1	ł	ł		
	1	1	1	[1
	{	1	{	[1	1
	1	1	1	1		
	1	1	1	ļ	1	Ł
	Į –	1	ł		1	
	1	1	l	1	1	1
	1	1	1	1	1	1
	1	1		ł	1	ł
	1	l	l	1	1	ł
	1	ł		1	1	1
	1	1	1	1	1	
	1	1	1	l	1	1
	{	ł	1	[{	1
	1	1		1		
	1	í	1	1	1	
	{	1	1	}	{	
	1	1	1	ł	1	1
	1	1	1	1	1	
	1	1	1	1	1	
		1	1		1	1
			1	1	1	1
	}				1	1
	1	1	1		1	
	1	I	1		1	
	}	1	1	}	1	
	1	1	1	I	1	L
0		UNCT	ASSTR	TED		
y				Inning		
16		Securit	y classi	remution		

and the second of the second se

\$

ł + + + + +

1 ţ

STATISTICS STATISTICS

FTD-MT- 24-291-72

EDITED MACHINE TRANSLATION

FTD-MT-24-291-72

あいたい

ž

1

ころう しんかい ないない ない かんしょう

•_-`

Ł

2

5

* ?

and the second section of the second section of the second s

PILOT'S AND NAVIGATOR'S HANDBOOK FOR CIVIL AVIATION (SELECTED ARTICLES)

By: G. V. Markov and L. A. Ostrogskiy

English pages: 280

Source: Spravochnik Pilota i Shturmana Grazhdanskoy Aviatsii, Izd-vo Transport, Mcscow, 1971, pp. 84-225 and 240-248.

ic

Requester: FTD/PDXE

This document is a SYSTRAN machine aided translation, post-edited for technical accuracy by: Charles T. Ostertag Jr. and Robert A. Potts.

Approved for public release; distribution unlimited.

THIS TRANSLATION IS A RENDITION OF THE ORIGI-NAL FOREIGN TEXT WITHOUT ANY ANALYTICAL OR EDITORIAL COMMENT. STATEMENTS OR THEORIES ADVOCATED OR IMPLIED ARE THOSE OF THE SOURCE AND DO NOT NECESSARILY REFLECT THE POSITION OR OPINION OF THE FOREIGN TECHNOLOGY DI-VISION.

PREPARED BY:

TRANSLATION REVISION FOREIGN TECH WINGY LIVISION WP-AFB, OHIO.

FTD-MT - 24-291-72

Date²¹ July 19 72

Ŀ

「ないない」であるないないないないないないないです。ないないないないないないないないないないで、いていないない

<u>Translator's mote</u>: On several occasions, symbols found in formulae and calculations appear to have been rendered incorrectly in the original document. They will be shown exactly as they appear in the original.

and the second All figures, graphs, tables, equations, etc. ø merged into this translation were extracted ş from the best quality copy available. ¥ ie 見たがため

TABLE OF CONTENTS

\$

4

* ** *** **

まるさ きい

·

`

• •

U. S. Board on Geographic Names Transliteration Systems	iv
Designations of the Trigonometric Functions	v
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS AND ACCEPTED CONVENTIONAL DESIGNATIONS	vi
FIFTH SECTION	1
AIR NAVIGATION	1
SEPARATION	1
DISTINCTIVE FEATURES OF SEPARATION AND AIR NAVIGATION ON INTERNATIONAL AIR ROUTES	4
COMPASS DEVIATION	9
DISTINCTIVE FEATURES OF THE USE OF RADIO COMPASSES DURING FLIGHTS AT HIGH ALTITUDES AND SPEEDS	15
COURSE SYSTEMS	18
AIR NAVIGATION BY THE GREAT CIRCLE WITH THE USE OF COURSE SYSTEMS, HOMINC STATIONS, RADIO BROADCASTING STATIONS (RVS) AND RADAR REFERENCE POINTS	20
SYSTEM OF READING OF TRACK ANGLES AND COURSE OF THE AIRCRAFT	30
FEATURES OF READING THE GREAT CIRCLE TRACK ANGLES DURING FLIGHTS IN THE CENTRAL ARCTIC	37
NI-50 POSITION AND HOMING INDICATOR	42
AIRCRAFT DOPPLER RADAR SYSTEM	46

FTD-MT-24-291-72

たたちのたいのために、日本のないないかいにな

and a state of the state of the

6

4

And the second second

Ì

Ť

if

AZIMUTH AND RANGE SYSTEM..... 57 FOREIGN ELECTRONIC SHORT-RANGE NAVIGATION SYSTEMS..... 75 VOR RADIO SYSTEM..... 75 TACAN ELECTRONIC SYSTEM..... 90 DME AIRBORNE EQUIPMENT..... 92 VRM-5 AND "CONSOL" SYSTEMS..... 103 BASIC FEATURES AND PURPOSE OF ELECTRONIC DIFFERENCE-RANGING NAVIGATION SYSTEMS..., 110 PRECISION HYPERBOLIC LONG-RANGE NAVIGATION SYSTEM "CYTAC" ("LORAN-C")..... 116 THE DECCA-DECTRA SYSTEM..... 119 INERTIAL NAVIGATION SYSTEM..... 123 COURSE AND GLIDE-PATH SYSTEMS..... 132 KURS-MP-1 AIRBORNE EQUIPMENT..... 143 AIRBORNE SYSTEM BSU-ZP..... 155 NAVIGATION COMPUTER..... 166 NRK-2 NAVIGATIONAL COMPUTER..... 186 NOMOGRAMS AND CHARTS, THEIR USE IN AVIATION..... 206 ABBREVIATIONS AND CONVENTIONAL SYMBOLS USED IN INFORMATION ABOUT AIRBORNE RADARS..... 222 BASIC INFORMATION ON RADAR..... 222 DETERMINING THE POSITION OF AN AIRCRAFT AND NAVIGATIONAL ELEMENTS WITH THE HELP OF AIRBORNE RADARS...... 225 POSSIBLE BREAKDOWNS IN THE OPERATING CONDITIONS OF THE RBP-4 AND METHODS FOR THEIR ELIMINATION IN FLIGHT..... 234

aledered hadde and the second of the second of the second second second second second of the second s

ころうち かいちょうちょう ちょうちょう

POSSIBLE FAILURES OF THE RPSN-2 ["EMBLEM"] RADAR SET AND METHODS FOR THEIR ELIMINATION IN FLIGHT	241
1 110.11	u . u
THE AIRBORNE RADAR "GROZA"	244
AIRBORNE RADAR ROZ-1	253
THE ORDER OF OPERATION WITH A PERISCOPIC	
SEXTANT,	262
ASTRONOMICAL CALCULATION AIDS	269
USE OF DAK-DB-5 ASTROCOMPASS IN FLIGHT	273
THE INTERNATIONAL SYSTEM OF STANDARD TIME	279

FTD-MT-24-291-72

Acres .

والتسميلات

8 . 2 . S

· •

U. S. BOARD ON GEOGRAPHIC NAMES TRANSLITERATION SYSTEM

Block	Italic	Transliteration	Block	Italic	Transliteration
A A	A a	A. a.	Ρp	Ρ.	R. r
5 6	5 4	8 b	C c	CE	S. 8
D V				Ť	D, 5 m +
15 B	B	V, V	I T	1 m	T ₃ U
T T	Γ 🛊	G, g	УУ	Уу	U, u
Дд	Дд	D, d	Φφ	Φφ	F, f
E e	Ë (Yé, ye; E, e*	Х×	XX	Kh, kh
Жж	жж	Zh, zh	Ц Ц	Ц - 4	Ts, ts
3 3	3 ;	Z, z	ધુષ	4 4	Ch, ch
Ик	И и	I, I	шш	Шш	Sh, sh
R R	Ħ ŭ	Y, y	Щщ	.Щ щ	Shch, shch
Kĸ	K ĸ	K, k	ъъ	25 ຮ່	11
Лл	J 3	L, 1	Ыы	Ыч	¥, у
Мж	N: M	M, m	ь ь	ь .	1
Нн	13 H	N, n	Э 🕽	9 🕽	E, e
0 0	0 0	0, 0	i) io	Юю	Yu, yu
D n	П к	P, p	R R	Я п	Ya, ya

* ye initially, after vowels, and after b, b; e elsewhere. When written as ë in Russian, transliterate as yë or ë. The use of diacritical marks is preferred, but such marks may be omitted when expediency dictates.

FTD-MT-24-291-72

£1.30

iν

FOLLOWING ARE THE CORRESPONDING RUSSIAN AND ENGLISH

DESIGNATIONS OF THE TRIGONOMETRIC FUNCTIONS

Russian	English
sin	sin
COS	COS
tg	tan
ctg	cot
Sec	Sec
COSEC	CSC
sh	sinh
ch	cosb
th	tanh
cth	coth
sch	sech
csch	csch
arc sin	sin ⁻¹
arc cos	cos ⁻¹
arc tg	\tan^{-1}
arc ctg	cot-1
arc sec	sec-1
arc cosec	csc ⁻¹
arc sh	sinh-l
arc ch	cosh-1
arc th	tanh-1
arc cth	coth-l
arc sch	sech-1
arc csch	cach-l
rot	curl
lg	log

FTD-MT-24-291-72

- -

· · · · · ·

~ • **

ç.

.....

.

.

ť

,

• • •

V

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS AND ACCEPTED CONVENTIONAL DESIGNATIONS

ini ingelike njek filo

(44e

1. 18 M

t

AAE		AAE	-	Air Almanac				
ΑГД	-	AGD	-	azimuth gyro sensor				
AGC	~	AZS	-	circuit breaker				
AH		AK		astroc' rection				
АЛП	-	ALP	-	astronomical line of position				
АНУ		ANU	-	automatic navigation equipment				
АП	-	AP	-	automatic pilot				
АРК	•••	ARK		automatic radio compass				
АРЧ	-	ARCh	-	automatic frequency control				
БПРМ	-	BPRM	-	inner marker beacon				
БУ	-	BU		lateral deviation or control unit				
БКН	-	BKN	-	airborne celestial charts				
впп	-	VPP/RW	-	runway				
ГД	-	GD		horizontal range				
ГО	-	GO	-	main orthodrome				
ГПК	-	GPK	••	directional gyroscope				
ГРП	-	GRP		expansion unknown [chief radiodispatcher point/gyroscope radio point]				
дисс	-	DISS	-	Doppler speed and drift meter				
дпрм	-	DPRM		outer marker beacon				
зи пу	-	ZI PU	-	given true course angle				
3HîN	-	ZMP	-	given magnetic bearing				
злпу	-	ZMPU	-	given magnetic course angle				
30C	-	ZOS	-	ground aids to navigation				
ЗПУ	-	ZPU		given course angle				
ИК	-	IK	-	true course				
икао	-	IKAO		International civil aviation organization				
ико	-	IKC	-	plan-p sition indicator				
ИПМ		IPM		departure point				
ИПР	-	IPR		true bearing of a radio station				
ипс	-	IPS -		true bearing of aircraft				

FTD-MT-24-231-72

North State

í

*** 25***

ч.

vi

ИПУ	-	IPU	-	true course angle
КВ	-	KV	-	short wave
КГГ	-	KGG	-	expansion unknown
нн	-	KK		compass course
КM	-	KM		correction mechanism
КО		КО	-	reference landmark
КПМ	-	KPM	-	route check point/destination check point
КПП		KPP	-	route check point/combined flight instrument
КР		KR	-	shortest distance
КРП		KRP		compass radio point
КС	-	KS	-	course system
Кув	-	KUV		angle between course and wind direction
КУО	-	KUO	-	reference point angle of approach
КУР	-	KUR		radio station angle of approach
КУС	-	KUS	-	combined airspeed indicator
ЛБУ	-	LBU		course-line direction .
лзп	-	LZP	-	specified track
ЛУР	-	LUR		linear turn lead
IJК	-	МК	-	magnetic course
MUb	-	MPR		magnetic bearing of a radio station
MUC	-	MPS	-	magnetic bearing of aircraft
́нПУ	-	MPU	-	magnetic course angle
MC	-	MS	-	aircraft position/magnetic declination
HB		NV	-	navigation computer
НД		ND	-	slant range
нац ся		NPP GA	-	flight manual of civil aviation
HPK-2	-	NRK-2	-	Kalashnikov navigational computer
озпу	-	OZPU		expansion unknown
OK	-	OK	~	reverse course/orthodromic course
омпу		ompu	••••	great circle magnetic track angle
OUb		OPR		reciprocal Learing of radio station
опрс	-	OPRS	-	reciprocal bearing of radio station
опс	_	OPS	-	reciprocal bearing of aircraft

FTD-MT-24-291-72

1

20. or 2

Deal-Production

an and the second state of the second second

vii

And the second s

1.11.

1

ŝ

an a state of the state of the

and the second second

ОПУ	– OPU		great circle track angle					
OUAU	– OFUM	-	orthodromic meridian course angle					
ОРК	– ORK		radio compass reading					
000	- OSP	-	instrument landing system					
ПИПУ	– PMPU	_	landing (magnetic) track angle					
пп	– PP	~	ack bearing					
ППДА-П	– PPDA–P		vilot's direct-reading range and azimuth instrument					
ППДА-Ш	– PPDA-Sh	-	Navigator's direct-reading range and azimuth instrument					
nnei	- FPM	-	route turning point					
ппс	- FPS	-	expansion unknown					
ПУ	– FU	-	control panel/track angle					
PB	– RB	-	blocking relay					
PBC	- RVS		radio broadcasting station					
РМИ	- RMI		radiomagnetic indicator					
PHT	– RNT		radio check point					
РПСН	- KPSN		expansion unknown					
РРЧ	– RRCh	-	manual frequency control					
РСБН	- RSBN	-	short-range radio navigation system					
РСП	- RSP	-	expansion unknown					
САИ НГА	- SAI MGA	-	Aviation Information Service of the Ministry of Civil Aviation					
СВОД	- SVOD	-	Lead					
СИ	- SI	-	true north					
СПУ	- spu		aircraft intercom system					
СРП	- SkP		computer device					
TBA	- 1'VA	-	Tables of altitudes and azimuth of the sun, moon, and planets					
ТВАЗ -	- TVA?	-	Tables of altitudes and azimuths of the stars					
TBF	- TVG	-	entrance point to glide path					
THB -	- TNV	-	outside air thermometer					
TPd ·	- ThM	-	expansion unknown					
ТУЕ -	- 90E		universal electric thermometer					
УВ -	- UV	~~	kina amile					

~~. . ..

, TC TT -

Ş

FTD-MT-24-291-72

ን ገע	-	UGA		gyro unit indicator
УК	-	UK	-	course indicator
УΗГ	-	UNG	-	tilt angle, angle of slope
УΠ		UP	-	turn indicator/turn angle
УC		US		drift angle
уу	-	UU		lead angle
УШ		USh	-	navigator's indicator
УША		UShA	-	expansion unknown
УШМ	-	UShM	-	navigator's magnetic indicator
ቀቡበሃ		FMPU	-	actual magnetic course angle
ЦГВ	-	ΊrsGV	-	master vertical gyro
ЦРШ	-	TsRSh	-	navigator's control circuit
40		Ch0	-	particular orthodrome
ЩП	-	ShchP	-	pilot's panel
ЩУ	-	ShchU		control panel
ЮИ		Uyi		true south

الهاجر إساد المشير م

÷.,.

Alterian and

「おおおおい」「おおおからい」「おおおおおない」「おおおおいろ」「おおおいな」」、「おいい」、「おいい」、「おいい」、「おいい」、「おいい」、「おいい」、「おいい」、「おいい」、「おいい」、「おいい」、

1

· · · ·

, * ,

· ·

٠

٤

•

.

4

1.1.2

іx

FIFTH SECTION

AIR NAVIGATION

SEPARATION

neiterin vorderen er ander state in der er anderen er anderen state in er heren er e

The altimeter setting rules during flights over USSR territory. The echelons of flights (Figs. 41 and 42) are established from a conditional level, which corresponds to the level of the Baltic sea at standard atmosphere (atmospheric pressure 760 mm Hg at free-air temperature +15°C with temperature gradient 0.65°C and normal humidity).

Table 15 shows the order of numbering of echelons.

The altitude of the echelon in flight is determined by a barometric altimeter with setting of graduation "760" of the barometric scale opposite the fixed index. Before takeoff the crew is obligated to set the readings of the barometric altimeter (altimeters) to "zero" altitudes by means of setting the magnitude of atmospheric pressure (at the level of the runway of the takeoff airfield) opposite the fixed index.

The setting of the barometric pressure scale of the altimeter with graduation "760" opposite the fixed index is permitted only after the gaining of the <u>transfer altitude</u> - altitude of rectangular route legalized for a given airfield.

FTD-MT-24-291-72



FTD-MT-24-291-72

10000 mil

1

The second semicircle ections of from 180 t	(vestern) of dir- air lines o 359 ⁰	The first (Eastern) semicircle of dir- ections of air lines from 0 to 179°					
No. of lechelon	Altitude of echelon	No. of Altitude echelon. of echelon					
i							
(.9	990	66	600				
15	1 500	12	1.200				
21	2 109	18	1.800				
27	27(a)	24	2400				
33	3 300	30	.સ ભલ્છ				
39	3 900	36	3 ()				
45	-1 5(4)	42	4 200				
51	5 160	-48	4.800				
57	5 700	- 54	5400				
66	6 600	6Ŭ	6.000				
78	7 800	72	7 200				
(n) -	9.000	81	5400				
110	11 000 (100	10 (00)				
159	13000	120	12000				
etc.	etc.	etc.	etc.				

Table 15. The order of numbering of echelons

During landing approach to the airport the readjustment of the barometric scale of the altimeter from pressure 760 mm Hg to the airfield elevation pressure is permitted with departure from the altitude of the <u>transfer echelon</u> - the lower echelon of the holding area of the landing airfield.

Before landing at high-mountain airfields with the obtaining on board of a report about atmospheric pressure at the level of the airfield runway less than 670 mm Hg it is necessary to leave the graduation "760" of the barometric pressure scale opposite the fixed index, to find the difference between barometric pressure 760 and barometric pressure at the runway level of the landing airfield and to express it in meters with respect to standard atmosphere. The magnitude found in this way will be the zero of the altimeter.

Calculation of lower echelon. For determining the altitude of the lower echelon in flight along a route it is necessary to calculate the safe altitude by formula

FTD-MT-24-291-72

しかっしょう そうれる ちょうじ たんさ かんしょう たんかいろう さいてん たんかく たいせん たんかくたい ちょうじん かいがたい たんだい たんためがた たたた たんたん たんたい たいたい たいかい

$H_{6/700} = H_{\mu} + H_{p} + + + (760 - p_{min}) + 1 + M H_{t},$

where H_{μ} - the true altitude of flight, established for a given route in accordance with the requirements for the flight manual (NPP) of civil aviation (GA): H_p - the absolute altitude of the highest point of relief, including the altitude of artificial obstructions at a certain distance from the axis of the route; ΔH_t - systematic temperature correction on to the altimeter; p_{min} the minimum atmospheric pressure on the route, reduced to sea level.

The lower safe echelon will be the first echelon, greater than the safe altitude of flight (see Fig. 42).

Example. The safe altitude, obtained from calculations, is 1955 m. For flights with courses within limits from 0 to 179° the altitude of the lower echelon will be 2400 m, while for flights with courses (track angles) within limits from 180 to 359° -2100 m.

DISTINCTIVE FEATURES OF SEPARATION AND AIR NAVIGATION ON INTERNATIONAL AIR ROUTES

Organization and direction of flights on international air routes. The routes passing over the territories of two or more states are called international.

The features of flights on international routes are determined by the rules and norms established by the appropriate states, which include:

conditions of crossing of state boundaries; width of air routes; system of separation of aircraft; restrictions and zones with special flight conditions;

airborne and ground documentation, which regulates flights; facilities and rules of air navigation, communications and signaling;

time reckoning systems; norms of fuel reserve; airport network.

いたいないであるというないないないないないないないであったいです。

In all states the movement control services are state organizations and direct the flights of all aircraft, including foreign.

The communication with the aircraft is conducted mainly on ultrashort waves by radiotelephone in the languages established for the territories of the given states.

In the countries having entered the international civil aviation organization (ICAO), radio communication with foreign aircraft is conducted in the English language.

When accomplishing international flights on every aircraft there should be:

evidence of its airworthiness; confirmed flight plan; weather report.

The rules of flights over different foreign states are different. Detailed information about conditions, diagrams and flight routes on separate international routes is stated in special collections, published by the aviation information service of the Ministry of civil aviation of the USSR (SAI MGA).

In the countries entering the ICAO the direction of air traffic has mainly an informational nature. The crew is given

the altitude, the precise takeoff and arrival time, and sometimes the time of flight over the check points. The remaining data are transmitted on board the aircraft in the form of information, on the basis of which the crew makes independent decisions concerning the execution of flight.

Foreign air routes, as a rule, have a width of 10 nautical miles (18.52 km). This magnitude determines the required accuracy of air navigation.

In the states entering the ICAO on air routes there are used units of measure which differ from those accepted in the USSR. Therefore the airplane crews, executing international flights, should have tables or charts for the conversion of some units of measure into others.

Units of measure accepted in the countries entering the ICAO and in the USSR are given in Table 16. The "Blue table" graph pertains to those countries which still have not completely applied the recommendations of the ICAO for the units of measure.

Foreign systems of aircraft separation. In various states different systems of separation are used. However, for international flights almost everywhere there is already accepted the main, adopted in the USSR, principle of the reading of barometric altitudes of separation from the level of the isobaric surface, which corresponds to standard pressure 760 mm Hg.

The distribution of the altitudes of separation depending on the heading can be different in various states. Semicircular and quadrant systems are used.

Semicircular system (Table 17) is used mainly in the USSR and USA. In the USA for flight altitudes up to 29,000 feet the

Table 16. The units of measure accepted in the USSR and countries entering the ICAO.

	Uni	,	
Measured magnitudes	JCAO	"Blue tabl."	USSR
Pistance	Natuical miles with tenths	Nautical miles with .enths	Kilometers
Altitude, dimensions of airfields and short distances	Neters	Feet	Meters
Horizontal speed	Knots	Knots	Kilometers per hour
Vertical speed	Meters per second	Feet per minute	Meters per second
Wind velocity	Knots	Knots	Kilometers per hour
Direction of wind vector	True degrees	True degrees	True degrees (re- ciprocal to the wind vector).
Direction of wind vec- to r for takeoff and landing	Magnetic degroes	Magnetic degree.	Magnetic degrees
Cloud height	Meters	Feet	Meters
Visibility	Kilometers, meters	Nautical miles, yards	Kilometers, meters
Barometric pressure	Millibars	Millibars	Millimeters of mercury column
Temperature	Degrees centigrade	Degrees cen"igrade	Degrees centigrade
Weight	Kilograms	Founds	Weight
Time	Hours, minutes	Hours. minuves	Hours, minutes
The fuel quantity	Gallons	Gallons	Liters, kilograms

intervals between parallel echelons are takin equal to 2000 feet, and between opposing - 1000 feet. For flight altitudes from 29,000 feet and more the corresponding intervals are doubled. During flights in the direction of track angles from 0 to 179°, i.e., to the east, there are assigned separation altitudes, in multiples of odd thousands of feet. During flights with track angles from 180 to 359°, i.e., to the west, even echelons are assigned.

		op o .		u u	110.00		+ C	Jourie			ine mov	ero .	
Magnetic courses Magnetic courses													
	P,	y instrum	ents	Visually			By instruments			Visually			
		A1	stude		A10	itude		Altitude				itude	
	No. of echelon	Feet	Asters	No. of echelon	Fect	Netecs	No. of echelon	Peet	Heters	Mo. of echelon	Peet	Neters	
Magnetic heading 0-179°		Ma	gnet	ic h	eadi	ing 1	150-3	359°					
	10	1 000	200	15	1 500	450	20	2000	(GK)	25	2500	; 7Š0	
	- 30	3 000	900	35	3 500	1 050	§ 40	- 4 000	120	45	4 5/10	1-350	
	- 50	5 000	1 500	55	5 500	1 7(%)	60	6 100	1850	65	6511)	2 (00	
	70	7 000	2,150	75	7 500	2 300	80	8 000	2 450	85	8,500	2 600	
	- 30	9.000	2750	95	9 500	2 900	100	10 000	3 (50)	105	1050	3 200	
	110	11 000	3 3 50	115	j 11 500	3 500	120	12 000	365)	125	12,50	3 800	
	130	13 000	3 9 5 0	135	13 500	4 100	140	14 000	4 250	145	14 500	4 400	
	150	15 000	4 550	155	15 500	4 700	160	16 000	4900	- 165	16500	5 050	
	170	17 000	5 200	175	17 5:00	5 350	180	18 000	5 500	185	18.50	5 650	
	190	19 000	5 800	195	19 500	5 950	200	20 fX)0	6100	205	20 57	6 250	
	210	21 000	6 400	215	21 500	6 550	220	22 000	6700	225	22 500	6 850	
	230	23 000	7 000	235	23 500	7 1 50	210	24 000	7 300	245	24 50)	7 450	
	250	25 000	7 600	255	25 500	7 750	^r 260	26 000	79%	265	26 500	8 100	
	270	27 000	8 2 50	275	27 500	8 400	280	28 000	8 550	285	28 505	8 700	•
	290	29 000	8850	300	30 000	9 150	310	31 000	9450	320	32 000	9750	
	330	33 000	10 050	340	34 000	10 350	350	35 000	10 650	360	36 000	10 950	
	370	37 000	11 300	380	38 020	11 600	330	39 000	10 900	400	40 000	12 200	
	410	41 000	12 500	420	42 000	12 800	430	43 (-00)	13 100	440	44 000	13 400	
	450	45 000	13 760	460	46 000	14 000	470	47 000	11050	480	48 000	11650	
	490	49 000	14 950	500	50 000	15 250	510	51 000	15 550	520	52 000	15 850	
										i ' i			

Table 17. Table of semicircular separation, accepted by a number of countries - members of ICAO.

In some countries, having entered the ICAO, including England, Belgium, Denmark, Sweden, Holland and others, the quadrant system (Table 18) is accepted, according to which at altitudes up to 29,000 feet the parallel echelons differ by 2000 feet, and opposing -1000 feet. The echelons for headings, which correspond to adjacent quadrants, are distinguished from each other with respect to altitudes by 500 feet.

At altitudes over 29,000 feet the corresponding intervals are doubled.

States - Difference - Andrewski Arabas

Table 18. Table of quadrant separation according to ICAO.						
No. of echelon	Meters	No. of echelon	Meters			
25 45 65 105 125 145 155 295 215 265 285	759 1 350 2 600 2 600 3 200 3 800 4 400 5 650 6 850 6 850 6 850 8 100 8 700	10 30 70 40 130 150 210 230 253 270	300 900 1 500 2 150 2 756 3 350 3 950 4 550 5 500 5 500 5 500 5 500 7 600 7 600 8 250			
320 360 400	9 750 10 950 12 200	290 330 370	8550 10050 11300 0			
20 40 60 89 109 120	600 1 200 1 850 2 450 3 050 3 650	15 35 55 75 95 115	450 1 (95) 1 7(k) 2 3(k) 2 9(k) 3 5(k)			
140 160 180 260 220 219	4 250 4 500 5 500 6 100 6 700 7 360	135 155 175 195 215 235	4 110 4 700 5 350 5 950 6 550 7 159			
260 180 510 570	7 9(k) 8 150 9 450 10 650 11 900	255 275 310 340 289	7 730 8 4(4) 9 150 10 350 11 600			

「日本のない」などのないであるのであると

Table 19. Conversion of the numbers of echelons into meters according to ICAO (No. of echelons in ascending order).

		the second se	the second s	
No. of echelon	Meters	No. of echelon	Meters	
10	300	180	5 500	
15	450	185	5 650	
20	600	190	5 850	
25	750	195	5 850	
30	900	200	6 100	
35	1050	205	6 250	
10	1 200	210	6 409	
45	1 350	215	6 550	
50	1 500	220	6 700	
53	1 700	225	6 850	
60	1 850	230	7 000	
65	2 006	235	7 150	
70 75 85 90 95	2 150 2 300 2 450 2 600 2 750 2 900	240 245 250 255 260 265	7 300 7 450 7 600 7 750 • 7 900 8 100	
100 105 110 115 120 125	3 050 3 200 3 350 3 500 3 650 3 650 3 800	270 275 280 285 290 300	8 250 8 400 8 550 8 700 8 850 9 150	
130	3 950	310	9 450	
135	4 100	320	9 750	
140	4 250	330	10 050	
145	4 100	340	10 350	
150	4 550	350	10 630	
155	4 700	360	10 950	
160	4 900	370	11 300	
165	5 050	380	11 600	
170	5 200	390	11 900	
173	5 350	400	12 200	

COMPASS DEVIATION

As a result of investigations the following was established:

at the place of installation of inductive or magnetic sensors on contemporary aircraft with gas-turbine engines the deviation does not exceed ±1°; compass swinging cannot be performed at airfields which have reinforced concrete coating, since there are local anomalies there which cause change in the readings of magnetic compasses and course systems up to $\pm 5-8^{\circ}$;

A star a search for an an an instruction of the second second second second second second second second second

replacement of gas-turbine engines on the aircraft does not affect the accuracy of operation of the course systems and distant-reading compasses.

On this basis there have been published special instructions for the various types of heavy transport planes with gas-turbine engines, according to which:

compass swinging from periodic servicing with respect to maintenance of the given aircraft has been eliminated;

the deviational microadjuster has been removed from the sensors of distant-reading compasses and course systems;

it is recommended to compensate the instrument errors of distant-reading compasses and course systems only during the replacement of the USbM indicator (DGMK-7 compass) or the correction mechanism;

the adjustment error of sensors is determined by turning the sensor to matching of the course readings on the navigator's indicator with the magnetic course of the aircraft, determined by twofold direction finding of his longitudinal axis (from the nose and tail).

The compensation of instrument errors of course devices is accomplished without rotation of the aircraft in the following order.

a) On aircraft equipped with KS course systems and GIK-1 gyro-induction compass:

remove the induction Jensor from the aircraft and fasten it on the rotating antimagnetic platform of the UPK-3 assembly. Connect the sensor with the course system with a connecting band. Install the platform of the antimagnetic installation with the sensor fastened to it on the wing of the aircraft over the attachment point of the induction sensor or on a tripod when carrying out the installation to the ground;

set the zero reading on the navigator's indicator dials and the correction mechanism.

The mean error in teletransmission on the section sensor - correction mechanism (KM) is determined in the following order:

ないないないないとうとうとう

the zero readings are set on the scale of the antimagnetic instaliation and the correction mechanism (KM);

the course readings are taken according to the KM scale with turning of the antimagnetic installation to courses 90, 180 and 270° and determining the corrections for each course;

the sum of corrections on the basic courses is divided by four and the mean error of teletransmission is determined;

zero reading on the diamagnetic device is corrected by the magnitude of mean error, and course "0" is set on the navigator's indicator (USh).

After computing the mean error the diamagnetic installation is successively set to courses 15, 30, 45 etc. to 345° and by a gauge the course readings on the USh are brought respectively to 15, 30, 45 etc. to 345° with the rapid adjustment knob pressed.

b) On aircraft equipped with distant-reading magnetic compass, which has PDK-3 type sensor:

the second se

instrument errors are compensated by turning the magnetic system of the PDK-3 sensor through 15° according to the _cale of the sensor. The magnetic system is turned without removal of the sensor with the aid of any magnetic bar;

with divergences in the readings of the UShM with course readings according to the scale of the PDK-3 sensor it is necessary with the gauge to bring the course readings to the UShM to the course readings according to the PDK-3 scale.

Compensation of radio deviation. The deviation of the radio compass is compensated by a mechanical compensator, installed on the axis of rotation of the closed antenna.

The guide band through a special transmission creates additional turning of the axis of the selsyn transmitter. With the aid of 24 compensating screws the guide band is given the form necessary for the readings of the radio compass every 15° of the scale (from 0 to 360°).

Before beginning the determination of radio deviation the compensator should be neutralized, having unscrewed every screw so that the guide band would acquire annular shape (additional turning of the axis of the selsyn transmitter at all course angles is equal to zero).

For determining the radio deviation it is recommended to select a radio station at a distance of 50-60 km. After determining and eliminating the adjustment error at radio compass readings (ORK) 0 and 180°, by rotating the aircraft and stopping it at ORK, multiples of 15°, the readings should be taken. At every reading of ORK there is determined the actual course angle of the radio station and the radio deviation is recorded

a the second second

$\Delta p = K V P - O P K$.

[Translator's note. KUR = radio station angle of approach.]

Then a chart of the radio deviation is constructed, whereupon for the avoidance of sharp deflections of the band the extremal values of the chart are divided into three equal parts and two intermediate charts of radio deviation are constructed. After this the compensator is removed from the axle of the frame and by rotation of the appropriate screws the radio deviation is compensated on the first intermediate chart, by reading the correction introduced for the given ORK on a special pointer on the compensator. Having compensated the radio deviation according to the second intermediate chart, we finally compensate it according to the radio deviation curve.

Repairs and Lange and the second second

With Carton

The compensation of radio deviation according to all three charts should be performed in such a sequence, so that after the introduction of each positive correction the same negative value would be introduced, i.e., as if according to a mirror reflection of the course angles.

The correct sequence of compensation is the following: 0°, 15, 375, 30, 330, 45, 315, 60, 300, 75, 285, 90, 270, 105, 255, 120, 240, 135, 225, 150, 210, 165, 195 and 180°.

After the compensation of radio deviation the compensator is installed on the frame mechanism and, by rotating the aircraft, the correctness of the performed work is checked. If inaccuracy is retreted, compensation of the radio deviation is performed by additional rotation of the screws at the appropriate ORK.

The determination of the radio deviation on the ground is inadmissible on aircraft the closed antenna of ARK (Automatic Radio Compass) of which is installed in the bottom of the fuselage. This is explained by the distortion of the electromagnetic field

by electromagnetic waves, reflectent from the earth's surface. In such cases radio deviation is determined in flight, selecting for this purpose a radio station 200-300 km distant from the region of flights.

Figure 43 shows that the aircraft, performing such a flight, should intersect the assigned bearing at every reading of the course angle of the radio station. It is convenient to use such an order of course angles in flight, which has been indicated for the compensation of radio deviation on the compensating mechanism, whereupon up to KUR 270-90° the aircraft approaches the radio station, and then withdraws from it.

For reduction of time it is possible to perform flight along a 24-angle route, i.e., in practice along a circumference passing 20-30 to straight flight at each reading



Fig. 43. Determining the radio deviation in flight.

of the radio compass and course. One should remember that here at each reading mark it is necessary to determine the MS (aircraft position) and to plot it on a map for calculation when processing the data of the bearing of the radio station from the point of taking the reading.

With both methods the actual course angle of the radio station at the moment of taking the reading is determined by formula

 $KUR = IPR - IK^*$,

^{*[}Translator's note: IPR = true bearing of a radio station; IK = true course.]

and radio deviation - by formula

محمد مناطعة بما مناهدته بالانترار والمطالعة والمعالية المنامية والمحالية والمحالية والمنابع والمنام والمتلية

as a construction of the Andrews In some the construction of the

$$\Delta_{p} = KUR - ORK.$$

The compensation of radio deviation is accomplished after landing in the same order as during its determination on the ground, but without checking the accuracy of accomplishing of works, since a repeated flight would be required.

On each aircraft there is a standard radio deviation chart, if necessary applied to the curve template of the frame.

DISTINCTIVE FEATURES OF THE USE OF RADIO COMPASSES DURING FLIGHTS AT HIGH ALTITUDES AND SPEEDS

The use of radio compasses in flight at high speeds with observance of all rules, imposed on the accuracy of direction finding, requires a considerable increase in the effectiveness of navigational calculations. Since these calculations are laboriour, a decrease of the time by their accomplishment is very undesirable. However, this deficiency to a certain extent is eliminated by the use of ARK with pushbutton switching and combined direction finding indicators, especially with the orthodromic reference system of aircraft courses.

Another essential deficiency of the radio compasses, which operate on medium and short waves, during flights at high speeds is electrostatic interference. Despite the protection of the open antennas of radio compasses and the use of special devices for the runoff of static electricity, accumulated in pointed partr of the aircraft, during flights in clouds and precipitation there are created considerable interferences to reception in frequency range of operation of the radio compasses.

The accuracy of operation of radio compasses, especially the

accuracy of determining the flight of RNT (radio check point), negatively affects the high altitude of flight. This occurs as a result of change of the character of radio deviation at various inclination angles of the vector of propagation of radio waves, changing in large limits as the aircraft approaches the RNT. As the aircraft approaches the radio station the polarization of electromagnetic waves changes from vertical to horizontal, and then after flight over the RNT again to vertical, but opposite in phase (Fig. 44). It is obvious that antenna 1, that inclination back, will have zero reception. Further reception increases, but in the phase opposite reception up to point l' this will involve turning of the frame of the ARK 180° up to the moment of flight over the RNT. After the flight past RNT the phase of the closed antenna will be changed, and at point 1 the open antenna. Consequently, here there will take place premature marking of the flight past RNT with subsequent (up to point 1') fluctuations of the pointer.



Fig. 44. The polarization of electromagnetic waves during flight past the radio station.

If the antenna has been tilted forward (position 3), then fluctuations of the ARK pointer will begin at point 3, the flight past the radio station and the rotation of the pointer to 180° will be noted with delay (at point 3').

With strictly vertical position of the antenna (position 2)

there is possible premature rotation of the ARK pointer 180° , whereupon the pointer can rotate in the opposite direction and for the second time note the flight past RNT at point 2'.

<u>The artificial open antenna</u> of the radio compass in the relationship to its slope in vertical plane - resultant, which connects the upper or lower point of the antenna with the electrical center, i.e., with its grounding or counterweight (Fig. 45).



Fig. 45. The influence of the equivalent of the open antenna on the mark of the flight past the radio station: a) top point of antenna; b) electrical center of the aircraft; c) receiver.

It is natural that straight line a-b, being the equivalent of the antenna inclination (in our case - forward - with installation of the antenna above the fuselage), will cause delay in marking the moment of flight over the RNT.

If the antenna is installed at the same distance from the electrical center, but under the fuselage, then the marking of the moment of flight past the radio station is premature. With arrangement of the antenna behind the electrical center of the aircraft the picture will be the opposite.

It is obvious that the location of the antenna directly above or below the electrical center of the aircraft is more suitable, but here there is possible an advance or delay of the fly-by marks, and also the appearance of double fly-by marks, since in practice errors depend not only on the altitude and speed of flight, but also on the angle of pitch, the accuracy of flight of the aircraft over the radio station, etc. In practice precise flight past is extremely rare and there occurs combination of the effect of crossing with the effect of following (determination of the passage of the traverse of RNT).

On the various types of aircraft during flights at different altitudes and speeds the errors of the crossing of the pointer to 180° lie within from 1 to 3 flight altitudes.

Precise tracking is possible only with comparatively considerable deviations of the aircraft from the radio station during flight. This distance exceeds the flight altitude and is located beyond the zone with horizontal polarization of electromagnetic waves.

COURSE SYSTEMS

an Bilinter Biling and Street mary

The assembly of the course systems is given in Table 20.

	The quantity of units on the aircraft, pieces.					
Name	Tu-114	11-18	An-10	Tu-124		
Course system (Brand)	KS-5	кѕ-б	KS-6	KS-10		
Inductance pickup ID-2	2	1	1	1 1		
Gyro unit GA-1T or GA-1P	2	2	2	2		
Control panel PU-1	2	1 1	1	1		
Relay unit BR-1	1	1	1	1		
Correction mechanism KM-4	2	1	1	1		
Navigator's indicator USh	1	1	1	1		
Pilot indicator UK	-	1-2	2	2		
UGA-IV indicator	1	1	1	1		
UGR-IV indicator	2	-	2	1		
UGPK indicator	-	0-1	0-1	-		
Amplifier U-11	1	1	1	1 1		
Amplifier U-14	1	-	-	_		

Table 20. The assembly of course systems

It is necessary to remember that with use of system in the "GPK" (directional gyroscope) mode aboard the aircraft there are the following duplicate readings:

a) on the UGA-1U indicator:

on pointer "G" - the gyromagnètic course, obtained from the second gyro unit;

on pointer "A" - the true or orthodromic course, obtained from the astrocompass;

b) on readings of the scale of KM-4 correction mechanism - magnetic course (taking into account instrument error).

The main malfunctions of the course systems and the methods of their elimination are given in Table 21.

Table	21.	The	basic	mallunctions	01	course	systems.
							•
							فاختر البرجي القادر الزواري التلية بجسارها الصابة تزويدها جماكما المبراك

Malfunction	The cause and method of elimination in flight
in mode "MK" and "GPK" on the KM-4 the MK remains unchanged with change of the course.	Failure of ID-2 or U-11 (on channel ID-2-KM-4). With failure of ID-2 it is necessary to change to opera- tion of KS in the "GPK" mode with periodic astro- correction and, having corrected the spare gyro-unit to the main, compare in flight the reading of the "G" pointer of the UGA with readings of USh.
In the "GPK" mode the readings of USh and UK are unchanged or during the check of OK divergences are noticed.	Failure of the gyro unit (main or spare). If the same defects are observed on the "G" pointer of UGA-IV, then, besides the failure of GA-1, there can be failure of amplifier U-11 (KM-4-GA-1). One should change to the spare gyro-unit with periodic magnetic correction or astrocorrection.
Incorrect readings of KS after banks	Failure of TsGV, and after the turn of VK-53-RB. It is necessary to switch the KS over to communication with the spare vertical gyroscope or set the appro- priate switch to the operating position without the vertical gyroscope.
The absence of readings on UK with their prezence on USh.	Burnt-out fuse in BR-1-PK-30 at 0.15 a.

19

٩,
AIR NAVIGATION BY THE GREAT CIRCLE WITH THE USE OF COURSE SYSTEMS, HOMING STATIONS, RADIO BROADCASTING STATIONS (RVS) AND RADAR REFERENCE POINTS

The preparation of a map for flight along orthodromic track. On maps utilized for flights in civil aviation (scale 1:1,000,000 and 1:2,000,000), the great circle with length 1000-1200 km in practice is a straight line. This makes it possible on the maps to plot the orthodromes of sections graphically (with the aid of a rule) without calculations of intermediate points by formulas. To the same track length it is possible to execute flight with orthodromic track angle from one reference meridian of the section.

The following system of plotting of orthodromic track angles on a flight map is recommended. If the flight route has not been laid on the orthodrome, i.e., it should pass through certain prescribed points, then it is divided into separate sections, the length of which along the orthodrome should not exceed 100C-1200 km. In this case it is desirable that the starting points of the section would coincide with the route turning points (PPM). The division of the route not at points of the PPM is allowed only with large length of the straight portions of the track.

The meridians of the starting points of the orthodrome of the section are considered reference meridians for the measurement of track angles. The great circle track angle from the first reference meridian to the first PPM is measured directly from the reference meridian. The track angles to the next PPM are determined as the sum of the first track angle with the angle of turn of the track at the first PPM (Fig. 29):

 $ON_{2} = ON_{1} \perp yp$ etc.

#[Translator's note. ONY = OPU = great circle track angle, YP = UR = angle of turn.] **Example.** OPU₁ = 60°, UF = 30°, OUP₂ = 60° + 30° = 90°.

With the number of PPM more than three to avoid the accumulation of errors of the second and subsequent OPU by summation of the azimuth we determine the great circles of the section with angles of intersection of the assigned track and the great circle of the section (see Fig. 30):

OPU \doteq A + UP.

For example. A = 130° ; UP = -30° . OPU = $130^{\circ} - 30^{\circ} = 100^{\circ}$.

Furthermore, the OPU can be measured directly on the map from any meridian with subsequent introduction of correction to the angle of convergence of the reference meridian and the meridian of the place of angle measurement:

OPU = IPU $\pm \delta$.

For return flight the track angles are plotted from the reference meridians, which are final during flight in the initial direction. Therefore, the track angles of the reverse direction will be 180° different from the initial direction plus the correction for the convergence of meridians.

If the entire flight route passes along the great circle and does not have PPM, then the plotting of track angles is considerably simplified. In this case the route should be divided into orthodromic sections 1000-1200 km long. The meridians of the initial points of the section are considered reference meridians during the calculation of great circle track angles for forward and reverse direction; from these meridians the great circle track angles are measured.

The marking of the route for flights with great circle track angles is performed the same as for flight with magnetic loxodromic track angles. The track is divided into segments 50 km each ţ

with numbering every 100 km. To the right of each section between PPM there will be placed a line, above which is indicated the distance between PPM, and under the line - the preset time of flight on the section. More to the right of the line is written the OPU.

The general sequence of preparation of the map for flight along the orthodromic track is recommended the following:

1. Regardless of the presence of salient points connect by a straight line on the map the section of route with length 1200 m. The straight line laid on the map will be the great circle of the section. In the future all calculations of track angles should be performed from this line.

2. Measure on the map with a protractor the azimuth of the great circle on the meridian passing through the starting point of the section.

3. Construct the assigned track on the map. For this by straight lines connect the route turning points.

4. For each segment of the assigned track calculate the great circle track angle. This angle for each segment, except the first, is measured and calculated from the azimuth of the great circle of the section, from the first great circle track angle or from any meridian taking into account the correction for convergence of meridians.

5. Write the great circle track angles on the map to the right of the route.

6. Designate the reference meridians of each section on the map with the color red.

7. At each meridian to the right of the route plot the amount of correction for convergence of the given and reference meridians and magnetic declination. During flight to the east the correction is written with the "minus" sign, in flight to the west - with the "plus" sign. The written corrections for convergence of the given and reference meridians are used during calculation and plotting of the actual track and radio bearings on the map, where corrections are considered with their sign.

8. For the case of necessity of changing from orthodromic calculation to flight with magnetic track angles there is compiled a table of magnetic track angles to the route segments of such extent, so that the MPU of adjacent segments would be not more than $3-4^{\circ}$ different.

The execution of flight. Flight along the great circle track using gyroscopic course instruments, including the GPK-52, is accomplished by the following scheme, which remains identical for all orthodromic sections:

1. Before flight past the reference meridian at 20-30 km adjust the KS. Set the initial data on the KS, GPK, NI-50, DAK-DB-5.

2. During flight past the reference meridian set the aircraft according to the USh on the calculated orthodromic course, check the correctness of the taken course by all the duplicate course instruments.

3. Following the orthodromic track.

4. Correction of gyro unit of KS and GPK-52.

5. Monitoring and correction of path.

6. Approach to the reference meridian of the route turning point.

If the orthodromic section has salient points of the path, i.e., the route turning points, then at these points it is necessary to set the aircraft by the GPK to the appropriate course, which just as the azimuth of the great circle of the section is read from the reference meridian.

In accordance with this general scheme the procedure and sequence of accomplishing flight on each orthodromic section consist of the following:

and a second a second and a second a second second of the second of the second second second second as

1. All course instruments must be activated on the ground after starting the engines. After the warming up of instruments and step up of the gyrorotors on the control panels of the GPK-52 and KS set the rounded off value of the latitude ϕ of the starting point of the section.

For example, if the latitude of the starting point of the section is 53°32', then one should set latitude 54°.

On the DAK-DB set: the latitude and longitude of the starting point of the section, the declination and Greenwich hour angle of the Sun, and also release the sweep to zero and set the calculated ground speed on the course adjuster.

On the scale of declinations set the declination of the starting point of the orthodromic section.

2. With intersection of the reference meridian of the section set the aircraft on the calculated true course, equal to the track angle of the assigned great circle with correction for the drift angle. By strictly holding this course, set the GPK-52 to the reading which corresponds to the true course, switch the KS to the "GPK" operating mode.

3. By performing flight by the GPK with the predetermined heading, determine the drift angle and introduce the correction to the predetermined course.

4. For approach to the next given track angle turn the aircraft according to the GPK to the right or left to the new predetermined heading.

When accomplishing flight on high-speed aircraft it is necessary to begin the turn for approach to the next assigned course angle before flight past the PPM in accordance with the precalculated linear turn lead (LUR).

5. Having set the aircraft according to the GPK to the course equal to the new assigned track angle of the great circle with drift correction, execute flight with this heading to the next turning point, while refining the amount of the taken correction.

à.

6. With change of the latitude ϕ of the aircraft position to a magnitude equal to the next nearest value of "latitude" scale division, on the control panels of GPK-52 and KS set the new value of latitude¹.

7. While performing flight according to the GPK with predetermined headings, periodically monitor the readings of the GPK by the following methods:

¹It is admissible when accomplishing flights to set the latitude control point adjuster to the middle latitude of the orthodromic section, if the difference of latitudes in high latitudes does not exceed 10° , and in low -5° .

a) by comparison of the magnetic course of the aircraft according to the magnetic compass with the true orthodromic course on the GPK. At each separate moment the magnetic course on the magnetic compass should be different from the orthodromic course on the GPK by the sum of corrections for the angle of convergence of the reference meridian, meridian of the aircraft position and magnetic declination MS:

 $OK = MK + (\lambda_{0,M} - \lambda_{N'}) \sin q_{ep}$; Λ_{Ne}

where MK - magnetic course of the aircraft; OK - orthodromic course of the aircraft according to the GPK, read from the reference meridian of the orthodromic section; $\lambda_{0.M}$ - longitude of reference meridian; Δ_{M} - magnetic declination MS; ϕ_{CP} - middle latitude.

For the convenience of comparison of the readings of the GPK and magnetic compass it is advantageous to set this total correction on the scale of declinations of the USh, whereupon the readings of these instruments should coincide with limits of the accuracy of their operation. In course systems this total correction can be added to the readings of the magnetic course on the UGA, i.e., $OK = MK + \Delta$, compare the obtained result with readings of USh (working in "GPK" mode). In the case of divergence of readings introduce correction;

b) by comparison of the orthodromic course on the astrocompass with the orthodromic course on the GPK. At each separate moment these readings should coincide within the accuracy of operation of the instruments.

8. Periodically every 10-15 min of flight determine the drift angle and according to the findings refine the heading.

9. For providing the most precise approach of the aircraft to the starting point of the next orthodromic section perform dead

reckoning and periodically determine the calculated aircraft position.

During flight by the GPK with orthodromic course, calculated from the reference meridian of the orthodromic section, the calculation and plotting of the radio bearings of the aircraft on the map must be performed in the following order:

a) with the aid of ARK or airborne radar determine the radio station or reference point angle of approach (KUR, KUO);

b) determine the orthodromic heading of the RNT or reference point as the sum of the orthodromic course (OK) by the GPK and the heading (KUR) (KUO): OrR = OK + KUR (KUO);

c) for plotting the true radio bearing on the map from the meridian of the RNT or reference point determine the aircraft true bearing, considering the correction for the angle of convergence of the reference meridian of the orthodromic section and the meridian of the radio station or reference point

$$IPS = OPR - (\lambda_{0,N} - \lambda_{1}) \sin q_{cp} \pm 180^{\circ},$$

where λ_p - longitude of the radio station or reference point; $\lambda_{0,H}$ - longitude of the reference meridian; ϕ_{cp} - middle latitude.

In practice the aircraft true bearing can be determined in the following manner:

a) take from the map the correction for the angle of convergence of the meridian of the RNT (reference point) and reference meridian;

b) on the course scale of ARK or radar indicator set the true course as the sum of the orthodromic course and the correction for the convergence of meridians taken from the map; c) read the aircraft true bearing by the position of the ARK pointer or the crossnair of the radar indicator.

When using the KS for radio direction finding of the system the orthodromic bearing of the aircraft is read directly by the position of the ARK pointer (c_{P_1} site end), and to obtain the aircraft true bearing the correction for the angle of convergence of the meridian of the radio station and reference meridian, taken from the map, is considered with its sign;

d) plot the calculated aircraft true bearing on the map with the aid of a protractor, having applied it on the meridian, passing through the radio station (Fig. 46).



Fig. 46. Plotting of calculated IPS. KEY: (1) Reference meridian; (2) Line of bearing.

10. Approach the starting point of the next orthodromic section.

11. Set the aircraft on course by the UShA, being monitored by astro or magnetic compass. Set the GPK to the reading which corresponds to the MK in flight along OMPU; and in flight along OPU - to magnitude MK + $\Delta_{\text{H-C-M}}$.

12. Subsequently perform flight in the same sequence as shown above in pp. 3-10.

On aircraft with course systems the autonavigator of the NI-50BM ground-position indicator is included in the USh of the

KS. Therefore, on these aircraft the grivation on the autonavigator and wind reference input element NI-50 is set equal to the great circle track angle and dead reckoning with respect to range and lateral deviation is performed relative to the assigned orthodromic track.

1.1.2

È

On aircraft with off-line operation of course instruments, where the autonavigator NI-50 is connected to the USh of magnetic distant-reading compass, the dead reckoning on the coordinator will be performed from the magnetic course. Since actually flight will be accomplished with constant orthodromic course, and the readings of the magnetic compass will be continuously changed, in dead reckoning with respect to the direction errors will arise, since integration of the path will be fulfilled by the curve, convex in the direction opposite the magnetic rhumbline (Fig. 47).



Fig. 47. Route along great circle and the integration curve of the route. KEY: (1) Route along great circle; (2) Integration curve of route to MK in flight from the OK.

In order that the NI-50 readings could be used for monitoring the path with respect to direction, for example, for the measurement of speed and wind direction at flight altitude, the grivation of NI-50 must be set equal to the OPU, and to readings of the magnetic compass periodically every 100-150 km of the route introduce total correction Δ :

$$\Delta = \Delta_{M} + (\lambda_{0,M} - \lambda_{MC}) \sin \varphi_{CD}$$

This total correction to the readings of the magnetic compass is introduced with the aid of the declination scale of the USh.

SYSTEM OF READING OF TRACK ANGLES AND COURSE OF THE AIRCRAFT

Bacheline transfer

and the stand in the states and share

The selection of the system of reading the track angles of flight and the aircraft course depends upon the operating data of the aircraft and its navigation equipment.

The conditions of the use of course instruments on the aircraft can be divided into three groups:

1. Flights with small limits of change of magnetic latitudes on aircraft equipped with magnetic or gyromagnetic compasses.

2. Flights with considerable changes of magnetic latitudes on aircraft equipped with magnetic compasses, directional gyroscopes or course systems of average accuracy, without automatic measurement of drift angle, ground speed and dead reckoning.

3. Flights to any distances on aircraft equipped with precise course systems and instruments for automatic measurement of drift angle, ground speed and dead reckoning.

For the first group of conditions we select the magnetic loxodromic system of reading the track angles of flight and the aircraft course. In this case the length of each loxodromic route segment is taken so that the magnetic track angle at its starting point would be different from the track angle of the terminal point by not more than 2° with length of segment up to 300 km, i.e.,

 $\frac{(\lambda_{\rm poin} - \lambda_{\rm How}) \sin \varphi_{\rm CP} -}{-(\Delta_{M_{\rm POH}} - \Delta_{M_{\rm How}}) < 2^{\circ},}$

where λ_{HAH} , λ_{ROH} , - the longitudes of the initial and terminal point of the route segment; Δ_{M} , Δ_{M} , - the magnetic declination of the initial and terminal point; ϕ_{CP} - the middle latitude of the segment.

In this case the mean magnetic track angle of the segment differs from the extreme by not more than 1°, and the maximum deviation of the loxodromic track from the orthodromic does not exceed values

ないあた語言の記念の

 $z = \frac{S}{2} tg 0^\circ, 5,$

i.e., the loxodromic line coincides with the orthodromic (Fig. 48).



Fig. 48. Magnetic loxodromic course angle.

If the initial and final track angles of the segment differ by less than 2°, then the length of the loxodromic route segment can be increased during flights in meridional direction or in any direction in the equatorial latitudes with small changes of $\Delta_{\rm M}$.

The magnetic loxodromic course angle in the practice of air navigation is usually called the magnetic course angle (MPU).

The MPU is measured relative to the magnetic meridian of the midpoint of the route segment:

$$MPU = IPU_{cp} - \Delta_{M_{cp}},$$

where IPU_{cp} - the direction of the track of the relative true meridian of the midpoint; Δ_{ri} - magnetic declination at the midpoint of the track.

1.1.1

More accurately the MPU can be determined by measurement of directions at the beginning and end of the track:

$$MPU = \frac{IPU_{Hay} + IPU_{HOH} - (\Delta_{M} + \Delta_{M})}{2}$$

since in this case the averaging of two measurements occurs, which decreases their error.

Example of determining the MPU of the route segment.

Given: $IPU_{Hay} = 470^{\circ}$; $\Delta_{m_{Hay}} = +5^{\circ}$; $IPU_{HOH} = 49^{\circ}$; $\Delta_{m_{HOH}} = +3^{\circ}$.

Solution:

and a second second

$$MPU = \frac{47 \div 49 - (5 \div 3)}{2} = 44^{\circ}.$$

For the second group of conditions we select the orthodromic system of reading track angles of flight and aircraft courses relative to the reference meridians or the zero meridians of the route segments. In this case the great circle track angle of flight (OPU) is considered equal to the true track angle of the route segment at its starting point or at the point of intersection of the continuation of the segment with the reference meridian (Fig. 49).

During flight past reference meridians or the initial points of the route segments the directional gyroscope or course system displays readings of the true course of the aircraft. For example, the course system is transferred to the MK mode with the setting (on the declination scale) of magnetic declination at point MS or to the astronomical c.rrection mode. After matching (final adjustment of true course) the system is transferred to the GPK mode.

Fig. 49. Selection of OPU.



If it is necessary to check the accuracy of readings of the orthodromic course at any other point, then the readings of the GPK compare with the readings of the astrocompass, at this there should be fulfilled equality (under the condition that DAK-DB-5 issues not orthodromic AK, but the IK of the aircraft position)

$OK = IK + (\lambda_{o, M} - \lambda) \sin q_{ep},$

where OK - orthodromic course; IK - reading of astrosensor; $\lambda_{\text{o.M}}$ - the longitude of the reference meridian or meridian of the initial point of the route segment; λ - current longitude of MS; ϕ_{cp} - middle latitude between the point of display of orthodromic course and MS.

The accuracy of readings of the orthodromic course can also be checked by readings of the magnetic compass with the introduction into them of total correction

$$\Delta = (\lambda_0, \mathbf{n} - \lambda) \sin q_{cp} + \Delta_{\mathbf{n}} + \Delta_{\mathbf{n}},$$

where Δ_{M} - magnetic declination MS; Δ_{K} - magnetic compass deviation. Then OK = KK + Δ .

If the indicated conditions are not observed, then correction is introduced to the readings of GPK, equalizing the left side of the equation with the right.

Example $\lambda_{0.M} = 44^{\circ}$; $\phi_{CP} = 56^{\circ}$; $\lambda = 58^{\circ}$; $\Delta_{M} = -6^{\circ}$; $\Delta_{\mu} = +2^{\circ}$; OK = 52°; KK = 70°.

Determine the orthodromic course error.

Solution:

l

$$\begin{aligned} \Delta_{OK} &= KK + (\lambda_{0, W} \lambda) \sin q_{CP} + \Delta_{W} - \\ &+ \Delta_{K} - OK = 70 + (44 - 55) 0.8 - \\ &- 6 + 2 - 52 = 3^{2}. \end{aligned}$$

Conditions of the second group suppose flights with large changes of magnetic latitudes. Therefore, in conducting the deviational operations it is necessary to determine on the aircraft the coefficients of semicircular deviation of magnetic sensor B and C:



where i = 0.45, 90, ..., 315° (a total of eight rhumbs).

Since on aircraft of the indicated group the deviation is mechanically compensated to zero at the latitude of the place of its elimination, then at any other magnetic latitude

$$\Lambda_{\mu} = \left(\frac{H_{\Psi}}{H} - 1\right) \times (B \sin MK + C \cos MK).$$

where H_y - the intensity of the horizontal component of the earth's field at the place of elimination of deviation; H - the intensity of the horizontal component of field at point MS.

For the third group of conditions we also select the orthodromic system of reading the track angles of flight and aircraft course. However, taking into account the high requirements for the accuracy of measurement of the course for automatic dead reckoning and the operational stability of the course system in the "GPK" mode, we try to retain and more precisely determine the established course reading system at the departure point over the entire length of the flight route. The most convenient and precise method of determining the elements of the great circle and of flight along orthodromic route segments is the following. For each orthodromic segment we determine the displacement of longitudes λ_{CMEM} for the transition from longitude λ to longitude λ_0 , read from the point of intersection of the great circle with the equator (Fig. 50).

For point $M_1 \lambda_{cMEM} = \lambda_{0_1} - \lambda_1$, where $clg\lambda_{v_i} = lg q_1 cosec \Delta \lambda - clg \Delta \lambda$, then the current longitude of any point of the segment will be equal to

Fig. 50. Displacement of longitudes. KEY: (1) Greenwich meridian.

λ.= λ+ λchem.

All elements of the great circle are easily determined if

the longitude of its points is read from the point of intersection of the great circle with the equator:

the initial azimuth at the point of intersection with the equator $\lg c_{\phi} = \frac{\sin \lambda_{\phi}}{\lg \varphi}$; current azimuth $\lg \alpha = \frac{\lg \lambda_{\phi}}{\sin \varphi}$; intermediate points sign $\lambda_{0} = \lg \sigma_{0} \lg \phi$;

great-circle distance from the point of intersection with the equator

 $\cos S_0 = \cos \lambda_0 \cos \varphi$;

the distance between two points

$$S_{\mu_1 \mu_2} = S_{\nu_1} - S_{\nu_2}$$

As the great circle track angle of the first route segment we take its azimuth at the departure point of the aircraft.

The track angles of all subsequent route segments are obtained by summation of the track angles of the previous sections with the angle of turn of the track for flight along the next section (Fig. 51). In this case the angle of turn is defined as the difference of azimuths of the route segments at the point of their inter-section, obtained by using formula

$$tg \alpha =: \frac{tg \lambda_0}{\sin \varphi}, i.e.$$

$$UP = \arctan \frac{tg \lambda_{0,e}}{\sin \varphi} - \arctan \frac{tg \lambda_{0,e}}{\sin \varphi},$$

where $\lambda_{0_2} = \lambda + \lambda_{cmem_2}$; $\lambda_{0_1} = \lambda + \lambda_{cmem_1}$, at the point of intersection of the path sections.

The more accurate determination of the orthodromic course in flight is fulfilled through the appearing lateral deviations of the aircraft from the specified track at the correction points of the aircraft coordinates.

$$\Delta_{\rm OK} = \arctan \frac{\Delta_z}{S},$$

where Δ_z - error in dead reckoningS in terms of direction; S - path of the aircraft between the correction points of coordinates.



Fig. 51. Track angles and turning angles.

The correction introduced in this way is common for course, drift angle and dead reckoning, which is especially advantageous for air navigation. With the correction of the orthodromic course by an astrocompass it is necessary that the following condition be observed

$$OK - AK = OPU \operatorname{arctg} \frac{\operatorname{tg} \lambda_0}{\sin \varphi}$$

with correction by magnetic compass this condition assumes the form

$$OK - KK = OPU - \operatorname{arcig} \frac{\operatorname{tg} \lambda_0}{\sin \varphi} + \Delta_M + \Delta_M.$$

If these conditions are not fulfilled, then to the OK readings a correction is introduced which equalizes the left side of the equation with the right.

The account of the magnetic compass deviation for the third group of conditions is conducted by the rules accepted for the second group.

Taking into account the high accuracy of course instruments both for the third and for the second groups, depending on the concrete flight conditions, the use of orthodromic reading of the track angles from magnetic reference meridians is possible.

FEATURES OF READING THE GREAT CIRCLE TRACK ANGLES DURING FLIGHTS IN THE CENTRAL ARCTIC

For air navigation in the Central Arctic the following features are characteristic:

large angles of convergence of meridians, involving a rapid change of the current longitude, particularly with directions of routes close to 90° (270°);

considerable distances from the pole to the coast of the USSR, and also Alaska, Canada and Greenland.

The large angles of convergence of meridians in many route flights in the Central Arctic force the rejection of flights along rhumb line an the transfer to flights along a great circle. In this case the calculation of directions is performed from one constant meridian, in this case called <u>conditional meridian</u>.

The accomplishing of flights along a rhumb line in high latitudes is connected with great inconveniences for the following reasons:

the large curvature of rhumb line, with the exception of flights with courses close to 0° (180°), requires the continuous turning of the aircraft in horizontal plane. In this case the turns cause accelerations, which affect the accuracy of operation of the navigational instruments, which have pendulum (bubble) vert cal line or correction (aircraft sextants, gyro horizons and others). The angular velocity of the aircraft in horizontal plane in proportion to approach to the pole considerably increases and is characterized by the following values, expressed in degrees after 1 min. of flight (Table 22);

the use of magnetic compasses in high latitudes is limited, and at values of horizontal component 0.05-0.06 oersted become unreliable;

the percentage elongation of the loxodromic path as compared with the orthodromic at latitude 75° is 55%, and to the north - it increases still more.

Table 22. Variation of angular velocity in flight to the pole.

Latitude. deg	Angular velocity, 9/min	
	1 3.0 km/h	v. 720 km/h
67) 75 80 85 88	0,1 0,2 0,3 0,6 1,5	0,2 - 0,4 0,6 1,2 3,0

For the indicated reasons it is better to perform route flights in high latitudes along the great circle. For this very reason for such flights the astrocompass and directional gyroscope appeared for the first time and were widely applied as the main great circle course instruments.

However, it proves to be a sufficiently complex problem to maintain in flight a path along the great circle, because the course (track angle) along the great circle in high latitudes is changed from meridian to meridian by approximately the magnitude of the angle of convergence between these meridians (Fig. 52).



Construction of the second s

Fig. 52. The measurement of track angles along great circle route.

In practice we go to simplifications, knowingly allowing some errors. For example, on the astrocompass or directional gyroscope we maintain not the actual orthodromic course relative to each of the meridians, but the mean orthodromic course relative to the mean meridian of the section of the route; the mean meridian in this case is the conditional meridian, relative to which the astrocompass or querectional gyroscope shows the course.

In the majority of cases, and in the polar basin of the Arctic in all cases the route plotting and navigational calculations can be performed without considerable errors relative to one of the two constant conditional meridians.

On many aviation maps, accepted for flights in the Arctic there are plotted two grids of mutually perpendicular parallel lines, which depict two such constant conditional meridians -Greenwich ($\lambda = 0$) and the meridian perpendicular to it ($\lambda = 90^{\circ}$). The latter is selected because east longitude 90° corresponds approximately to the mean longitude of the area of the Arctic adjacent to the territory of the USSR. Figure 53 by pointers shows the direction of both meridians, taken as north, from which as from the northern tip of the geographical meridian we read clockwise all navigational directions: track angle, course, azimuth (heading), wind direction.



Fig. 53. Diagram of conditional meridians.

Directions relative to Greenwich meridian (or the meridian with $\lambda = 90^{\circ}$) and relative to any geographical meridian are connected together by the following relationships:

 $IPU_{\Gamma p} = IPU \mp \lambda_3^B$ and $IPU_{90} = IPU \mp \lambda_3^B + 90^{\circ};$ $IPU = IPU_{\Gamma p} \pm \lambda_3^B$ and $IPU = IPU_{90} \pm \lambda_3^B - 90^{\circ},$

where λ_{9}^{B} - the east or west longitude of the geographical meridian.



Instead of the track angle in formulas there can be taken the course, azimuth (heading) or wind direction.

If it is decided to perform the route plotting and navigational calculations relative to one of these two conditional meridians, then during comparison of the readings of the magnetic compass with the readings of the astrocompass or directional gyroscope, on which IK_{pp} or IK_{90} is set, difficulties appear:

 $MK = IK + \Delta_{11} = IK_{10} \pm \lambda_3^{B} - \Lambda_{11} - HK_{90} \pm \lambda_3^{B} - 90^{\circ} - \Lambda_{11}$

In order to determine what the true course is equal to relative to Greenwich meridian (or the meridian with $\lambda = 90^{\circ}$) according to the magnetic course of the compass, it is necessary to take the value of Δ_{i1} from the map and then perform two-three arithmetic operations. The problem is solved simpler if on the map there have been plotted not the magnetic isogonic lines, but conditional isogonic lines - lines of equal angles being comprised

ty the magnetic pointer with the northern direction of the conditional meridian ($\lambda = 0^{\circ}$ or $\lambda = 90^{\circ}$). When such conditional isogons, enumerated by values of Δ_{11} or Δ_{11} , exist on the map the transfer from MK to IK_{rp} (IK₉₀) and vice versa is performed with respect to relationships

$$MK = IK_{rp} - \Delta_{m_{rp}}$$

and
$$MK = IK_{90} - \Delta_{m_{90}}$$
$$IK_{rp} = MK + \Delta_{m_{rp}}$$

and
$$IK_{90} = MK + \Delta_{m_{90}}$$
$$MK_{rp} = MK_{rp} - (+ \Delta)$$

The use of the map with conditional isogonic lines has one additional advantage: all the conditional isogonic lines converge only at the point of the magnetic pole (magnetic isogons converge still at thepoint of the geographical pole), therefore near the area of the geographical pole there is no thickening of the conditional isogonic lines and there is not need for knowledge of the MS with high accuracy in order to take the correct value of Δ_{Mpp} (Δ_{Np0}) from the map.

NI-50 POSITION AND HOMING INDICATOR

The state of the s

The second second is

Position and homing indicator NI-50 is the automatic dead reckoning device which operates in the orthodromic coordinate system. It serves for solution of the following problems:

determining of MS to within 3-5% of the path passed from the point of the beginning of calculation;

determination of wind speed and direction;

monitoring of the moment of approach to the reference landmark, precise determination of which is impossible by other methods; the conducting of automatic dead reckoning during search flights;

bypass of thunderstorms and approach to LZP.

The computer of the position and homing indicator sums up the readings of the course instruments and the special airspeed transmitter, input into it with the aid of electro-induction transmission, and then "distributes" them to the components of motion of the aircraft in rectangular coordinates.

Control and indication are accomplished by a coordinate counter, wind control point adjuster and by an autonavigator.

The coordinate counter with the aid of pointers "S" and "V" continuously issues present-position data in kilometers in the form of range and lateral deviation.

The wind control point adjuster serves for considering the wind effect on the aircraft flight. The wind direction is taken navigational (where it blows to).

With the aid of the **autonavigator** the rectangular coordinate system is oriented by the manual introduction of the grivation. The <u>grivation</u> is the angle between the northern direction of the meridian and randomly taken axis X, relative to which it is proposed to measure the lateral deviation of the aircraft. As a rule, the grivation is taken equal to the track angle. During flights along large routes, which have salient points, axis X can be the mean orthodromic direction of the route.

The autonavigator can operate from the gyromagnetic compass. Then it shows the magnetic course, and the grivation is read from the magnetic meridian at the point of beginning of checking the path by the indicator. The pointers of the coordinate counter and the grivation are reset for each section of the path.

During flight using great circle track angles, i.e., during operation of the indicator from GPK, dead reckoning can be accomplished without additional correction at the 1000-1200 km stage. In this case the course indicator shows the course from the reference meridian, and the grivation is established equal to the assigned OPU (great circle track angle).

The position of the aircraft is determined according to the readings of pointers "S" and "V" of the coordinate counter. During flight along a route with short straight sections for the origin of coordinates it is possible to take the beginning of each section. If this route is well equipped with radio aids and it is possible to exactly determine the flight past points of the beginning of reading, then it is sufficient to simply be limited by systematic control of the path in terms of distance and direction.

In the case when the axis X is the mean orthodromic direction of the route, and the grivation is the initial azimuth of this direction, on the flight map it is necessary to plot this mean orthodromic direction and to mark the position of the aircraft relative to it with the aid of a scaled rule.

The wind velocity and direction with the aid of the NI-50 are determined in the following manner:

1) during flight past a reference point on the route the pointers "S" and "V" are placed on zero, we set the grivation, and on the wind controller - the indices of the wind velocity and direction also to zero:

2) every 15-20 min of flight by any of the available methods we determine the aircraft position MS_1 and simultaneously

 MS_2 ("no-wind position") according to the position and homing indicator. Both points are plotted on the flight map;

3) points MS_1 and MS_2 are connected by a straight segment, which will be the wind vector for the time counted from the moment of setting of the pointers of the indicator to zero. By division of the length of the segment in kilometers by the time in hours we determine the wind velocity in kilometers per hour. The wind direction will be the direction of the vector from MS_2 to MS_1 .

Flight past a reference landmark, the visual or electronic identification of which is impossible, is determined in the following manner:

1) by any available means we precisely determine the moment of flight past some reference point, the distance from which to the KO of interest to us is known;

2) during flight past the first reference point we move pointer "S" to the left of zero to a distance equal to the distance between reference points, in this case the wind parameters on the controller should be established;

3) the moment of passage of the zero position by pointer "S" will correspond to flight past the reference point of interest to us.

During flights over a limited area under conditions of frequently changing aircraft course, when control of the path is difficult, it is advantageous to use the NI-50 in the following manner:

1) we select a well identified reference landmark in the flying area;

2) on the flight map we place a grid of rectangular coordinates, arranged depending on the position of the reference landmark so that one of their axes would coincide with the true meridian of the reference point, i.e., the grivation is taken equal to zero;

3) during approach to the reference landmark the pointers "S" and "V" are set on zero, wind data at the flight altitude are introduced by the controller, and the grivation is taken equal to $360^{\circ} - 4_{_{\rm H}}$, if the automatic device operates from the GPK. In this case pointer "S" will indicate the MS along axis ox, and pointer "V" - along axis oz;

4) in flight we monitor the path, routinely writing the MS on the map according to the readings of pointers "S" and "V" and using the grid applied on the maps for this.

AIRCRAFT DOPPLER RADAR SYSTEM

The aircraft Doppler system is a self-contained radar system of air navigation. The Doppler system to a considerable degree is free from such deficiencies in panoramic radar sets as their low efficiency in flight over uniform terrain, large expenditure of time for determining navigational elements (ground speed and drift angle) and the low accuracy of these measurements.

The aircraft Doppler system completely solves the problems of determining the navigational elements and dead reckoning.

The Doppler systems of air navigation, used in civil aviation of various countries, measure the ground speeds from 130 to 1800 km/h, and drift angles - from 0 to 45° at altitudes up to 15,000 m and higher. In this case errors on ground speed lie within limits from 0.2 to 0.9% and on drift angle within limits from 0.2 to 0.6, and the accuracy of dead reckoning with respect to

distance and lateral deviation with accuracy of compass course $\pm 0.5^{\circ}$ is 1% of the distance.

The operating principle. If from the moving aircraft with the aid of a radio transmitter we emit electromagnetic oscillations at angle 0 to the earth's surface, then between the frequency of these oscillations and the frequency of oscillations, there will be detected drift reflected from the earth's surface, received by the aircraft radio receiver. The phenomenon of such an oscillation frequency drift is called the Doppler effect, and the difference of frequencies of radiated and received oscillations is called Doppler frequency. This frequency, as applied to the moving aircraft, is determined thus:

$$f_{\text{gou}} = \frac{2W}{\lambda} \cos \theta,$$

where W - relative aircraft speed; λ - wave length; 0 - angle between the direction of aircraft motion and the direction of radiation.

The ground speed in the Doppler system is schematically determined in the following manner:

the aircraft radio transmitter through the antenna, in the direction coinciding with the longitudinal axis of the aircraft, emits radio waves with constant frequency of oscillation to the surface of the ground at a certain angle;

the radio waves, which fall to the earth, change their frequency in proportion to the ground speed of the aircraft and, being reflected, partially return to the aircraft, again changing their frequency; in this way, radio waves return to the aircraft with frequency changed twice in proportion to the longitudinal component of the ground speed; the difference of transmitted and received radio wave frequencies is automatically measured with the aid of a special device, sending this value to a digital instrument.

The determining of the drift angle occurs according to a similar principle, but there is used an antenna directed perpendicular to the longitudinal axis of the aircraft.

Doppler systems can have single-beam, double-beam, threebeam and four-beam antennas. However, not the most widely applied are four-beam antennas (Fig. 54), since they eliminate a number of errors and increase the accuracy of measurement of the ground speed and drift angle.



Fig. 54. The radiation of four-beam antenna.

Usually the Doppler systems (Fig. 55) include three basic devices, placed on the aircraft:

1) Doppler speed and drift meter (DISS), continuously determining the current values of W and US and sending them to the indicator (Fig. 56), and also to the navigation computer;



Fig. 55. Schematic diagram of the Doppler system.



Fig. 56. Drift angle and ground speed indicator.

2) course selector;

3) the navigation computer (NV), receiving the current value of W and US from the DISS, and the aircraft course - from the course system, integrating these data and guiding dead reckoning in the great circle rectangular coordinate system. The NV gives the current position of the aircraft to the crew.

Coordinates x (path, passed by the aircraft along the assigned great circle) and z (linear lateral deviation from the great circle) are fed to a pointer-type instrument and digit counter.

The NV solves the equation which connects through elements of aircraft motion (ZPU, OK, W, US) and time the initial coordinates with the current coordinates of MS, whereupon the ZPU is introduced into the computer manually, OK - from the course system and US - from the DISS. The basis for calculation is the determining of the difference between the actual and assigned OPU, i.e., lateral deviation

BU OK : (± US) - ZPU.

The distance, passed along great circle x, and the linear lateral deviation are obtained by integration of components W_{χ} and W_{χ} with respect to time:



since

A STATE AND A STAT

 $W'_{c} = W' \cos BU; \quad W'_{c} = W' \sin BU.$

The greatest error, which determines the accuracy of NV, is the error of the course selectors - course systems. Errors of the measurement and setting of the OK, and also the errors of determining W and US of the DISS have smaller value.

Navigation computers of type NI-50 accomplish dead reckoning according to the W and US being issued by DISS, but can also be used with manual introduction of the speed and wind direction. These computers similar to the NI-50 have a two-pointer x and z coordinate counter (pointers "S" and "V"), grivation reference input element and the wind controller. The navigation computers, entering the Doppler systems, ensure the operation of the system in the "Memory" mode (the storage of parameters of aircraft motion in cases of flight over calm water spaces or at large banks), when entry into the system of Doppler frequencies is not observed. In this case while maintaining the airspeed and heading the dead reckoning will be carried out with permissible errors for 15-20 min.

Upon transition to the "Memory" system operating mode it

a server and a server

is advisable to place the "DISS - ANU" switch in the "ANU" position and with change in the airspeed or heading on the wind controller manually set the wind parameters and the grivation, since in this case the flight made was disturbed (W and US were changed with respect to those which the navigation computer "remembered"). In this case the values of the airspeed components along the axes of coordinates are added to the values of wind components along the same axes. Now with change of ZPU and setting of the new grivation the wind component is automatically redistributed.

The navigator's preflight action with the use of the Doppler system is performed in accordance with the requirements of the manual for the navigation service with respect to flight with great circle track angles. It is necessary to remember that the accuracy of air navigation depends upon the accuracy of calculation of the assigned great circle track angles and distances. Consequently, during preflight it is best to compute these data analytically, without resorting to measurements on the map. Formulas for the calculation of great circle track angle and great circle distance are given in the section "Aviation cartography".

Besides the precomputations of OPU and S_{opt} , during preparation of the flight map it is necessary to:

mark along the route the radar reference landmarks every 150-200 km depending on the extent of the route and the aircraft speed, calculate analytically or measure the rectangular coordinates x and z of these reference points, write them with the map and connect the reference point with the LZP by a straight line, perpendicular to the LZP (or to its continuation);

do the same for the points of installation of ground beacons of the azimuth and range system;

for each PPM write the value of the angle of turn (UR) for approach to the LZP of the following leg.

These additional operations are necessary for:

dissibilities in which was

とうない あいの ない ひとう しんかい

a) ensuring precise flight over the IPM or fine adjustment on the counter of initial coordinates relative to the LZP laid on the map;

b) correction of MS without measurements on the map with the aid of the panoramic radar or azimuth and range system;

c) the precise determination of flight past the points necessary to us (KO, PPM, KPM) without measurements on the map.

The complete set of controls and the indicator of the Doppler system includes:

1) the drift angle and ground speed indicator (see Fig. 56);

2) the grivation setting mechanism (assigned OPU);

3) the wind setting mechanism (for establishing the wind velocity and direction, when the DISS is not operating);

4) the counter of coordinates x (pointer "S") and z (pointer "V");

5) the control panel of the system in flight (Fig. 57), which has two signal lamps and two switches.



Fig. 57. Control panel. KEY: (1) On; (2) Mem.; (3) Sea; (4) Ck. 1, CK. 2; (5) Dry land; (6) Off; (7) High.

The first switch has four positions:

"Off" - the power supply of low voltage is turned off;

"On" - power supply of low voltage is turned on and the green (left) signal lamp with the label "On" lights up;

"Mem" - transfer of the system to the "memory" operating mode.

"High" - the power supply of high voltage is turned on and the red (right) signal lamp lights up.

The second switch also has four positions:

"Dry land" - position during flight over dry land;

"Sea" - position during flight over the sea;

"Ck. 1" and "Ck. 2" - position when checking the calibration of the system;

b) switch "DISS - ANU", making it possible to use the navigation computer (ANU, NI-50) in the case of failure of the DISS. In this case it is switched from the "DISS" position to the "ANU" position and the ANU conducts dead reckoning as the NI-50;

7) the "Counter" switch, designed for turning the coordinate counter on and off. At the mainent of its transfer to the "On" position the navigation computer of the ANN performs calculation and feeds coordinates x and z to the counter. With cetting of the switch in the "Off" position the pointers "S" and "V" do not move.

If it is proposed to ure the Doppler system in flight, then before takeoff the navigator must:

1) on the control panel set the left switch in the "Off" position, and the right - in the "Dry land" position;

2) place toggle switch "DISS - ANU" in the "DISS" position;

3) check that the "Counter" switch stands in the "Off" position and the pointers of the dead reckoner are in the zero position;

4) on the grivation setting mechanism establish the assigned great circle track angle of the first leg, after which on the control panel transfer the left switch to the "On" position (the green signal lamp with the label "c.." should light up);

5) in the air (not earlier than 2 min after turning on) set the left switch on the control panel in the "High" position (the red signal lamp should light up).

In 3 min it is possible to use the Doppler system, taking into account that the pointers of the dead reckoner will be in the zero position until the "Counter" switch stands on "Off", whereas the ground speed and drift angle indicator is in the operating position.

Sold W. Sugar

which as and have a state

Despite the fact that the Doppler system in essence ensures the complete monitoring of the path, in view of the errors inherent in it basically because of the poor accuracy of determining the course, it is necessary for the crew in flight as precise as possible to exhibit the initial coordinates of MS, at the proper time by the navigational flight plan to correct the readings of the system with the aid of other electronic means and to operationally accomplish the transfer to the new leg.

Initial coordinates of MS can be considered either the coordinates of the place of departure, if after takeoff a circle is performed over the airfield, or the coordinates of the IPM - any point at some distance from the airfield, the precise flight past which is easy to "fix" with the aid of airborne radar, homing stations or azimuth and range system. In all cases it is desirable with the greatest possible accuracy at the moment of flight past the planned point to turn on the coordinate counter; if this for some reason is impossible, then visually or with the aid of elec ronic means determine the MS in rectangular orthodromic coordinates x and z, set them on the counter and turn it on, having established at the same time on the grivation setting mechanism the value of OPU and having corrected the KS from the reference meridian. From the IPM to the first correction point accomplish flight with OK = ZPU - US, striving to hold the pointer of counter "V" (coordinates z) in the zero position.

<u>Active correction</u> of the readings of the navigation computer in flight is accomplished with the aid of the aircraft panoramic radar or the azimuth and range system. For correction it is necessary to determine the actual position of the aircraft in orthodromic rectangular coordinates.

The formulas for determining the actual MS with the aid of radar and the azimuth and range system in essence are identical.

When using the locating sight:

 $x_{M,c} = x_{P,o} - D \cos PP;$ $z_{M,c} = z_{P,o} - D \sin PP,$

when using the "Svod" system:

Zwe to at Den. PP; Zwe Zp. w. Dsci PP;

where PF - track bearing; D - the distance of the radar reference point or ground-based radio beacon of "Svod", and the difference

55

and the state
in signs is the consequence of the fact that in the first case there is taken the direction from the aircraft to the reference point, and in the second - from the beacon to the aircraft.

Star Brock Frank

Activation and preparation of the system for operation. On the aircraft the Dopler equipment is turned on by the navigator. For turning on the equipment it is necessary:

 on the control panel of the system to place the left switch in the "Off" position, and the right switch in the "Dry hand" position;

2) to place the switch on the navigator's control panel with the label "DISS-ANU" in the "DISS" position;

3, to place the switch with the label "Counter", located near the dead reckoner, in the "Off" position;

4) to check that the pointer itself of the dead reckoner is in the zero position.

Having checked that all toggle switches and switches are in the indicated position on the grivation setting mechanism establish the assigned great circle track angle of the first leg and transfer i eff switch on the control panel to the "On" position: (on the control panel the green signal lamp with the label "On" should light up).

In 1-2 min. after turning on the system (after takeoff) the left switch on the control panel should be transferred to the "High" position, with this the red signal lamp with the sign \leq will light up.

After turning on the high voltage not earlier than in 3 min the system will be in working order and can be used for air navigation.

Since the "Counter" toggle switch is in the "Off" position, the dead reckoner does not operate and its pointers before turning on will stand on zero. The drift angle and ground speed indicators are in working order and issue the value of US and W.

<u>Note</u>: 1. When testing engines on the ground and in flight at altitude up to 200 m the "Route" equipment operates unstably.

 Do not turn on high voltage on the ground in the "Dry land - Sea" mode.

AZIMUTH AND RANGE SYSTEM

The azimuth and range short-range navigation system continuously sends the current polar coordinates of the aircraft relative to the ground beacon of the system to indicator instruments.

The polar coordinates of the aircraft:

Azimuth, or true bearing of the aircraft (IPS) - angle between the nortnern direction of the true meridian, passing through the point of installation of the ground radio beacon, and the direction of the aircraft; the azimuth is projected to within 0.25° ;

range, or the distance from the beacon to the aircraft; measurement accuracy of range ±200 m.

The system solves the following problems with high accuracy:

a) continuous reading of the value of the azimuth to the aircraft and the range;

b) air navigation along the assigned route;

c) determination of navigational elements in flight:

d) guiding the aircraft to any assigned point and the signaling of its flight past;

A STATE OF A

e) ground observation, identification, determination of coordinates of the aircraft and control of its movement.

<u>The operating principle</u>. The azimuth is assigned by the time interval between the initial time of reading, identical for all aircraft located in the zone of coverage of the beacon and equipped with the corresponding equipment, and the moment of reception of the azimuth signal by each of these aircraft. The ground beacon of the system includes a tra smitting azimuth antenna with narrow-beam radiation pattern (in horizontal plant), rotating at a speed of 100 rpm, and antenna of reference signals with omnidirectional radiation pattern. The northern reference signal is transmitted by this antenna at the moment of passage of zero azimuth by the azimuth antenna (northern direction of true meridian).

Thus the azimuth on the aircraft is determined by the time interval between the receivings of the northern reference signal of the omnidirectional antenna and the signal from the rotating azimuth antenna by the aircraft at the moment when it has been directed to the aircraft.

The ranging is accomplished according to the "interrogation response" principle by means of measurement of the total propagation time of the interrogation signal from the aircraft to the ground and the response signal from the ground to the aircraft. This time is converted into the measured distance with sufficient accuracy, since the propagation velocity of electromagnetic energy is constant.

58

The ground beacon of the system has a plan-position indicator (IKO) to obtain on the cathode-ray tube face the marks of the aircraft, which perform flight in the zone of coverage of the beacon and are equipped with the equipment system. The IKO together with the command radio station added to it can be remote and be installed at the control tower.

The operating region of the system. The system operates in the UHF range and therefore its operating region is determined by the flight altitud, and by the nonoperating funnel with radius equal to the flight altitude, located directly over the ground station.

The range of action of the stations, located on flat and slightly-broken terrain at the angles of coverage $0.5-1^{\circ}$, is calculated by formulas:

 $\rho_{\text{max}} = 35.7 (\downarrow H_{\text{orn}} \downarrow \downarrow h_{\text{orn}});$ $H_{\text{orn}} = H_{a5c} - h_{p}; h_{orn} - h_{a5c} - h_{p}.$

where H_{OTH} - the flight altitude relative to the average height above the terrain (h_p) ; h_{OTH} - the altitude of the antenna of the beacon relative to the average height above the terrain (h_p) ; H_{abc} and h_{abc} - the flight altitude and beacor antenna height relative to sea level.

The controls of the system on the aircraft consists of three control panels:

main control panel (ShchU);

pilot's panel (ShehP);

control unit of computer device (EU SRP).

Furthermore, there is a switch for transfer from the navigation mode to the landing mode. It has three positions, one of which corresponds to operation of the null instrument in flight along the route, and two others - during landing approaches using SP-50 and "Svod" systems.

<u>The main control panel</u> of the system (ShchU) is usually placed in the navigator's compartment. On it are arranged (Fig. 58):

two handles (switches) 1 for setting the channel of the ground beacon, in the working zone of which at a given time the aircraft is located;

the function selector 3, which has seven positions: "Off KPP", "Azimuth to", "Azimuth from", "Orbit right", "Orbit left", "SRP" and "Landing". During the landing approach, besides setting the function selector to the "Landing" position, the special switch, which has three positions, is placed in the position "SP-50" either "Course-M" depending on how approach is performed using the system "SP-50" or "Svod";

handle 8 and scale 4 with the label "Azimuth" for setting the assigned value of azimuth (true bearing);

handle 7 and digital drum indicator with the label "Orbit" setting the assigned range 6 (to PPM, KPM or any reference point on the LZP);

two buttons 5 with the label "monitor", "Azimuth", "range" and "duration of strobe" for checking the operation of the system on the channels of azimuth, range and control of the strobe duration.

<u>Pilot's panel</u> (ShchP) is used when the appropriate beacons are installed at airfields.



Fig. 58. The main control panel (ShchU): 1 - ground beacon channel setting switch; 2 - "Landing" lamp; 3 - selector switch of the kind of operations; 4 - scale of the azimuth setting mechanism (true bearing); 5 - buttons for checking the azimuth, range and duration of strobe; 6 - scale of the range setting mechanism (orbit); 7 - handle of the range setting mechanism (orbit); 8 - handle of the azimuth setting mechanism (true bearing); 9 - toggle switch "On to break clouds." KEY: (a) Channels; (b) Off Azimuth; (c) Orbit, Left, kight, SRP, Landing; (d) Zero check for strobe.

The control unit of the computer is also placed in the navigator's compartment. On it are located (Fig. 59):

handle 1 and a scale with label "ZPU" for setting the value of the given true course angle relative to the reference meridian, passing through the point of installation of the ground beacon of the system (OPU);

handle 6 and a scale with label "Target angle" for setting the value of the true bearing (azimuth) of the terminal point of a given section of the route from the ground beacon;

handle 5 and digital drum indicator 4 with label "Distance to target" for setting the distance from the ground beacon to the terminal point of the given section of the route.



Fig. 59. Control unit of computer device (BU SRP): 1 -Handle of the ZIPU setting mechanism; 2 - scale of the ZIPU setting mechanism, read from the reference meridian; 3 - scale of the setting mechanism of the true bearing (azimuth) of the target (PPM, KPM, KO, etc.); 4 - scale of the range from the beacon to the target (PPM, KPM, KO, etc.); 5 - handle of the setting mechanism of the range to the target; 6 - handle of the setting mechanism of the true bearing (azimuth) to the target.

<u>Indicators</u>. On heavy transport planes the following instruments are installed:

 the navigator's direct-reading range and azimuth instrument (PPDA-Sh) is located on the navigator's control panel (Fig. 60). The outside scale, along which the contour pointer moves, is enumerated every 30° with scale value 10° for the coarse reading of azimuth, and the inside scale with small pointer every 1° with scale value 0.1°.

The digital drum indicator of the current range has four windows and gives reading to within 0.1 km;

2) the pilot's direct-reading range and azimuth (PPDA-P) is installed on the pilot's control panel (see Fig. 60a) and has only an outer scale and a large pointer for coarse reading of the azimuth;

3) the combined flight instrument (KPP) combines the course scale with the pointer of repeater of USh or GPK-52 and the null instrument, similar to instrument PSP-48, with the only difference that the vertical and horizontal pointers during all movements always retain mutual perpendicularity (Fig. 61). The course scale rotates with the aid of rack and pinion in the lower right corner of the instrument.





والمتحمة والمحافظة والمحافظة والمناقبة والمحافظة والمحافظة

Fig. 60. Direct-reading azimuth and range instruments: a) pilot's (PPDA-P); b) instruments: a) pilot's (PPDA-P); b) instrument range indicator (accuracy of readling 0.1 km); 2 - azimuth coarse reading pointer: 5 - azimuth reading scale (accuracy of reading 2°); 4 - azimuth fine reading pointer; 5 - outer scale of coarse reading of the azimuth (accuracy of reading 10°); 6 - inner scale of fine reading of the azimuth (accuracy of reading 0.1°).



Fig. 61. Combined flight instrument (kPP): 1 - vertical and horizontal pointer of null indicator; 2 - movable scale and pointer of the course; 3 - setting screws of mechanical zerc; 4 - fixed index; 5 - blinkers of course and glide path; 6 - rack and pinion of the course scale.

At the top of the scale there is a fixed orange triangular index. In the upper left corner of the instrument are two screws, designated by the letters of "G" and "K". Always before turning on the equipment with these screws one should set the horizontal and vertical pointers on the center of the instrument (mechanical zero).

and have been and the second second

Switch on, adjustment and testing of the airborne equipment:

1. In 5-6 min before the beginning of operation switch on the aircraft equipment under voltage. Place the switch, which has three positions ("Svod", "SP-50" and "Course-M"), in the "Svod" position.

2. On the control panel (ShchU) set the channel of the appropriate ground beacon of the system and check the correctness of its setting. The construction of beacons provides for the issue of call signs, but at present these signals are not issued.

3. Set the selected kind of operation on the ShchU ("Azimuth", "Orbit" or "SRP"), whereupon by the handles of setting mechanisms on the appropriate scales set the initial data of the first leg. If flight will be performed in the "SRP" mode, then on the BU SRP the initial data are also exhibited.

4. Set the value of the given true course angle (ZIPU-OPU) with the aid of the rack and pinion opposite the fixed orange index of KPP instrument.

5. By the blinker of the vertical pointer of the KPP and by the signal lamps of the azimuth and range channels check the efficiency of the equipment, taking into account that the "search" mode lasts up to 5 min and only after "capture" of the signals of the beacon will the blinker be covered, and the signal lamps will go out.

6. By the check knobs on the ShU ("Azimuth", "Range" and "Duration of strobe") check the calibration of the range and azimuth scales, for which:

by pressing the check knob of the azimuth rotate the pointer of the precision dial of the PPDA-Sh. It should stop on the orange check digit "l°";

by pressing the check knob of the range rotate the two right drums of the counter, whereupon they should stop in the position "2.0". If this does not occur, then by the turning the pressed knob set the orange check figure "0" in the extreme (right) window of the counter.

7. By the left knob, utilized for calibration of the azimuth, adjust the strobe duration, for which bull out the knob, rotate the azimuth pointers of the PPDA-Sh. If the pointers do not stop on the value larger than 4° and less than 5°, then by turning the pulled-out knob bring the pointers to this value.

Note. Checking the calibration of the azimuth and strobe duration is accomplished only with the beacon operating.

Air Navigation with the aid of azimuth and range system

and the second states of the second second

Flight in the "Azimuth" mode can be performed if the LZP, or its continuation, passes through the point of installation of the ground beacon of the system (Fig. 62). In this mode flight can be performed in two versions: "from the beacon" and "to the beacon." In the first case the IPS (azimuth) should always be kept equal to the ZIPU, in the second - ZIPU $\pm 180^{\circ}$. In both cases the value of the ZIPU with the aid of turning of the course scale of the instrument of KPP is exhibited under the fixed orangeindex.

In all cases of flight the deflection of the vertical pointer of the null indicator to the left of the center of the scale attests to drift of the aircraft to the right of the LZP, and

deflection of the pointer of the null indicator to the right signals the left deviation of the aircraft from the LZP. Thus, the center of the dial face represents the aircraft, and the vertical pointer - the specified track.

Sec. B-

1.

F-

For flight in the "Azimuth to" or "Azimuth from" mode on the ShchU the selector knob of the kind the operation is placed in the appropriate position, with the "Azimuth" handle on the scale we assign the value of A-ZIPU (or ZIPU ±180°), and by the "orbit" handle on the setting mechanism we set the distance from the beacon to the first PPM, or to any point on the LZP necessary to us. During flight past this point the signaling should operate: 1-1.5 min before flight over on the pilot's panel a green warning lamp blinks, at the moment of flight over a red signal lamp flashes.



Fig. 62. Azimuth flight. Designations: $C\mu$ = Si = true north; $D\mu$ = Yui = true south.

The path with respect to range is checked by observation of the current range, its comparison with the range of reference points and by the ignition of signal lamps.

The drift angle during flight in the "Azimuth" mode will be equal to the angle between the course pointer of the repeater of USh (or GPK) of the KPP instrument and the fixed orange index under the condition of keeping the vertical pointer of the null indicator stricly in the center of the scale.

The ground speed in this mode is determined in the following manner:

during flight from the beacon

ž

٢.

$$\mathbf{w} = \frac{\mathbf{D}_2 - \mathbf{D}_1}{t};$$

during flight to the beaccn

$$W = \frac{D_1 - D_2}{t}.$$

Flight in the "Orbit" mode can be performed when the LZP coincides with the curcumference, the center of which is the point of installation of the ground beacon (Fig. 63). During flight by the right orbit the beacon is always located to the right (right bank), during flight by left orbit - on the left (left bank).



Fig. 63. Orvital flight.

For flight in this mode on the ShchU the operating mode collector is placed in the "Orbit right" or "Orbit left" position, .; the "Orbit" bandle on the drum counter of the setting mechanism " radius of the orbit is exhibited, which remains constant for or the extent of the flight in this mode, and by the "Azimuth" handle on the scale we set the IPS in the first PPM or at any point on the assigned orbit of interest to us. During the approach to this point light signaling is activated.

AL.

Checking of the path with respect to range is accomplished by comparison of the current IPS with the true bearings of reference points and with the aid of light signaling of approach and flight past.

During flight along an orbit one should also use a null indicator, however drift here will be the same as the IPU, constantly changed. The ground speed also is continuously changed, but for the section of the path being passed it can be determined by formula

$$W = R \frac{\Lambda IPS}{57,3t} ,$$

where R - radius of orbit, km; ΔIPS - change of IPS during the time of measurement, degrees; t - time of measurement, h.

Flight using a computer (SRP) is performed when the LZP coincides neither with the true bearing line, nor with the orbit. This - flight along any straight line within the limits of action of the ground beacon of the system (Fig. 64).



Fig. 64. Flight with the aid of SRP.

In this case on the main control panel (ShchU) the operating mode selector knob is placed in the "SRP" position, and for piloting according to the null indicator all the data are already set on the control unit of the SRP (BU SRP).

3

On the BU SRP we set the following data:

by the handle "ZPU" on the appropriate scale we set the given true course angle (ZIPU), read from the true (reference) meridian, passing through the point of installation of the ground beacon of the system;

by the "Target angle" handle on the appropriate scale we assign the true bearing (azimuth) of the terminal point of the given section of route;

by the "Distance to target" handle we assign the range of the terminal point of the given section of the route from the ground beacon.

Under the fixed orange index of the KPP instrument by the rack and pinion we supply the value of ZIPU and with retention of the vertical pointer of the instrument in the center of the scale the aircraft follows the LZP. The behavior of the pointer with deviation of the aircraft to the right and to the left of the LZP will be the same as during flight along azimuth or orbit.

The drift angle is determined by the same method as during flight along an azimuth.

ner en statististe en statististe attentionen internet ander statististe en fan internet internet internet inter

and the second second

For checking the path with respect to the range and for determining the ground speed the entire route is broken down into check sections. Around the marks are recorded their polar coordinates (azimuth and range) and, by accurately timing the flight past the selected base, we determine W by formula where $t = t_2 - t_1$.

and the second second

Wenness and a state of the stat

For the activation of signaling during flight by SRP on the main control panel (ShchU) one should also set: by the "Azimuth" handle - the true bearing of the terminal point of the given section of route (or any other KO on the LZP), and by the "Orbit" handle - the di tance from the beacon to this point. Since flight using the SRP i. accomplished with somewhat lower accuacy than flight in the "Azimuth" or "Orbit" mode, only the signal of approach to the "target" can operate, the flash of the red signal lamp may not follow. In this case it is necessary to determine the magnitude of BU with the aid of PPDA and introduce the appropriate correction to the flight course.

 $W = \frac{S}{I}$,

If as the "target" we take the reference point (the traverse point of the beacon being flown over), flight is accomplished in the following manner:

1. On the main control panel (ShchU), besides the channel of the ground beacon and the operating mode (SRP), there is installed the "Orbit" an. "Azimuth" of the final or turning point of the route (or any reference point on the route, the flight past which is desirable to determine).

2. On the BU SRP on the selector "Target angle" there is exhibited the true bearing of the reference point (the target angle is equal to ZIPU $\pm 90^{\circ}$), on the selector "Distance to target" the distance from the ground beacon to the reference point and on the selector "ZPU" - the given true course angle relative to the meridian, passing through the point of installation of the beacon.

3. On the KFP instrument with the aid of rack and pinion opposite the triangular index we set the value of the ZPU.

The approach to the specified track is performed identically, regardless of which point is taken as the target in the given flight.

1. In order to bring the small circle of the course pointer of the KPP instrument to the upper edge of the vertical lath of the instrument, it is necessary to turn the aircraft toward the LZP it is advantageous to bring the course pointer to the position perpendicular to the vertical lath of the instrument, for faster approach to the LZP.

2. Hold the upper end of the vertical lath of the instrument in the small circle of the course pointer until its coincidence with the triangular index.

3. On the arrival of the vertical lath to the center of the scale, while continuing flight, hold it in the center, without paying attention to the small circle of the course pointer. The position of the lath in the center of the scale indicates that the aircraft is located on the LZP, and deflection of the course pointer to the right or left shows the amount and sign of drift.

4. While continuing to hold the vertical lath in the certer of the scale, mark the average flight course of the aircraft and with the aid of the rack and pinion bring it to the triangular index.

5. Fly the aircraft by the course pointer, observing the behavior of the vertical lath. If the vertical lath exceeds the small black circle, by turning the aircraft again bring it to the center of the scale and refine the earlier taken flight course.

6. Perform further flying by the course pointer with continuous monitoring of the path in terms of range and direction.

Since during flight in arbitrary direction the range and azimuth continuously change, for range and azimuth monitoring of the path it is convenient to have preplanned reference points, the ranges and azimuths in which are already measured. In this case depending on the convenience in each concrete case it is possible to use two methods:

Allowed with 1.2 (Mr. 1994)

1. With agreement of the current azimuth with check, compare the current range with the check.

2. With conformity of the current range to check read the current azimuth and compare it with calculated.

Flight by SRP with the method of setting the coordinates of the reference point, as the "target" coordinates, on the BU SRF has a number of advantages with .andor. or intentional deviation from the LZP.

1. The linear lateral deviation is determined by rotating the know "Distance to target" until the vertical lath of the KPP arrives at the center of the scale. The difference of the read distance and the distance to the reference point, established earlier, will be the desired LBU. After determining the LBU for approach the necessary point on the BU SRP one should set the coordinates of this point and, by rotating the "ZPU" knob till the arrival of the vertical pointer of KPP at the center of the scale, from the "ZPU" selector compute the value of the true track angle for the further following of it to the selected point, while holding the lath on the scale zero.

2. If there is given the instruction to follow parallel to the LZP at a certain distance from it, it is sufficient to only increase or decrease by the assigned value the distance to the reference point exhibited on the setting mechanism of BU SRP and to continue flight in the usual order. This is especially

convenient for the purposes of lateral separation of aircraft following at one altitude.

3. If during tracking to the beacon (mode of operation "Azimuth to") there appeared the necessity or there was received the instruction to fly past the radio beacon at a prescribed distance from it (flight along rectangular route, etc.), on the BU SRP one should set the given true course angle, equal to the azimuth changed 180°, set on the ShchU during beacon tracking, on BU SRP - "Target angle", equal to exhibited ZPU ±90°, on BU SRP-"Distance to target", equal to the prescribed distance from the beacon. On the ShchU move the operating mode selector handle from the "Azimuth to" position to the "SRP" position and further follow in the usual order, using the null indicator and coordinates of the point set on the ShchU selectors, the signal about flight past which is necessary for accomplishing the maneuver.

Preflight Action with the use of the Azimuth and Range System

ł

-

Ľ

The azimuth and range system should be used in flight in the set with the other autonomous and nonautonomous systems and means of air navigation. Therefore its use does not exclude the usual established order of the preflight action. If for flight along the planned route the crew does not have available the tables with prepared data (Table 23), in order to more fully use the possibilities being given by the use of the system, the following additional operation should be completed for it:

(a) through the points of installation of all the ground beacons planned for use draw the true (reference) meridians;

b) in the zone of coverage of every beacon mark off the LZP in great sircle track angles relative to the reference meridian of this zone;

No. of section	fection of route	Ecacon and operating mode	stu (cfn), geste -	1 F	t, km (ortit)
1 2 2 4 3,4 5	Stupino-Venev Venev-Zadonsk Venev-Jadonsk Zndonsk-Voronezh Voronezh≃Petrovskoye Zadonsk-Petrovskoye Petrovskoe-Krasnovka	Vnukovo 3RP Vnukovo SRP Voronezh Azimutn to Voronezh Azimuth to Voronezh Azimuth from Voronezh SRP Voronezh SRP	167.5 167 - - 130 180.5	154 5 161.5 349 349 90 90 168	152 37. 75 - 72 330

and the second state of th

Table 23. Moscow - Sochi flight route.

Note. For the convenience of use of tables for every section they include only the data being established on the appropriate setting mechanisms of the main ShU or BU SRP for flying by the null indicator of XPP-M. Therefore the coordinates of all the other points on the LZF, signals of flight past which are desirable to obtain, should be recorded on the back of the table.

In the table by the same number there are given the sections arranged simultaneously in the coverage zones of two or more beacons. If in such a section there arises doubt of the reliability of operation of the utilized beacon, it is possible to easily change to the operation with another. In the tables can also be a section which has two numbers (for example section 3, 4). This means that the given section is the rectifying one for sections j and 4.

c) around all reference landmarks, PPM, etc. write the values of the azimuth and range relative to the beacon, in zone of which the given section of the route will lie;

d) divide the L2P into 50- or 100-kilometer check sections with the plotting of their polar coordinates at the marks in order to always have the capability of selecting any base for determining the ground speed.

It is recommended to make these additional writings and notes on the map for the adjoining working zones of two ground beacons with India ink of various colors.

FOREIGN ELECTRONIC SHORT-RANGE NAVIGATION SYSTEMS

General Knowledge

As the basic means of short-range navigation in the ICAO organization there are accepted VOR, VOR/DME, VORTAC and TACAN systems. These systems operate in the VHF range and provide determination of the azimuth, range or both these magnitudes simultaneously for aircraft relative to a ground omnidirectional beacon.

Below are given the data of aircraft radio equipment, which ensures the reception of signals of the VOR omnidirectional beacon. Usually these radio receivers provide not only the reception of signals of the VOR beacon, but also the signals of the course beacon of the ILS landing system.

Recently on foreign aircraft the DME range finders are being replaced by the range-finding units of TACAN equipment, since the range-finding part of the TACAN system gives high accuracy as compared with the DME system. In such an assembly the system obtained the name VORTAC. Furthermore, the TACAN system gives high accuracy in azimuth in comparison with the VOR beacon, and also in the TACAN system there is provided a transmission line of data from the aircraft to the ground and back. This system is gradually replacing the VORTAC system.

VOR¹ RADIO SYSTEM

The sircraft equipment VOR - ILS, SR-32 or SR-34/35 provides air navigation by VOR ground beacons and the execution of landing approach using the ILS system.

¹The chapter is written by V. A. Belyatskiy.

75

Best Available Copy

During operation in the "VOR" mode this equipment makes it possible to solve the following navigational problems:

determine the magnetic bearing of the ground VCR radio beacon¹;

execute flight along the ZMP of the ground radio beacon;

determine the aircraft position according by the magnetic bearings of two VOR radio beacons;

determine the drift angle in flight.

The range of the VOR system (beacons with power 200 W) is within limits, km:

when	Н	_ =	300	m	• • • • •	60-90
when	Н	×	1500	m		130-170
when	Н	H	6000	m	• • • • •	280-320
when	Н	2	9000	m		330-370

Maximum range - during flights over flat terrain and sea. The accuracy of determining the bearings of VOR radio beacons with the aid of airborne equipment is characterized, as a rule, by error $2-3^{\circ}$. During flights in mountain regions the errors can reach $5-6^{\circ}$.

During operation in the ILS modes the airborne equipment makes it possible to execute the landing approach by signals of the course and glide-path radio beacons of the ILC system with the aid of a course and glide-path indicator.

The range of the ILS system on the course channel at flight

¹The magnetic bearing of the beacon is always read from the meridian of the place of installation of the beacon.

altitude H = 600 m is not less than 45 km, on the glide puth channel at H = 400 m - not less than 18 km.

Equipment SR = 32 and SR = 34/35 operates at frequencies 108-117.9 MHz and has 100 channels, which are divided between the VOR and ILS systems in the following manner:

the odd frequencies in the range 108.1-111.9 MHz - for course beacons of the ILS system;

even frequencies in the range 108.0-112.0 MHz - for beacons of the VOR system;

all frequencies in the range 112.0-117.9 MHz - only for beacons of the VOR system.

At present the VOR beacon frequencies, as a rule, are established from frequency 112.0 MHz and higher. With setting of the frequency of the course beacon of the ILS system the airborne clide-path receiver of SR-32 and SR-34/35 equipment is simultaneously turned on.

Ground equipment of the VOR system - is a VHF - omnidirectional radio beacon.

There are two types of radio beacons:

1) VOR radio beacons with power 200 W (power input 7 kVA) to provide flights along airways;

2) .ndio beacons of reduced power - 50 W (power input 5 kVA), designed for installation at airports.

The omnidirectional VOR beacon emits a signal, which consists of carrier (in the range from 108 to 118 MHz) frequency, modulated by two low-frequency signals (30 Hz). The phase difference of modulating frequencies, measured at any point of the operating zone of the radio beacon, is proportional to the aircraft azimuth relative to the given (reference) direction. Usually as reference direction we take the direction to north; along this direction both modulating frequencies are in phase.

Citrin Markada Articitation

Contraction of the second of the second s

During aircraft motion clockwise relative to the point of installation of the beacon the phase of one of the modulating frequencies changes, whereas the phase of another, which is reference, remains unchanged. This is attained by separate emission of carrier and side frequencies, whereupon the signals of side frequencies of the reference phase create a nondirectional pattern in horizontal plane, and the signals of side frequencies of variable phase in horizontal plane create a directed diagram in the figure-eight form.

All radio beacons of the VOR system operate automatically and are remote controlled.

At present VOR beacons with high-altitude markers are installed, which, because of signaling, transmitted aboard the aircraft, make it possible to more accurately a termine the moment of flight over the beacon. In order to distinguish one radio beacon from another, each of them are given its own call signals, which are two or three letters of the Latin alphabet, transmitted by telegraphic code. The listening of these signals aboard the aircraft is conducted through the SPU.

The ground equipment of the ILS system consists of the course and glide-path radio beacons and three radio marker beacons: outer, middle and inner (at present the inner marker is not installed at all airports). In some airports for the formation of a maneuver during landing approach on the outer marker point or outside it (in the alignment of the axis of the course zone of the ILS system) a homing station is installed. There are two versions of the placement of ground equipment:

 radio-range beacon is arranged on the axis of the runway;

2) When the radio-range beacon is arranged to the left or right of the axis of the runway so that the axis of the course zone passes through the middle or inner marker point at $2-8^{\circ}$ angle to the continuation of the runway axis. At any airport, the outer marker point of the TLS system is installed at a distance of 7400 m, the middle marker point - 4000 m, and inner - 1050 m from the beginning of the runway.

The control units and indicating instruments of SR-32 cavinment. For adjustment of the equipment and the taking of readings In flight the crew uses the following instruments:

control panel of SR-32 (Fig. 65);

Indicator-setting mechanism of the radio beacon bearing (SR-32) (FL . to);

two course and glide-path indicators (null indicators) (Fig. 67).



というというというというというできると

Fig. 65. in Control pract of aircraft algorithms SU-3: electronic equipment.



Fig. 66. The indicator-setting mechanism of the radic beacon tearing (SR-32).



Fig. 67. Course and glide-path indicator (null indicator):) - ecurse pointer; 2 - glide-path pointer.

Note. On some Tu-104 aircraft due to the operation of glidepath receivers SR-32 and GRP-2 from one antenna there has been provided an antenna relay switch with the label "SP-50 - ILS."

The control panel of SR-32 equipment and the bearing indicatorsetting mechanism are located at the navigator's working position. The control panel has two handles for setting the value of VOR or ILS frequencies. When setting the appropriate frequency on the pilot's instrument panel one of the signal lamps with the designation "VOR" or "ILS" lights up. The course and glide-path indicators are located on the instrument panels of the aircraft commander and the right pilot. On some aircraft they ensure aircraft handling not only by the signals of VOR and IfS beacens, but also make it possible to land by the SP-50 system.

The set of VOR - ILS, SR-34/35 airborne equipment. The VOR - ILS, SR-34/35 airborne equipment installed at present has the following control units and indicators:

SR-34/35 control panel (Fig. 68);

azimuth selector (Fig. 69);

radiomagnetic indicator (Fig. 70);

two course and glide-path indicators (null indicators) (see Fig. 67).





Fig. 68. Control panel of SR-34/35.

Fig. 69. Azimuth selector.

Control panel of VOR-ILS equipment, as in the SR-32 equipment has two handles for the setting the fixed "VOR" or "ILS" frequencies.

<u>The azimuth selector instrument</u> serves for setting reading the values of the given magnetic bearing of the beacon (or ZMPU), and the pointer "TO - FROM" indicates the position of the aircraft relative to the beacon:

position "TO" - flight to the VOR beacon;

position "FROM" - flight from the VOR beacon.

For flight along the specified track on the azimuth selector there is manually set the value of the ZMPU and if the vertical pointer of the course and glide-path indicator is held in the center, it is possible to consider that the aircraft is on the specified track. Flight past the beacon is noted by the pointer "TO-FROM". The readings of this pointer depend only upon the setting of the value of the ZMPU and the position of the aircraft relative to the beacon and do not depend upon the magnetic course of the aircraft. With switching of the value of the ZMPU the readings of the vertical pointer of the course and glide-path indicator are changed to the opposite.

<u>Radiomagnetic Indicator (RMI)</u> indicates the values of MPR relative to the place of installation of the beacon (from 0 to 360°). Simultaneously on this instrument it is possible to read the magnetic course of the aircraft and the VOR radio beacon heading. The magnetic course of the aircraft is read on movable scale relative to a fixed index. This combined instrument is convenient for flying, since the pointer, indicating the MPR relative to the movable scale, simultaneously shows the radio beacon heading on the fixed scale (see Fig. 70). On the EMI are two combined pointers, which show the values of the MPE from two of VOR equipment on the aircraft.



Fig. 70. Radiomagnetic indicator (RMI): 1 - Magnitic course indicator; 2 - indicating pointer of the radio beacon heading and the magnetic bearing of the radio beacon; 3 - pointer, which indicates magnetic bearings and headings, working from the second set of SR-34/35 equipment.

When setting up the two sets of VOR-ILS, SR-34/35 airborne equipment there are installed two control panels, two azimuth selectors, two radiomagnetic indicators, two course and rlidepath indicators (for the first and second pilot respectively).

The use of VOR-ILS Equipment in Flight

Ground preparation. For the use of VOR-ILS equipment in flight it is necessary to know the precise coordinates, frequencies and call signs of ground radio beacons, their location relative to the assigned track (individual sections of the route). For making it easier to determine and plot bearings on the map we place the azimuth circles with center at the place of installation of the radio beacon with scale value 5° . The scale zero of these circles is matched with the northern direction of the magnetic meridian of the radio beacon. At the circle there should be labels (Fig. 71) with indication of the name of the point, place of location of the radio beacon, frequency of its operation and call sign (with letters of telegraphic code).



Fig. 71. Map symbol of VOR beacon (azimuth circle), applied on the map.

For determining in flight the magnetic bearing of the VOR radio beacon relative to the aircraft position (Fig. 72) it is necessary to complete the following operation:

turn on the VOR-ILS equipment and wait 2-3 min, until it is warmed up thoroughly;

set the radio beacon frequency on the control panel;

listen to the call sign of the radio beacon;

by rotating the rack and pinion on the bearing indicator setting mechanism SR-32, match the double pointer with the single, with this the single pointer should be located between the components of the double pointer and be parallel to them:

check whether the course pointer of the course and glidepath indicator is located in the center of the dial face and if necessary set it in the center of the small black circle, by rotating the rack and pinion on the bearing indicator-setting rechanism;

take the reading of the magnetic bearl. of the radio beacon in the window of the counter of the bearing indicator-setting mechanism and lay the line of the taken MPF in the map.



Fig. 72. The position of the pointers of SR-32 indicate when taking a reading of the radic seacon bearing.

Ener using the SR-34/35 equipment the magnetic bearing is read to the RMI or, by cranking the setting of the ZMPU on the azimuth selector, the settings of the vertical pointer on zero are attained on the course and glide-path indicator; then in the window of the azimuth selector it is possible to read the MPR if the "TO-FROM" pointer is in the "TO" position.

<u>Note</u>. In flight using the VOR system it is necessary to remember that the bearing to the radio beacon does not depend upon the aircraft course. This distinguishes the VOR system from the "radio compass - homing station" system, during the operation with which the bearing is obtained as the sum of the course and angle of approach of the radio station. Flight to VCR radio beacon along à given magnetic bearing. After takeoff the crew must:

turn on the equipment, set the radio beacon frequency on the control panel and listen to its call sign;

set the value of given MPR on the bearing indicator-setting mechanism (SR-32) or on the azimuth selector instrument (SR $3^{4}/35$);

if take off was n t performed in the direction to the radio beacon, then execute the maneuver for approach to the line of the given magnetic bearing of the radio beacon.

With the approach of the aircraft to the line of MPR the single pointer of the bearing indicator-setting mechanism will approach the double pointer (when using SR-32 equipment).

For precise approach to the line of the given MPR the crew should turn the aircraft at an advance point of the turn. When the aircraft will fly strictly along the line of the given MPR, the course pointer of the course and glide-path indicator will be located in the center of the instrument, and the single pointer will be set between the double pointer and will be parallel to it (when using airborne equipment SR-32).

Determining the moment of flight over the VOR radio beacon. During approach of the aircraft to the VOR radio beacon periodic falling of the blinker is noted. The course pointer of the course and glide-path indicator becomes more sensitive even with insignificant deviations of the aircraft from the specified track. The single pointer of the bearing indicator-setting mechanism also fluctuates from ± 5 to $\pm 10^{\circ}$ to both sides.

When after flight over the beacon there is provided for following a route with the same course, 15-20 km from to monocit

of fillent pust the radio beacon it is advantageous to maintain under the by the course pointer of the course and glide-path indicated, but by the GFK (course system in the GPK mode).

The moment of flight over the beacon is noted by the rotation of the pointer, which indicates the MPR, to 180°. This rotation supending on the altitude and flight speed of the airoract in accomplished in 2-3 s.

all ment from the VOR radio beacon. For accomplishing the all ment flight in the given direction from the radio beacon leaf percentagory to:

plus the specified track on the map;

Best Available Copy

Let the most he value of the magnetic bearing of the section because one of the characteristic reference points, plasses does the brack within limits of the range of the radio beausery

and light to the obtained value of the MPR;

after takeoff turn on the VOR equipment, set the radio benees frequency and listen to its call sign;

Set the value of angle MPR + 180° on the indicator of the benefity setting mechanism (SR-32) or on the azimuth selector instrument (SR-34/35).

Depending on the takeoff direction with respect to the heading from the beacon perform the maneuver for approach- to the line of the given MPR (the track), which is noted by the arrival of the vertical pointer of the course and glide-path indicator to the vertical position. Perform flight along the specified track by the course and glide-path indicator, monitoring the value of the ZMPU by the readings of the single pointer of the indicator of the bearing setting mechanism (SR-32) or by the RMI (SR-34/35).

An example of flight to the beacon and from the beacon with SR-34/35 equipment is given on Fig. 73.



Fig. 73. Flights with SR-34/35 relative to VOR beacon.

Determining the aircraft position by the magnetic bearings of two VOR radio beacons is done with the greatest accuracy when flight is fulfilled "From" or "To" the beacon, and the second radio beacon is located abeam the right and left side of the aircraft. In this case the bearings of two radio beacons comprise an angle close to 90°.

For determining the aircraft position it is necessary to:

take the exact reading of the bearing of the radio beacon, which is lined up with the line of the given track, and plot it on the map; The second the course by the GPK, tune to the beacon located the second second

descripts themping line from the side radio beacon; the point of Intersection of two bearings will be the aircraft position, if up or not consider the movement of the aircraft for the finance of bearing, on the sup.

The distance between the marks between the marks of the distance of VOR radio beacons, the distance of the ground speed.

cet raising the defit angle contag flight along the line of
cet raising the defit angle contag flight along the line of
cet raising the defit angle contag flight or "From" lt) is done
cet raising the defit angle contag flight along the line of
cet raising the defit angle contag flight along the line of
cet raising the defit angle contag flight along the line of
cet raising the defit angle contag flight along the line of
cet raising the defit angle contag flight along the line of
cet raising the defit angle contag flight along the line of
cet raising the defit angle contag flight along the line of
cet raising the defit angle contag flight along the line of
cet raising the defit angle contag flight along the line of
cet raising the defit angle contag flight along the line of
cet raising the defit angle contag flight along the line of
cet raising the defit angle contag flight along the line of
cet raising the defit angle contag flight along the line of
cet raising the defit angle contag flight along the line of
cet raising the defit angle contag flight along the line of
cet raising the defit angle contag flight along the line of
cet raising the line of
cet raisi

and the second second

(a) Million Million Million Million Million

Strate data to the advance

195 # 2000 + (Mesure) - MK.

Average to a set the Matthe Ferrer Lynn 100°, during the calculastimule of the probabilities a submatthe from the sum of MPR + 180°.

Exceedees of the maneuver for entry into the zone of the radio-range beacon of the LLS system. With the aid of the VOR-ILS equiptent if it possible to execute the maneuver of aircraft descent, which the signals of the VOR radio beacon located at the airport, and perform entry into the zone of the radio-range beacon of the VOR system by the following methods:

88

with straight line;

Best Available Copy

along a large rectangular route;

by the method of normal blind turn or turning to the calculated angle.

The simplest maneuver of descent and entry into the zone of the radio-range beacon of the ILS system is executed when the VOR radio beacon is lined up with the line of landing.

In the case of straight-in approach with descent on the approach course to the airport the crew flies the aircraft using the signals of the VOR radio beacon by the course pointer of course and glide-path indicator until entry into the zone of coverage of the radio-range beacon of the ILS system.

During landing approach on the control panel instead of the VOR radio beacon frequency there is set the frequency of the ILS radio-range beacon. The entry into the zone of the ILS beacon is monitored by the lighting of the signal lamp with the label "ILS" and by operation of the blinker.

During landing approach along a large rectangular route by readings of the instruments of the VOR-ILS equipment the crew determines the moments of turns and entry into the zone of the ILS radio-range beacon. For this in the descent and landing approach procedure the values of the MPR of the reference points are calculated in advance. With agreement of the calculated and actual values of the MPR, taken from the bearing indicator, the moment of flight over these reference points is noted.

TACAN ELECTRONIC SYSTEM

Land Hand Conta a Start

The operation of the TACAN system is different from the VOR system. The azimuth is determined by the TACAN system by means of radiation of a nondirectional signal and a rotating directed signal, the phase difference of which is proportional to the azimuth relative to the direction toward north. The carrier part of the TACAN system lies in the frequency range of order 1000 Hz. A rotating directed signal with variable phase is obtained by means of the mechanical rotation of the elements of the antenna. Furthermore, cardioid with variable phase, rotating with frequency 15 Hz, is modulated additionally by a signal with frequency 135 Hz, whose phase is also compared with the signal of standard phase.

The result of this comparison makes it possible to obtain a ninefold increase in the azimuth measurement accuracy.

The TACAN system consists of AN/URN-3 ground equipment and AN/ARN-21 aircraft device, allows continuously and automatically determining the aircraft polar coordinates (azimuth and range) aboard the aircraft. The polar coordinates of the location of the aircraft are determined aboard it with high accuracy, which makes it possible to use them for introduction into special computers and the solution of various navigational problems, such as, for example, the flight of aircraft along any rectilinear routes, along orbits, etc.

The range of action depends upon the flight altitude of the aircraft and lies within the direct geometric visibility.

The "dead" funnel with respect to the azimuth has a magnitude on the order of 95-100°.

and a second second

The influence of terrain features on the accuracy of the system is considerably reduced as compared with the VOR beacon because of the use of decimeter wave band, pulsed operating condutions, and also a special nine-lobe radiation pattern of the antenna in horizontal plane. The ranging of the aircraft from TACAN ground installation proceeds in the usual way, by the "interrogation-response" principle, based on timing the propagation of the pulse radiated by the aircraft interrogator, and by its return back to the aircraft receiver from the ground installation of AN/URN-3 equipment. a 1965 a se la seconda de s

and solution and the state of the state of the solution of the second

Desire With the State of the

Two maintsion of azimuth information to the aircraft is accord the pecause of the presence of a special antenna in the ground installation, creating a radiation pattern in horizontal plane in the form of a cardioid, rotating with constant frequency 15 Hz. As a result of the rotation of this cardioid the pulses radiated by the ground device on the aircraft undergo space amplitude modulation with frequency 15 Hz, whereupon the phase of this modulating frequency, which is the envelope of the received signals, will be proportional to the aircraft azimuth.

By measuring with the aid of the aircraft device the phases of modulating frequency 15 Hz with respect to the phase of the reference signal, we obtain data about the aircraft azimuth. As reference signals there are used pulses radiated by the ground device at the moment when the maximum of the radiation pattern (cardioids) of its antenna system passes through north, in connection with which the reference signals are frequently called "northern" reference signals.
The method of measurement of the azimuth, expounded above, is used only in the so-called coarse channel of the azimuth. For the achievement of higher measurement accuracy of the azimuth on the order of 1° the cardioid directional characteristic of the ground beacon antenna with the aid or additional modulation with frequency 135 Hz is converted into a nine-lobe carioid, which ensures the obtaining of a second precise channel of measurement of the azimuth.

VORTAC ELECTRONIC SYSTEM

The name VORTAC is formed by the unification of the two names VOR (VHF omnidirectional radio beacon) and TACAN (tactical air navigation). The indicated combination provides azimuth determination according to VOR beacons on VHF and using the TACAN system on UHF.

The range is determined by the TACAN system on UHF.

DME AIRBORNE EQUIPMENT

The airborne DME equipment, designed for ranging from the aircraft to the ground radio beacon (in miles), during flight to the beacon and from it makes it possible to directly determine the ground speed of the aircraft (in knots), and during operation together with VOR, VORTAC and TACAN radio beacons provides the determination of the aircraft position.

The operating principle of the system (Fig. 74) is based on measurement of the time interval between the moments of sending the interrogation pulse from the aircraft and of obtaining the response pulse from the ground radio beacon. This time is directly proportional to the distance from the aircraft to the radio beacon.



Party of the second second second

Fig. 74. Operating principle of the DME system. KEY: (1) Measurement circuit; (2) Range indicator; (3) Receiver; (4) Transmitter; (5) Aircraft interrogator; (6) Ground radio beacon

Basic performance data of the syst-m The operating range of 196 nautical miles the syster Number of Mannels..... 100 Measurement accuracy..... 0.2 nautical miles, or 0.4% of the range Receiver sensitivity, dB..... 90 (minimum) The frequency range of the transmitter, MHz..... 1042-1150 The frequency range of the 987-1213 receiver, MHz..... Time of channel selection..... not more than 3 Memory time..... range readings are retained 8-12 s after loss of the signal Standby mode..... equipment automatically goes to standby mode with drop of power of the radio beacon signals Self-checking mode..... functional test. When pressing the knob on the front panel of the interrogator equipment the range, equal to 196.1 nautical miles should work Synchronization and tracking... the equipment follows changes in range at speeds up to 800 knots

Identification signals	with frequency 1350 Hz are fed to the telephone outlet with volume control on the control unit
Blanking	on the front panel of the interrogator there is a jack, through which goes the supply of "To" and "From" blanking pulses of the dis- patcher's interrogator- responder
Range resolution	<u>+</u> 0.1 nautical mile

The airborne equipment includes:

the interrogator, which includes the transmitter, receiver and range measuring circuit. On the front panel of the interrogator there is a knob for functional checking of the equipment;

the transceiving antenna, which is placed, as a rule, on the bottom of the aircraft fuselage;

the control unit is designed for turning on the equipment, setting of frequency, which corresponds to the channel number, operating mode switch and volume control of the call sign of the beacon.

On the panel of the unit (Fig. 75) are arranged:

digital counter 1 with the label 'FMI,"* intended for setting the frequency, corresponding to the crashel number, on which the selected beacon operates;

^{*[}Translator's note: Original document has both DME and DMI, but believe they are referring to the same thing].

three coaxial knobs (small 3, medium 4 and 1 rge 5), designed for turning on the equipment and volume control of the call signals

of ground beacons. Small knob 3 with the label "VOR" serves for turning on the equipment and for volume control of the call signals. Medium 4 and large 5 knobs are intended for setting the frequency on the digital counter 1;



and the second second

the function selector 6, which has two positions: "STBY" - standby and "DMI" ranging.

Fig. 75. Control unit of the airborne equipment of DME.

With setting of the switch in the "STBY" position the equipment is turned on and r_ady for operation, but the mechanism for the range indicator does not rotate and the red flag covers the numerals of the three-digit counter (Fig. 76).

With setting of the switch in the "DME" position the equipment goes into the operating state, the red flag of the digit



Fig. 76. Range and groundspeed indicator.

counter is moved away and in the openings of the counter the current range to the beacon in nautical miles is read.

Range and ground-speed indicator. On the face of the indicator (see Fig. 76) are arranged:

knob 1 for setting on scale 2 the distance to the beacon or to any selected reference point when determining the remaining flight time to this point (or beacon);

scale 2 for reading the range, set by knob 1; the scale is enumerated in nautical miles; scale value - 10 nautical miles;

three-digit counter 3, which shows the current value of range to the ground beacon in nautical miles; scale graduation -0.2 nautical miles; with the equipment turned off or in search the counter is covered by a red flag;

inner fixed scale 4, serving for reading the ground speed, measured relative to the ground beacon within limits of from 80 to 600 knots (from 148 to 1112 km/h); scale graduation - 10 knots; reading - opposite the pointer tip;

outer slide scale 5 for reading the remaining flight time to the ground beacon or to any selected reference point; it is also read opposite the pointer tip of the ground-speed indicator; range of read off time from 6 to 20 min - in 1 min, from 20 to 100 min in 5 min.

On the same panel, on which the control unit and indicator are located, there is placed a switch (Fig. 77), which has two positions: "ARK, SVOD, VOR" (1) 478 It is designated for and "DME." (?)(4) CE03 (3) 10.0 commutation of the telephone out-Switch of call signals. lets to the SPU when listening Fig. 77. (1) ARK; (2) SVOD; (3) KEY: to the call signals of beacons. VOR; (4) DME.

Preparation of the Equipment for Operation

Contracting the second of the second s

1. On the AZS panel place the switch with the label "DME" in the "On" position.

2. Turn clockwise the small knob 3 (see Fig. 75) on the control unit and after the click place it in the intermediate position.

3. On the control unit by knobs 4 and 5 set the frequency which corresponds to the number of the channel of the beacon, in the working zone of which the aircraft is located.

4. Place switch 6 on the control unit in the "DME" position.

In 1-2 min the equipment goes to search. With this the drums of the digital indicator begin to whirl rapidly, but the red flag of the failure indicator signal covers the apertures of the indicator. With adjustment of the precise value of range on the indicator the equipment goes into the tracking mode and the flag of the failure indicator signal covers the numerals, which slowly pass in the apertures as the range changes. The duration of the search cycle is about 5 s.

The equipment does not leave the tracking mode during brief disappearances of response signals, but goes into the "memory," mode lasting about 10 s, retaining during this the last value of range. If after 10 s the signal is not located, the flag of the failure signaling covers the numerals of the counter and the equipment goes to search. In this case, if there is a useful signal, the digital drums under the flag whirl rapidly. With the absence of useful signal the numerals of the range indicator under the flag remain stationary and the equipment automatically goes to standby mode.

5. In order to check the correctness of selection of the ground beacon by listening to its call signals, it is necessary to:

place the call signal switch (see Fig. 77) in the "DME" position;

place the switch on the subscriber's SPU set in the extreme left position "ARK, SVOD."

After this in the telephones the call signals of the beacon, transmitted by international code with interval of approximately 30 s should be heard. After hearing the call signals of the beacon the switch of the call signals must be placed in the "ARK, SVOD, VOR" position.

With the appearance of doubt of the reliability of operation of the system it is necessary to check its efficiency by pressing the built-in monitoring knob on the front panel of the interrogator. With the equipment operable on the indicator will be worked out the range, equal to 196.1 nautical miles.

The equipment is shut off by counterclockwise rotation of the small knob with label "VOR" to the click on the control unit and by switching the AZS of the "DME" on the pilot's AZS panel to the "Off" position.

Working with the DME Equipment in Flight

San a Mile Scheren at Sector and a shire and

In connection with the installation of KURS-MP-1 equipment on civil aviation aircraft, working with the VOR azimuth beacon, the use of the DME system should be considered in conjunction with the equipment indicated above.

For working with VOR-DME and VORTAC azimuth and range systems, and also with the TACAN system, which ensures only the delivery of the azimuth to obtain the MS, it is necessary on the control units of the DME system and KUPS-MP-1 equipment to set the frequency (channel) of operation of these beacons. In this case to the radiomagnetic indicator (RMI) the KURS-MP-1 will send the magnetic radio bearing to the beacon, and to the DME range indicator - the slant range to it.

When the aircraft is at a great distance from the beacon, the difference between the slant and ground range is very small, but as the aircraft approaches the beacon this difference increases. When the aircraft is located above the beacon, the ground range will be equal to zero, and slant - to the flight altitude shown in nautical mieles. Since the ground speed is determined by measurement of the slant, and not ground range, the error in determining the ground speed is proportional to the error in determining the ground range.

In the set with the azimuth systems the DME equipment provides, the solution of the following problems:

determining the aircraft position;

determining the ground speed and remaining flight time to the radio beacon or to any selected reference point;

approach to given point for descent;

flight in the holding area;

orbital flight;

bypass of dangerous zones.

Determining the aircraft position. For determining the aircraft position from the radiomagnetic indicator (RMI) of KURS-MP-1 equipment it is necessary to take magnetic bearings of aircraft (MPS) from the ground beacon, read on the inner dial face opposite the blunt pointer tip. Having introduced correction to the MPS, equal to the magnetic declination of the point of location of the ground beacon, determine the true bearing of the aircraft (IPS), which is read from the northern direction of the true meridian, passing through the point of installation of the beacon.

The intersection of the plotted line of the true bearing and the circumference, equal to slant range S, gives us the MS (Fig. 78).

In order to decrease the errors in determining the MS by the VOR-DME, VORTAK or TACAN system, by the last reading from two



Determining the MS

Fig. 78.

by the VOR-DME.

and the second state of the second second

magnitudes (range or MPS) one should take the one which for the same time unit undergoes a large change.

In view of the number of errors permissible by RMI in the readings of the bearing, in determining the MS by this method considerable errors are also possible. Therefore for the most precise taking of the reading of magnetic bearing of the aircraft one should

use the azimuth selector of KURS-MP-1. This is executed in the following order: with the aid of a handle and flag, located on the azimuth selector of the KURS-MP-1, we set the value of the MPS, taken from the RMI. While continuing to rotate the knob on the selector, we set the vertical (course) lath of the null instrument in the center of the cross-hairs and on the azimuth selector we read the precise value of the magnetic bearing of the aircraft (MPS).

Determining the ground speed and the remaining flight time to the radio beacon or any selected reference point. During flight to the beacon and from it the ground speed is calculated automatically in the DME equipment and is indicated by a pointer on the range indicator on scale 4 (see Fig. 76) in nautical miles per hour (in knots). For determining the remaining flight time to the beacon it is necessary on scale 2 by knob 1

to set the distance, equal to the shant range to the beacon, taken from digital counter 3. Opposite the ground speed pointer on the outer scale 5 of the range indicator take the reading of the remaining flight time to the beacon.

On scale 2 it is possible to set the distance to any reference point, arbanged on the route or abeam it, and with respect to these distances and there is read the time remaining to flight past the reference point.

Apponach to a given point for the beginning of descent, entry into prelanding maneuver or for some other purpose is ensured by the repeated determining of MS, by correction of the direction and flight conditions according to the obtained data.

Flight in the holding area is applied in very rare cases mainly because of the overloading of the airfield zone by other aircraft. Usually this is a maneuver in the corridor of the air route, leading to the landing airfield. The dimensions of the maneuver are assigned by the minimum permitted range of airport approach and by the maximum permitted distance from it (taking into account the magnitude of turning radii).

Most often this maneuver is executed either directly above the VOR (or OPRS) beacon, or in its immediate vicinity (Fig. 79).

In this case flight along the first straight line until the turn is executed to the beacon or from it according to the null instrument. The radio bearing of the beacon in this case is set on the azimuth selector of the KURS-MP-1. The range reading at the assigned distance from the



Fig. 79. Flight in the holding area.

beacon is performed by the DME range indicator. After turning 180° the aircraft follows the MPU, opposite that which it held on the first straight line, taking into account the wind, specified earlier.

In the case when the holding area is moved away from the VOR beacon to a considerable distance, flights along both straight lines can be performed by the null instrument in the modes to the beacon and from it, since with this the nonparallelism of both straight lines will be low enough to disregard it. Thus, at a distance of 57 km the IPU on both straight lines will differ by only $1^{\circ} + 180^{\circ}$.

Orbital flights around the beacon are used for dispersal of the aircraft in the airfield zone, when awaiting instructions about the accomplishing of the landing approach maneuver. In this case the aircraft follows the beacon along the established corridor of the air zone and with approach to the beacon at a distance equal to the assigned orbit taking into account the LUR executes a turn and enters the orbit. Further, while maintaining the assigned distance to the beacon by the range indicator of the DME the aircraft performs orbital flight. Usually from considerations of safety each aircraft is assigned its own orbit (Fig. 80).

Bypass of dangerous zones. For bypass of zones of thunderstorm activity and other dangerous meteorological phenomena it is necessary to know their location relative to the route, the direction of their movement and to determine the boundary of safe flight.

Bypass is performed along an orbit, while monitoring the distance by the range indicator (in flight to the beacon). During orbital flight on the azimuth selector of the KURS-MP-1 equipment the navigator sets the magnetic radio bearing of the

beacon, which one should fly along after bypass of the dangerous zone. After scaling of the course pointer by the null instrument one should perform a turn with approach to the assigned bearing.



Fig. 80. Orbital flight. KEY: (a) Miles.

VRM-5 AND "CONSOL" SYSTEMS¹

In the countries of the northern part of the Atlantic Ocean, on the shore of the Barents Sea sector beacons of the "Consol" and VRM-5 (USSR) system have been installed and continuously operate. For the reception of signals of VRM-5 and "Consol" radio beacons the installation of additional equipment on the aircraft is not necessary. The signals of the radio beacons can be received with the aid of a medium-wave receiver or radio compass. The signals of radio beacons can be used in flight only with the presence of special airborne maps with proplotted lines of bearings from the place of installation of the radio beacon.

The service range of the radio beacons, which operate on medium waves (200-400 kHz), depends upon the power of the ground radio beacon, the receiver sensitivity and the time of day. Antenna output of the operating radio beacons is from 1.5 to 5 kW, which makes it possible to pick up signals in the daytime with a receiver of medium sensitivity at a distance up to 1500 km.

¹Chapter is written by V. A. Belyatskiy

At hight the range of radio beacons is increased because of the effect of reflection of the radio waves from the upper layers of the atmosphere, in this case the maximum range of signal reception reaches 2500 km. In these cases the accuracy of direction finding is lowered (Table 24).

Time óf day	Path of radio waves	Range, km	Mean error, deg
Day	Straight line	500 1500	Less than 0.5 1
Twilight	Straight line	70	Lèss than 0.5
	" and reflected	600	From 3 to 5
	Reflected	2500	From 0.5 to 3
Night	Straight line	100	Less than 0.5
	" and reflected	600	From 3 to 5
	Reflected	2500	From 0.5 to 3

Table 24. The range of radio beacons at different time of day.

のないないないないないというないないないないないないないないないであったい

The beacons emit unmodulated signals in the form of a certain combination of dots and dashes. For reading the true bearing of the aircraft it is necessary during the direction-finding cycle (1 min) to compute the quantity of dots and dashes heard in the certain sector, and by the quantity of these signals on a map find the line of position of the aircraft. The radiation pattern of VRM-5 and "Consol" system radio beacons is given in Fig. 81.

The cycle of operation of VRM-5 radio beacon

Identification signal of beacon (two letters), s	8
Pause, s	2
Nondirectional radiation ("long" dash), s	10

The cycle of opeation of VF (Cont'd.).	M-5 radio beacon
Pause, s	
Direction-finding mode, s	
Pause, s	
 Tc	

AND A STATE AND A STATE OF A STATE AND A STATE AND A STATE AND

s de la subal manifesta de sources de la subal de la de la desta de la desta de la desta de la subal de la subal de la desta de la desta



Fig. 81. Radiation pattern of radio beacons of the VRM-5 and the "Consol" system.

In radio beacons of the "Consol" system there is established a similar or reduced cycle of operation for 40 s. In the latter case nondirectional radiation is absent and the pauses are somewhat decreased. The direction-finding mode in all beacons is established at 30 s. The beacons of the "Consol" system are identified by two or three letters of the Latin alphanet. During operation of the beacon in the nondirectional radiation mode ("long" dash) it is possible to measure the KUP by an ordinary aircraft radio compass.

Determination of the bearing of the radio beacon is performed in the following manner.

1. On special radio navigation charts we mark those beacons which are heard during flight only in the sectors of reliable bearings.

2. We tune the receiver, identify the call signals of the radio beacon and the initial signals of the direction-finding mode (dots or dashes, radiated up to the equisignal zone).

3. By dead-reckoning position or approximate radio bearing of the IPS we determine the sector, within which the aircraft is located at a given period of time (permissible error of determining the bearing is $\pm 10^{\circ}$).

4. We check that the initial signals of the directionfinding mode (dots or dashes, heard up to the equisignal zone) correspond to the signals designating the identified sector on the map.

5. During the direction-finding mode we listen to the quantity of dots or dashes of the equisignal zone (i.e., till the moment of disappearance of signals) and after the equisignal zone. The total amount of dots and dashes in every operating cycle should be equal to 60. 6. At the moment of hearing the equisignal zone we record the time of direction finding.

7. With the loss of a certain quantity of signs in the cycle both to the computed quantity of dots and to the computed quantity of dashes we separately add the half-sum of the quantity of lost signals.

Example. Before hearing the equisignal zone there are counted 18 dashes, and after the equisignal zone - 36 dots.

The total amount of received signals 18 + 36 = 54.

The half-sum of the lost signals $\frac{60 - 54}{2} = 3$.

The corrected quantity of dashes will be 18 + 3 = 21.

The corrected quantity of dots will be 36 + 3 = 39.

The total corrected signals 21 + 39 = 60.

ation since and south and and an

and the second of the second second

8. The radio bearing is plotted on the map with respect to the quan⁺ity of corrected signals (dots or dashes), heard up to the equisignal zone, by means of linear interpolation between the multiple lines of radio bearings depicted on the map. For the given example the lines of the bearing correspond to 21 dashes and it should be drawn in the sector of dashes between lines 20 and 25 (Fig. 82).

The aircraft bearing can be determined by the measurement of the individual periods of the direction-finding mode of the radio beacon by a stop watch. If we designate n_1 - number of signals to the equisignal zone, and n_2 - number of signals after the equisignal zone, then

n1 - 211 + Tp: N2 = 212 + Tp.

where τ_1 - the listening time of the radio beacon signals to the equisignal zone, during which n_1 signals are emitted (dots or dashes);

 $\boldsymbol{\tau}_n$ - the listening time of the equisignal zone;

 τ_2 - the listening time of the signal zone, during which n_2 signals are emitted (dots and dashes),

whereupon

 $\tau_1 + \tau_p + \tau_1 = 30$ s; $n_1 \div n_2 = 60$ signals.



Fig. 82. Determining the aircraft position.

Using this method, it is possible to determine the aircraft bearing without listening to the entire direction-finding mode, since the quantity of lost signals is determined with the time of listening to the equisignal zone.

The order of measurements is the following:

1) at the moment of the beginning of the direction finding mode activate the stop watch;

2) at the moment of signal fading note the time in seconds;

3) at the moment of the beginning of hearing the other signals stop the stop watch;

4) by the conducted readings of time find τ_1 and τ_p and from them - the quantity of signals of the radio beacon to the equisignal zone \vec{n}_1 .

No.	Radio beacon	Place of installation	Coordinates		ncy, sign	of ion,	Air route, on which signals are heard	
			longitude	latitude	Freque kHz	Call	Cycle (gperat	in the daytime
1	Kanin	P-ov Kanin ((USSR)	-	-	253	KN	60	,Murmansk - Petrozavodsk. Vologda - Arkhangel'sk - Nar'yan - Mar
2	Rybachiy	P-ov Rybachiý (USSR)		-	363	RB	60	Barent Sea
3	Stavanger	Stavanger (Norway)	05 ⁰ 38' E. Long.	58 ⁰ 38' S. Lat.	319	LEC	66	Copenhagen- Iondon North sea
4	Eushmills	Bushmills (N. Ireland)	06 ⁰ 23' W. Long.	55°12' S. Lat.	266	MWN	40	Amsterdam - London - Reykjavik
5	Ploneis	Ploneis (France)	14 ⁰ 14' W. Long.	48 ⁰ 01' S. Lat.	257	TRQ	40	London - Paris - Brussels
6	Lugo	Lugo (Spain)	07 ⁰ 231 W. Long.	430141 S. Lat.	285	LG	-	-
7	Seville	Seville (Spain)	06 ⁰ 02' W. Long.	37°31' S. Lat.	315	SL	-	-
8	Nantucket*	South of Boston (USA)	70 ⁰ 091 W. Long.	41 ⁰ 16' S. Lat.	194	TUK	-	New York - Greenland
9	Atlantic City*	Atlantic city (USA)	740461 W. Iong.	390071 S. Lat.	516	ALY	_ ³	New York - Greenland

Table 25. Data of VRM-5 and "Consol" radio beacons.

* Station of the "Consol" system.

9 men and a second s

Example. The listening time of the dots of the beacon $\tau = 12$ s. The listening time of the equisignal zone, i.e., the

time from the moment of disappearance of dots to the moment of beginning of hearing the dashes, $\tau_{\perp} = 4$ s.

The corrected quantity of dots will be equal to

A: = 12X2+4=20 dots.

By this magnitude in the zone of dots it is possible to read the true bearing of the aircraft (IPS).

BASIC FEATURES AND PURPOSE OF ELECTRONIC DIFFERENCE-RANGING NAVIGATION SYSTEMS

The differential ranging systems of long-range navigation belong to the systems which measure the propagation time of radio waves from two fixed points on the earth's surface ground stations of the system - to the aircraft. By the measured difference of radiowave propagation there is determined the difference of distances to ground stations and the line of position of the aircraft.

With the presence of two pairs of ground stations there are determined two lines of position, the intersection of which is the aircraft position (MS).

Pulsed differential ranging systems make it possible to solve the following navigational problems:

a) monitor the path by determining the line of position or aircraft position;

- b) guide the aircraft to the assigned area;
- c) determine the navigational elements of flight.

In the examined systems the lines of position of the aircraft are two hyperbolas and therefore the systems also carry the name of hyperbolic systems.

It is natural, that to obtain two lines of position it is necessary to have two pairs of transmitting stations. However, the ground equipment of the hyperbolic system can consist altogether of only three stations, of which one A is the master station for both pairs (A-B and A-C), and the two others (B and C) - slave (Fig. 83).

Three ground stations A, B and C form two bases AB and AC. The bases, arranged in such a version of mutual orientation, are called combined bases.

Other versions of mutual orientation of bases are possible. Bases can be spaced (Fig. 84a), intersecting (Fig. 84b), combined in twos and threes (Fig. 84c, d) or arranged in a chain (Fig. 84e), in which several stations are master.



Fig. 83. Line of position of hyperbolic system.

The operating principle of the hyperbolic system is reduced to the determination of the time interval Δ , between the reception of pulses on the aircraft, which the master ground station A and one of the slave stations - B or C emit (see Fig. 83). To this time difference corresponds the completely determinate difference of the distances from stations A and B (or C):

 $\Delta R = \Delta \tau c$,

where c - the speed of light.



Fig. 84. Versions of mutual orientation of bases.

The hyperbola is a locus, the difference of distances of which from the focuses of hyperbolas is a constant value. The hyperbola, in the focuses of which are located the ground stations of the system, is the line of position. It is determined with the aid of a receiving-indicating device, which is located on the aircraft with respect to the measured time difference $\Delta \tau$. The second line of position is determined from a second pair of stations.

Navigational problems are solved on a special map with lattices of hyperbolas, plotted with respect to points calculated with the aid of geodesic formulas.

With movement of the aircraft in space along some lines of position the measured time difference of arrival of pulses at the aircraft from master and slave stations $\Delta \tau$ remains constant. If air navigation is accomplished at comparatively short distances within 1000 km, then the curvature of the earth's surfaces does not have considerable influence on the character of the lines of position and it can be disregarded. In this case the lines of position will be the family of hyperbolas. The points of arrangement of ground stations at points A and B are focuses, and the measured differences of distances -



Fig. 85. Change of value $\Delta \tau$.

real axes. If both stations A and B emit signals simultaneously, then the line of position, on which $\Delta \tau = 0$ will be the hyperbola, degenerated into a straight line, perpendicular to the base in its middle (Fig. 85).

With departure of the aircraft from this straight line - "zero" hyperbola to the left - the pulses from station A will enter the receiving-indicating

device of the aircraft earlier than the pulses being sent by station B, whereas with movement of the aircraft to the right of the "zero" hyperbola the pulses from station B reach it earlier than pulses from station A. If with deviation of the aircraft to the left the measured interval is considered positive, and with deviation to the right - negative, then naturally interval $\Delta \tau$ will reach the greatest absolute value when the aircraft is located on the straight line, being a continuation of the base, beyond station A or beyond station B. Under the condition that to the left of the "zero" hyperbola the measured time difference $\Delta \tau$ is considered positive, and to the right negative, on the continuation of the base to the left of point A τ_{AW} , and to the right of point B

 $\Delta \tau = - I_{AB} = -\frac{d}{c},$

where t_{AB} - the time of passage of base AB by the radio waves; d - base of the station; c - propagation velocity of radio waves.

Since the measured interval $\Delta \tau$ can be changed from $+t_{AB}$ to $-t_{AB}$ and the pulses of station A and B do not differ from one another at all, the reading is obtained ambiguous and there is no

possibility of determining whether the aircraft is located to the right or to the left of the "zero" hyperbola, for example, on hyperbola I or on hyperbola II.

In order to avoid this ambiguity of reading, the pulses of one of the stations should be emitted with delay relative to the moment of radiation of pulses by another station to some time interval (t_{AB}) . Then at all points of the operating region of the system the pulses of the first station will be received earlier than the pulses of the second station and the magnitude $\Delta \tau$ will always be positive (with the exception of points on the continuation of the base after station B, where $\Delta \tau = 0$). After station A $\Delta \tau$ will be greatest:

 $\Delta \tau_{max} = 2l_{AB} = 2 \frac{d}{c}.$

In order to make the numbering of hyperbolas convenient in practical operation, especially when accomplishing interpolation between hyperbolas, at the slave stations there are introduced delays (t_0) , which supplement readings according to the applied hyperbolas up to values, multiples of ten.

Furthermore, at slave stations there are introduced additional so-called code, delays which increase the reading by magnitude t_{μ} .

This magnitude (t_{μ}) is considered automatically in the aircraft receiver-indicator of the system.

The matching of operation of the stations is accomplished in the following manner: master station A controls the operation of slave station B, which emits pulses after the reception of signals from the master station, i.e., with delay equal to t_{AB} . By this the synchronous operation of both stations is attained. However, the slave station does not emit signals pricedly at the moment of the arrival of pulses from the master station, but with some delay. This delay has two components: constant r_0 and variable $t_{\rm H}$ - code delay. The first is introduced so that with reception on the aircraft it would be possible to distinguish the pulses of station A from the pulses of station B.

The second delay serves for change of the numbering of the lines of position (hyperbolas) according to certain regulations.

The time interval of reception of signals from stations A and B, measured on the aircraft, is equal to $\Delta \tau_1 = \Delta \tau + t_0 + t_H$, where $\Delta \tau$ varies from 0 to magnitude $\Delta \tau_{max} = 2t_{AB}$.

Thus, a system consisting of one pair of stations does not make it possible to determine the MS, since by one base there is determined only one line of position.

For determining the MS it is necessary to use two pairs of stations (or three stations, of which one is overall master), arranged in such a way that the lines of position of the first and the second pairs would intersect (see Fig. 83).

On the reading mechanisms of the aircraft receiver-indicator there is read the numbers of hyperbolas - the lines of position.

The aircraft position can be determined on the entire area, where the signals of ground stations are heard, with the exception of the nonworking zones, which are arranged on a focal axis, beginning from focuses in the direction opposite the "zero" hyperbola. The nonworking zones are limited by the first branches of the hyperbolas of a given family.

In practice the accuracy of the system is different in different directions. Near the perpendicular, drawn through

the middle of the base, the accuracy is the greatest, but it drops in proportion to the distance from this perpendicular and near the line, which is a continuation of the base, it is so low that the system here cannot be used in practice.

Generally differential ranging radio navigation systems provide high accuracy of determining the position of a moving object and at the same time with rationally selected wave band have long range. In connection with this the given systems are used basically as long-range navigation means.

The version of the arrangement of the system, at which the stations form a chain, stretched along the coast line, facilitates navigation in the area of a large water basin. Therefore the hyperbolic systems received wide distribution during the development of transoceanic flights.

Another advantage of these systems is the unlimited capacity and the absence of a transmitting device on the aircraft.

Deficiencies of the system can be considered the complexity and the unwieldiness of ground equipment, and also the necessity of strict maintaining of synchronism of operation of the stations.

PRECISION HYPERBOLIC LONG-RANGE NAVIGATION SYSTEM "CYTAC" ("LORAN-C")

In the international organization ICAO as a standard means of long-range navigation the "Loran" system of long-range navigation was accepted a long time, ensuring the coverage of long distances, especially the air lines which lie over sea spaces.

The "CYTAC" system (development of USA) is a further development of the "Loran" system and facilitates determining the aircraft position with even considerably greater accuracy. The

high accuracy is attained because of the phase method of comparison of the transit time of signals from ground stations. In the "Loran" system the pulse train is transmitted with standard repetition frequency (from 20 to 60 Hz), while in receiver the thme is measured between the reception of the impulses of separate stations. To obtain the greatest accuracy in determining the time interval between the pulses, incoming from the separate stations of the chain, in the receiving equipment of "CYTAC" ("Loran-C") there is additionally performed comparison of highfrequency duty factor of the pulse train of master and slave. stations. The accuracy of the "CYTAC" system therefore is many times higher than "Loran." The range of the "CYTAC" system is also considerably greater than the "Loran" system.

The operation of the "CYTAC" system is similar to the "Loran" system. The first ground station, called master, transmits the pulse, following which in a definite and known time interval (interval T) follows the second pulse, transmitted from the second ground station, located at some distance from the first. Both the signals from these stations will be accepted by the aircraft receiver with the same interval if the stations are located at equal distances from it. If the aircraft is closer to the first station, then the time interval will be greater by magnitude ΔT (T + ΔT). If it is closer to the second station, then the interval between pulses will be smaller by magnitude ΔT (T - ΔT). By measuring the interval between the two pulses and comparing it with a known interval, the airborne receiver determines the line passing through the point of location of the aircraft. This line is a hyperbola, the focus points of which are the points of location of the two transmitting stations.

If a pair of similar pulses is transmitted by a pair of different, differently arranged stations, one of which can be a part of the first pair, then the interval between the reception

of these two pulses makes it possible to establish the second hyperbola. The intersection of hyperbolas on the Loran-CYTAC chart will determine the MS.

N. X ... Star

are a start and an area of the

Andread in such 2 real mer in the

いちょう しょうしんしょう ひょうちょう ちょうちょうちょう しょうかんかん ちゅうちゅう

ことであるというできょう

If the third pair of stations operates, then the hyperbola obtained with their aid will serve for checking and refining the previous constructions. In actuality, in the chains of the "Loran" and "CYTAC" systems the master stations have two or three slave, with each of which these master stations operate on one frequency in turn and in a certain sequence.

For operation of the "CYTAC" ("Loran-C") system it is necessary that besides strict synchronization of the moments of radiation of pulses of the master and slave stations there would be synchronization of the phase of high-frequency duty factor of pulses. This is accomplished by the transmission of the appropriate signals by the master station on the carrier wave. Rough timing between pulses is performed just as in the "Loran" system, which makes it possible in the future to eliminate ambiguity during the precise determination of distances by the comparison method of phases of the high-frequency duty of pulses. Ambiguity can appear during the comparison of the phase of the first pulse of the master station with the second pulse of the slave station. Such a method makes it possible to measure the pulse separations to within 0.02-0.03 µs. The resulting error in the measurement of the time interval of the "Loran-C" system is 0.1 µs instead of 1 µs of the "Loran" system.

The operating experience showed that with the aid of this system the aircraft position can be determined in 25% of the cases with accuracy on the order of 250 m at distances about 1500 km from one of the three transmitters of the system.

When using a direct wave the system provides precise determination of the coordinates at a distance up to 2500 km in the daytime and up to 1800 km at night; when using an indirect wave the system can be used at distances up to 3200 km in the daytime and up to 4200 km at night with error on the order of 4-5.5 km.

THE DECCA-DECTRA SYSTEM¹

Among the radio navigation systems used for air navigation, the phase long-wave hyperbolic system "DECCA" occupies a special place. The system provides sufficient accuracy of position finding for flights along air routes. It should be noted that the system is not free from electrostatic interferences and the quality of its operation in clouds, precipitation and in areas of thunderstorm activity is considerably lowered.

The areas served by the system are continuously expanded because of the actuation of new chains on the main international sea and air lines.

In the zone of coverage of one chain of the "DECCA" system there is located one master station and three slave. The slave stations are installed at an angle of approximately 120° and are called green, red and purple.

In the countries of Western Europe more than eight chains of the system are operating, serving about 2 million sq. miles. The chains of the system are installed on the territories of England, D. ark, West Germany, France, Spain and Italy. In North America and Canada more than four chains operate. Two chains of the system are used in India and on the coast of the Persian Gulf.

¹Chapter written by V. A. Belyatskiy.

The "DECCA" radio navigation system is a further development of the "DECTRA" [sic] system (Fig. 86). In it are used the ground equipment and receiver-indicator of the "DECCA." The "DECTRA" system is intended for use in transoceanic air and sea navigation along certain routes.



Fig. 86. The section of the chart of the "DECCA" plotting board: 1 - marks in nautical miles; 2 station frequency; 3 - key of the chart section; 4 - readings corresponding to the indications of decameters; 5 - coast line; 6 - hyperbolas of zone boundaries, point of setting of stylus on the section of the route; 7 - boundary of route; 8 - assigned route; 9 -track angle; 10 - mark of the termination of recording on the chart and change of the chart key; 11 - key of the following section of the chart; 12 - point of setting of stylus after replacement of chart for the EKB key; 13 - hyperbolic grid of chart; 14 - key of the following section of the chart; 15 - mark of termination of recording on the chart and change of chart key; 16 - point of initial setting of the stylus for the EKD key; 17 - mark of change of the key and setting of stylus.

The operating principle of the system. Electromagnetic oscillations are characterized by amplitude, period T and frequency f = 1/T, or angular velocity $\omega = 2\pi f$ and phase ωt . The phase difference depends upon the difference of the time of passage of signals to the radio receiver. The aircraft receiver of the "DECCA" system compares the phases of the signals of the master station with the phases of the signals of the slave stations. For the chain of the "DECCA" system there are calculated the lines of different phase differences, which are hyperbolas,

conditionally designated on the chart by red, green and purple lines of position.

With the range of the "DECCA" system about 400 km the accuracy of determining the aircroft position lies from 100 m to 2-5 km. The range of action of the "DECTRA" system is approximately 2500 km, and the accuracy of determining the MS lies from 1.5 to 20 km.

Application of the system. The chains of the ground stations, which have certain frequencies given to them, are designated by a number and letter. For example, stations of the "DECTRA" system, serving the transatlantic line, are given the letter A, the group of European "DECCA" stations - the letter B, and American - C.

The airborne aircraft equipment includes:

"DECCA" and "DECTRA" receivers;

control panels of receiver and ground-position indicator;

indicators-decameters, "DECTRA" indicator;

ground-position indicator (FLIGHT LOG), unique for the "DECCA" and "DECTRA" systems.

computer unit, auxiliary units, antennas.

On the "green," "red" and "purple" decameters the numbers of the lines of position, plotted on a special chart in the form of green, red and purple hyperbolas, are read automatically. The point of intersection of two or three hyperbolas corresponds to the aircraft position. In the "DECTRA" system special indicators give the direction to the master station and the distance to it, and the accuracy of the readings of the current range depends upon the correctness of establishment of the initial range. The initial range is determined with the aid of any other nagivational system. If the aircraft is located in the range of the "DECCA" system, then for determining the initial range it is also possible to use the readings of this system. Э

The ground-position indicator considerably simplifies air navigation, by giving a visual representation of the aircraft position relative to the specified track.

The flight route will be plotted on a special route chartplan, which moves on rollers of the plotting board of the groundposition indicator.

The route charts for the separate sections of the route are made with variable scales depending on the region of the working zone of the system, in which the given section of route lies, and on the selection of two pairs of hyperbolas, the intersection of which is close to 90° .

The track is traced on the route chart automatically by the moving stylus. For change of sheets of the chart and the correct installation of the stylus on the new sheet for each section of the sheet of the chart of the set of special keys it is necessary to select the necessary key, which is put into the computer.

On the chart there is faintly plotted the minimum geographical load (coastline, largest rivers and cities).

Special load includes:

given track angle;

hyperbolic grid;

the keys of the route sections;

the readings which correspond to the indications of decameters;

the place of initial setting of the stylus for the new key;

marks of termination of recording and change of the chart key.

INERTIAL NAVIGATION SYSTEM

Inertial systems do not require external sources of information (ground stations, beacons, radar reference points, etc.). The systems themselves also emit no energy. Furthermore, they are not disturbed by any interference. Therefore they are the most self-contained systems.

The components of the inertial systems (Fig. 87) are such well known devices as accelerometers, gyroscopes, servomechanisms, computers. However, under conditions of large temperature drops, shocks, vibrations and considerable accelerations the use of these systems for navigation purposes became possible only when technology was able to provide for the highest accuracy of their manufacture and control, and consequently, the preservation of assigned parameters by them.

<u>Principle of action</u>. Mechanical energy of all bodies and parts, making up the aircraft, in flight is continuously changed

depending on c anges in flight conditions, effects of the environment, etc. By determining the changes in mechanical energy by a special instrument, converting and recording them, it is possible to calculate the aircraft speed and the path being passed by it.



Fig. 87. Diagram of the inertial navigation system of the aircraft: 1 - airposition indicator (integrator); 2 lateral accelerometer; 3 - longitudinal accelerometer. KEY: (a) Integrator.

Any body obtains acceleration under the action of force, whereupon the obtained acceleration is proportional to force affecting the body

F == mJ,

where F - force; m - mass; a - acceleration.

The acceleration meters are called accelerometers. The simplest accelerometer is a weight with mass m, spring-mounted. If we place such a meter on a carriage, and to its weight attach the slide of the potentiometer, fastened on this carriage, then with the carriage fixed the slide will stand motionlessly in the middle of the potentiometer and no potential difference will be observed. If to the carriage we apply force F, it will begin to move and weight m acquires acceleration a, as a result of which it will begin to shift relative to the platform (potentiometer) until force is counterbalanced by compression and elongation of the springs.

It is obvious that the amount of displacement of the weight (and the potentiometer slide) will be proportional to force F, and consequently, to acceleration a and the appearing potential difference, the sign of which depends upon the direction of acceleration.

If at the moment of application of force the speed of the carriage was equal to zero, then, by knowing the acceleration (according to the accelerometer), it is possible to calculate the speed acquired by the carriage in a certain time, and the path being passed by it during this time. For this integration is used.

Accleration is the velocity increment in a unit of time:

 $a=\frac{dV}{dl}.$

If we integrate the acceleration from the beginning of motion to moment t, then we will obtain the velocity of this moment. And by integrating the velocity, we will obtain the distance being passed by the carriage during this time:



Having placed on the same carriage (or aircraft) another

accelerometer with a small weight, moving not in the direction of motion, but perpendicular to it, it is easy to measure the acceleration which acts on the body in lateral direction.

By this acceleration we analogically calculate the lateral deviation of the body (aircraft).

Thus, it is possible in the orthodromic coordinate system with origin at the take off point of the aircraft to indicate its position relative to the LZP. For this to the pairs of integrators it is necessary to electrically connect the longitudinal and lateral accelerometers with sweep indicator, by which it is possible at any moment to read the magnitude of the track from the moment of start and the linear deviation from the given direction of motion.

<u>Accelerometers</u>. In the inertial systems basically linear accelerometers are used, intended for the measurement of linear accelerations affecting the body, i.e., the effects of only those forces which are directed along the measuring axis of the instrument. The action of the simplest of such accelerometers is based on the measurement of displacement of a cushioned mass.

Difficulties in the development of new accelerometers for air navigation purposes are connected with the range of accelerations (ratios of maximum and minimum accelerations). This ratio should be on the order of 100,000. For the accelerometer with cuchioned mass with such a ratio of maximum and minimum measured accelerations in the case of low acceleration the operation of the instrument will be affected by friction forces, and with high accelerations errors will arise because of the dead zone and hysteresis of the clastic suspension. Even if the dead zone is 0.001 dyne, the error in dead reckoning per hour of flight will reach magnitudes up to 76 km.

One of the solutions to this problem is the use of an "electric spring." This device is based on motion of the mass of the accelerometer rod in a solenoid. During aircraft motion with acceleration to the amplifier input is supplied current of a certain voltage, which after amplification in proportion to the output value of amplifier current is supplied to the solenoid for counteraction to the movement of mass. After the initial acceleration during the motion of mass in the opposite direction there appears restoring current also of reversed direction. Thus, each movement of mass can be measured by voltage at the amplifier input or by the force of restoring current, which enters the solenoid.

Similar type accelerometers satisfy their sensitivity, which can be increased in almost the entire operating range.

Many similar devices are distinguished from one another only by the form of kinematic connection with the housing of the flight vehicle.

<u>Gyrostabilized platform</u>. For holding the platform with accelerometer or with the unit of accelerometers in horizontal plane there is used the property of a free gyroscope to maintain the position of the axis of its rotor constant in inertial space (relative to the stars).

The gyroscope with three degrees of freedom, not being subjected to the action of any moments of external forces, including friction forces, is called free. The center of gravity of such a gyroscope should coincide with the point of intersection of the axes of the gimbal.

The basis for the device of the gyrostabilized platform is the principle of power gyroscopic stabilization. With power
stabilization the gyroscopic moment compensates the harmful external moment, i.e., it is unloading only until precission occurs and the unloading moment of the motor (bearing in mind that on all three axes of the gyroscope unloading motors have been installed) reaches the necessary magnitudes. Subsequently the axis of the gyroscope is even unloaded beacause of the moment being created by the motor, but not because of the gyroscopic moment. The moment of the motor can be made quite large.

and the states of the second

The stabilized platform, in this way, embodies the idea of a gyroscope with nonrotating rotor, which, however, keeps the position of the rotor axis constant relative to inertial space. All this makes it possible to use the power gyroscopic platform for stabilization of equipment of inertial navigation, radar antennas and a number of other devices in the horizontal plane.

Fleating integrating gyroscopes. The stabilization of a platform with accelerometers with the aid of a unit of floating integrating gyroscopes acquires ever increasing distribution. While being very sensitive to angular displacements the platforms, which integrate the gyroscopes unlike power stabilization, while processing, do not create any unloading moment, but only supply the signals from their sensors to the unloading motors. Since these signals do not appear simultaneously with the application of external moment, but only after some deviation of the platform, there is observed a kind of fine jitter (vibration) of the platform about the mid-position. The rotor axes of the integrating gyroscopes are arranged parallel to the three axes of stabilization of the platform - in three mutually perpendicular planes.

The integrating gyroscope - gyroscope with two degrees of freedom - can be obtained, having eliminated the external frame

with the fluid damper. The name "integrating" results from the problem being solved by the gyroscope: during rotation of the platform keep the angle of turn of the frame proportional to the angle of rotation of the platform, i.e., to the time integral from the angular spin rate of the platform.

The floating integrating gyroscope is able to integrate angular velocities on the order of $5 \cdot 10^{-5}$ rad/s (0.1%2 rpm), i.e., it is sensitive to the angular velocity approximately equal to one revolution in 1.5 days. At the same time it is in a state to integrate angular velocities greater than 4.5 rad/s, i.e., more than 42 rpm. Thus, the ratio of maximum to minimum speed of measurement is $9 \cdot 10^{4}$.

Since the integrating gyroscope in pure form is able to measure only the small angles of rotation of the platform, for the measurement of the large angles of rotation of the base it must be continuously turned with the aid of a servodrive.

<u>Servodrive</u>. In the inertial system the servodrive serves for providing the assigned geometric stabilization of the platform with any calculated position changes of the aircraft in air.

Since gyroscopes are capable of perceiving the smallest rotations around their input axes, and accelerometers - catching negligible accelerations, the servomechanisms should be very sensitive to the week signals being sent by these instruments, and in answer to them turn the platform in the necessary manner. The speed of actions of the servomechanisms should be extremely great, and dynamic errors - small.

The components of servodrives, such as electromagnetic amplifiers, electrical servomotors and their reducers, which

were used earlier, satisfy the requirements for the necessary accuracy, linearity, small time constants and good dyanmic characteristics. A new device, used in servodrives, is the microsyn.

<u>Microsyn</u> - high-frequency selsyn, capable of being both sensor and setting mechanism, where the construction of microsyns for both cases of use is invariable. However, the microsyn-sensor can operate only on alternating current, and the microsynsetting mechanism - on alternating and direct current. a the march of the second

The microsyn-sensors have a large advantage over potentiometric pickups, which consists of the fact that there are no sliding contacts in them. Besides this, the sensitivity threshold of wire potentiometer depends upon the wire diameter, and for the microsyn it is equal in practice to zero ($1/600^{\circ}$), which with the rotor diameter about 18 mm corresponds to linear displacement of the rotor pole relative to the stator pole by 0.26 µm. Consequently, when the measured angle is small, the microsyn has a considerable advantage over the potentiometer, despite the fact that the weight of the rotor highly exceeds the weight of the potentiometer brush.

For floating integrating gyroscopes, inside which are installed microsyns-sensors and controllers, this fact is not important.

<u>Integrators</u> convert the entering input signal into a signal of another form, described by an integral (most frequently with respect to time). For example, if electrical voltages U_{BX} enters the integrator input, then at the output voltage is removed from the terminals

Usus ... Uss dl.

For navigational inertial systems, where it is necessary to integrate the acceleration signals in a very large range (from thousandths to tenths), not only high accuracy is necessary, but also efficiency over a wide range of measurement of the input values. This problem is solved by the application of multistage integrators.

Adders are devices, algebraically summing up the information from two or several sources. Any inertial system should sum up several signals. For example, the signal from the programmed unit and the feedback signal are algebraically added to the error measurement signal of coordinates or to the signal of the first integrator.

The adders consist either of electric circuits, which include potentiometers, inductances and capacitances, or of several cascades of electron tubes. Most frequently there are used adders constructed on the basis of potentiometers, voltage dividers, control windings of the magnetic amplifier and bridge circuits.

<u>Trigonometric devices</u>. In the inertial systems used in navigation there is frequently performed multiplication of a measured value, for example speed (in the form of stress), by the trigonometric function of some angle, let us suppose, track.

To obtain the trigonometric functions of angle sine and cosine there are used sine-cosine potentiometers, and on alternating current - rotating transformers.

More complex trigonometric dependences are obtained with the aid of functional potentiometers.

<u>Multiplying devices</u> serve for the multiplication and division of two or several values. They are created on potentiometers using bridge circuits and a magnitoelectric logometer.

The bridge circuits make it possible to multiply and divide values with considerably greater accuracy than potentiometric, since the result of measurement does not depend upon the load resistance.

Thus, because of the stabilized platform the inertial systems continuously and automatically, besides their basic function, incidentally determine the course, roll and pitch angles, i.e., the angles which characterize the aircraft position relative to the meridional planes and horizon.

The knowledge of these values with known speed of flight, distance and required direction to the point of destination (KPM, PPM) is necessary for automatic control of the aircraft with the aid of the autopilot and automation of the power-plant control.

COURSE AND GLIDE-PATH SYSTEMS

Ground equipment of the ILS system consists of the course and glide-path beacon and three radio marker beacons (at present the inner marker is not installed at all airports). At some airports for construction of the landing approach maneuver on the outer marker point a homer is installed.

When performing international flights two versions of the placement of ground equipment can be encountered.

<u>The first version</u> (Fig. 88): the radio-range beacon is located on the continuation of the RW axis and the axial line of the course zone coincides with the RW axis, i.e., its occurrence corresponds to the landing angle (landing course).



and the water water the rest of a cost of the second water and a shere and the second for so

an and the set which and an an an and

ALC: AN

Fig. 88. The first version of placement of the ground equipment: 1 - outer marker; 2 - middle marker; 3 - glide-path beaccn; 4 - runaway localizer.

<u>The second version</u> (Fig. 89): the radio-range beacon is located not on the RW axis, but aside it - to the right or left of it so that the axial line of the course zone passes through the middle marker point at a $2.5-8^{\circ}$ angle to the landing line.



Fig. 89. The second version: 1 - outer marker; 2 - middle marker; 3 - glide-path beacon; 4 - runaway localizer.

The course beacons of the ILS system operate in the circular version. Recently beacons of the sector version have been installed: the angular width of the sector is 70° on both sides of the landing line. The basic characteristics of the course and glide-path zones of the ILS are given in the section of

ground equipment of SP-50, since they coincide with the appropriate characteristics of SP-50 with new adjustment.

The marker beacons of the ILS system operate on the same frequency (75 MHz) as in the SP-50 system and emit the following code signals: inner marker - six dots per second; middle marker alternately two dashes and six dots per second; distant marker (in the ICAO materials - outer marker) - two dashes per second. والمتعالية والمستعمل والمستعمل والمستعمل والمستعمل والمستعمان والمستعمان والمستعمل والمستعمل والمستعمل والمستعمل والمستعمل والمعادية والمستعمل والمستعمل والمستعمل والمستعمل والمستعمل والمستعمل والمستعمل والمعادية والمستعمل والمعادية والمستعمل والمعالية والمستعمل والمست

Ground equipment of the SP-50 system is placed at the airports of civil aviation according to a single standard scheme (Fig. 90).



Fig. 90. Ground equipment of SP-50 system: 1 - outer homing station; 2 - inner homing station; 3 - glide-path beacon; 4 - runaway localizer.

As a result of performed adjustment of the equipment of the SP-50 system in accordance with ICAO standards accepted for the ILS system, the course and glide-path beacons have the following technical data.

The runaway localizer zone. The center line of the course zone coincides with the RW axis (Fig. 91). The linear width of the zone at a distance of 1350 m from the touchdown point is equal to 150 m (from 120 to 195 m), which corresponds to the angular deviation from the longitudinal axis of the RW not less than 2° and not more than 3°.



Fig. 91. The runaway localizer zone: 1 runaway localizer; 2 - touchdown point; 3 the point at which the range of the radio beacon (at flight altitude 1000 m) should be not less than 70 km. KEY: (1) Center line of course zone.

The range of the beacon provides the reception of signals at a distance of over 70 km from the beginning of the RW at flight altitude 1000 m in a sector 10° wide on each side of the RW axis (see Fig. 91). For the radio range beacon of the ILS the range is stipulated 45 km at flight altitude 600 m.

where the second

<u>The glide-path beacon zone</u>. The optimum glide-path angle is equal to $2^{\circ}40^{\circ}$. When obstructions are present in the approach sector the glide-path angle is increased to $3^{\circ}20^{\circ}$ and in exceptional cases can reach 4-5°. With optimum glide-path angle $2^{\circ}40^{\circ}$ the aircraft during descent flies over the outer and inner markers (with their standard arrangement) at altitudes of 200 and 60 m respectively.

The angular width of the glide-path zone with its optimum angle of slope can be within $0.5-1^{\circ}4^{\circ}$, whereupon with increase in the slope angle the rate of descent grows, and the width of

the zone is increased for facilitating aircraft handling.

The range of the glide-path beacon provides the reception of signals at a distance not less than 18 km from it in sectors 8° to the right and left of the landing line. These sectors, in which the reception of signals is provided, are limited in height by the angle above the horizon, equal to 0.3 of the descent glide-path angle, and by the angle above the glide path, equal to 0.8 of the descent glide-path angle (Fig. 92).



Fig. 92. The glide-path beacon zone: 1 - glide-path beacon; 2 - inner homing station; 3 - outer homing station; 4 - the sector in which the range with deviation from the landing line up to 8° should be not less than 18 km. With the position of the aircraft on the upper or lower boundary of the zone the PKP-48 pointer is deflected the whole scale.

Ground equipment of the SP-50M system is intended for its use during controlled and automatic landing approaches according to ICAO norms of the 1st category of complexity.

The stability of occurrence of the course center line is ensured by more stringent requirements imposed on the equipment.

The angular width of the course zone is determined by formula

 $S_{\rm R} = \frac{210.57.3}{L_{\rm R}},$

136

ale the second second

attester 4

where $L_{_{\rm H}}$ - the total distance form the radio range beacon to the near end of the RW and the length of the RW; 210 m - the linear width of "corridors" on the side of the landing approach.

In cases when the RW length considerably exceeds optimum, the width of the course zone is established not less than $1^{\circ}75'$ (half-zone).

All the remaining parameters of the course and glide-path beacons are controlled strictly in accordance with the technical standards of the ICAO.

The System of Command Landing Approach Control

At present on civil aviation aircraft with GTD there are installed command landing approach control system ("homing," "path"). These systems are the semi-automatic aircraft control system during landing approach.

「「「「「」」をないていている」で、

and the state of the second second as a second and second and the second second states and a second second second

The command instrument in such systems is the PSP-48 or KPP-M null indicator.

By semiautomatic control we mean handling the aircraft by the commanding instrument, the pointers of which during the landing approach from the moment of the beginning of the fourth turn and on the landing leg must be held on zero. Unlike the ordinary approach by the SP-50 the null indicator in this case does not inform the pilot about the position relative to the equisignal zones of course and glide-path beacons, but indicates to him which roll and pitch angles must be maintained for precise approach to the equisignal zones and following in them.

The system of command control simplifies piloting by means of the transformation of navigation and pilotage information about

the aircraft position in space and its forming into the control signal, which is indentified on command instruments. The deflection of the command pointer is a function of several parameters, which in the ordinary landing approach the pilot considers on separate instruments: PSP-48 of SP-50 system, gyro-horizon, compass and rate-of-climb indicator. Therefore the command pointers are located in the center of the scale not only when the aircraft strictly follows the equisignal zones of course and glide path, but also when correct approach to the equisignal zones is accomplished.

Contraction and the state of the second state

On the aircraft, which are already in operation, there are installed simplified systems of command control, which operate on the basis of existing airborne and ground euqipment: course radio receiver KRP-F, glide-path radio receiver GRP-2, navigation indicator 41-50BM or course setting mechanism ZK-2B, master vertical gyroscope TsGB or gyroscope pickup (AGD, PPS). Furthermore, the set includes: calculator, coupler with autopilot when connection with the autopilot is present on the aircraft.

<u>The landing approach maneuver</u> on the aircraft, equipped with command control system (Fig. 93), is executed in this way:

1. Having obtained permission for entry into the airport zone, equipped with SP-50 or ILS system, the crew, acting in accordance with the scheme approved for the given airport, guides the aircroft to the point of the beginning of the fourth turn; with this the crew is obliged: and the second hear when and reach

a) to set the map angle, equal to the landing MPU for the given direction of landing, on the NI-50BM autonavigator;

b) to set the wind velocity, equal to zero on the NI-50BM wind setting mechanism;

c) before turning on the power supply on the M-50 panel to check that the course and glide-path pointers of the null indicator are located in the center of the scale, otherwise set them with respect to the center by a mechanical corrector;

d) to place switch "SP-50-ILS" in the position which corresponds to the system by which the approach is performed;

e) to set on the SP-50 control panel the appropriate operating channels of course and glide-path beacons;

f) to turn on the power supply on the M-50 panel;

g) to turn on the power supply on the control panel of the command system;

h) to check the operable state of the KRP and GRP by deflection of the pointers of the null indicator and by the coverage of flags on their scales (flags are covered after warming up of the receiver tubes and when signals of ground beacons exist);

i) during landing approach on the section between the third and fourth turn with closed flags to check the electrical
' zero balance of course bars, by turning the knob of the balance on the M-50 panel in some direction until the arrival of the pointer in the center of the scale. Refine the check after approach of the aircraft to a straight line.

2) the moment of the beginning of the fourth turn can be determined;

a) with the aid of ARK by the KUR of the outer marker beacon (DPRM);

139

and the second state of th

b) by the azimuth and range of the "Svod" azimuth and range system;

c) by the instruction of the controller, who observes the aircraft with the aid of ground radar;

· One a state and the state of the

d) by airborne radar;

c) by the scaling of the course bar of the command instrument.

3. At the moment of the beginning of the fourth turn toward the deflection of the course bar of the command instrument create a bank at which it will be set on the scale zero. During the turn the pilot should hold the pointer of the null indicator in the center of the scale, by decreasing or increasing the bank. The bank is always created in the direction of deflection of the pointer.



Fig. 93. Londing approach with the aid of control instrument: 1 - between the third and fourth turn both bars are off scale. The beginning of the fourth turn is determined by ARK, "Svod" or by instruction from the ground; 2 - on the fourth turn with band course correct in amount and direction the bar is located in the center of the scale; 3 - with drift for some reason from the LZP (on a turn or on a straight line) the course pointer will indicate the direction and magnitude of the bank necessary for approach to LZP; 4 - as soon as the bank necessary for approach is created the pointer arrives at the center of the scale. Its further maintaining in this position is provided for by approach to LZP; 5 - when tracking strictly the LZP (in the equisignal zone of course and glide-path beacons) both bars are intersected in the center of the instrument.

In the case of early beginning of the fourth turn for holding the course pointer in the zero position it will be initially required to create the 17-20° bank, which subsequently must be decreased sometimes up to full recovery of the aircraft from the bank. However, with approach to alignment of the RW the course pointer of the command instrument will show the necessity for the creation of the bank required for smooth entry into the landing line.

ſ

ALL REAL REAL REAL PLANE REAL PLANE

With late beginning of the fourth turn there occurs change of course to an angle greater than 90° , and the sign of the bank is changed. With this the entire maneuver, including calculation of the drift angle, is treated by the system automatically.

With execution of the fourth turn it is necessary to constantly see that the course flags are closed on all null indicators.

4. After the execution of the fourth turn and entry into the equisignal course zone it is necessary to continue flight without descent, holding by banks the controller pointer of the command instrument in the center of the scale. In this case it is necessary to follow the pointer of the glide path, which after accomplishing the fourth turn will be deflected upward. The flags of the glide path should be closed.

As soon as the pointer of the command instrument approaches the small white circle, immediately begin descent, holding the control pointer of the glide path in the center small black circle.

5. By the altitude of flight over the outer marker beacon determine the possibility of continuation of the glide-slope descent: if over the outer marker beacon with the location of the glide-path pointer within the small white circle the flight altitude will be equal to or exceed that established for the given airport, then it is possible to further continue glide-slope descent; if with correct maintaining of the glide path the aircraft reached the established flight altitude above the outer marker beacon and did not follow the signals of its actual flight, then immediately discontinue the glide-slope descent and in the future after passing the outer marker beacon perform descent according to the rules established for the system of OSP.

6. After passing the outer marker beacon maintain the command pointers of the command null indicator in the zero position, without allowing in this case descent outside ground visibility lower than the weather minimum established for the given airport. With detection of the ground (landing lights) it is necessary to change to visual flight and execute the landing.

Errors in setting the course on the NI450EM automatic device, exceeding the sum with the drift angle 15°, do not at all make it possible to execute landing approach using the command control system. To avoid this before the beginning of the fourth turn the navigator should again check the correctness of the setting of the "grivation" on the NI-50BM autonavigator and the correctness of operation of the course system. With readings of the magnetic course considerably larger than the actual course on the landing ieg, the aircraft will be deflected to the right of the axis of the equisignal zone of the runaway localizer, while with understated readings - to the left. To provide good accuracy of operation of the system on the final approach leg at large drift angles the navigator should ensure the operation of the course system with high accuracy; error should not exceed $\pm 2^\circ$.

Furthermore, the accuracy of bringing the aircraft to the RW axis and following along it also depends upon the accuracy

of occurrence of the zone of the runaway localizer and zero adjustment of the course pointer by turning the knob on the SP-50 panel. alabar dalah da

KURS-MP-1 AIRBORNE EQUIPMENT

and a second second

The KURS-MP-1 equipment makes it possible to use the foreign navigation and landing systems VOR and ILS along with the domestic "Svod" and SP-50, and also to accomplish air navigation with the aid of ARK.

For accomplishing these tasks on board there is installed the following equipment:¹

NKP-4 - navigational course instrument; RMI - radiomagnetic indicator; panel (selector) for the selection of radio systems; control unit (panel of adjustment of subassembly); azimuth selector.

The NKP-4 navigational course instrument is installed on control panels of the pilot and copilot and is intended for handling the aircraft in navigation and landing conditions. Piloting is accomplished by course and glide-path pointers (bars) just as in any null indicator. On the inner movable scale of the NKP-4 with scale value 2° opposite the fixed triangular index located at the top of the instrument there is read the aircraft course. The outer fixed scale, which has 10° divisions, serves for reading the radio station angles of approach. Since the NKP-4 is connected to the navigatior's indicator (USh), it repeats all its readings.

¹The given description has been made as applied to the II-18 aircraft. However the assembly and the procedure for the use of equipment are similar for all the aircraft on which it has been installed. Only the arrangement of separate units and instruments in the compartments is changed.

and the second second

The instrument has two pointers: yellow (narrow) and white (wide). The yellow narrow pointer is intended for reading the KUR only with the aid of the one first set of ARK. On some aircraft this pointer can be inactive. The white wide pointer of the course selector is driven by a rack-and-pinion gear, located in the lower right corner of the NKP-4. The course should be set only when piloting by the command pointers (in the command mode). المستحدية والمستحد والمراسية والمراجع والمستحد وال

The center section of the instrument is occupied by a null indicator with white course and yellow glide-path bars and by their flags of the appropriate colors.

Air navigation using the VOR system is accomplished using only the white (course) bar: if the specified track coincides with the azimuth line on the VOR beacon, the crew should hold the course pointer within the small white circle.

During landing approach both pointers are used: course and glide-path.

Radiomagnetic indicator RMI is installed on the instrument panels of both pilots and serves for taking readings of the magnetic course, bearings (azimuths) and radio station and beacon angles of approach (see Fig. 70).

The RMI instrument also has two scales: inner - movable with scale value 2° and outer - fixed, on which every 45° there are placed trinagular indices or (on the latest issues) points at four headings: 240, 290, 70 and 120° .

Since the RMI is connected directly to the gyrounits of the course system (KS), by the inner slide scale opposite the fixed trinagular index there is always read the MK of the aircraft regardless of the position of the switch on the control panel of the navigator's course system.

144

and a second second

The narrow and wide pointers of the instrument are intended for reading the headings and azimuths (bearings) of radio stations and VOR beacons. In this case:

the narrow pointer shows the bearing and heading only of the first (main) ARK set, tuned to the homing station, or the first subassembly of KURS-MP-1, tuned to the VOR radio beacon;

the wide pointer shows the bearing and heading of only the second (spare) ARK set or the second subassembly of the KURS-MP-1 device, tuned to the VOR beacon.

Switching the instrument to operation of the first or second ARK set or KURS-MP-1 subassembly by radio station or ground VOR beacon is accomplished by two flags at the bottom of the instrument: left - with narrow handle and right - with wide. The positions of the handles (flags) are fixed by labels in the viewing windows located under them, respectively: in the left -"ARK1" and "VOR1," in the right - "ARK2" and "VOR2."

いいろうないとうないないないとうない、

Depending on the position of the left narrow switch the narrow pointer of the instrument will show either the KUR of the radio station to which the ARK1 is tuned, or the azimuth of the VOR beacon, working with the first KURS-MP-1 subassembly. Depending on the position of the right wide switch the wide pointer will show the KUR of the radio station to which the ARK2 is tuned or the azimuth of the VOR beacon, working with the second subassembly of the KURS-MP-1 equipment.

The radio-system selection panel is designed for the selection of the radio systems, by which air navigation and piloting will be accomplished in navigation and landing conditions (RSBH, VOR, ILS and SP-50).

On Il-18 aircraft the panel is located over the middle instrument panel in the cockpit and has three switches. In the upper left corner of the instrument panel there is a switch, which determines the system by which the landing approach is performed. It has two positions: "ILS" and "SP-50." In the upper right corner of the instrument panel there is installed the marker switch, which in route flight must be placed in the "landing" position.

In the bottom of the panel is a switch with five fixed positions:

and a set in the set of the set o

1) "RSBN" - to the pilot and copilot NKP-4 instruments are fed signals from the "Svod" system;

2) RSBN/"SP-50" - to the aircraft commander's NKP-4 are fed signals only from the "Svod" equipment, and to the copilot's NKP-4 only from the SP-50 system of the first KURS-MP-1 subassembly. With malfunction of the first subassembly of KURS-MP-1 equipment the copilot's NKP-4 instrument is automatically switched to the second subassembly (for this it is necessary on both subassemblies to set the frequency of the SP-50 of the landing airfield);

3) the "l" position - on the aircraft commander's and copilot's NKP-4 only the first subassembly operates. In the case of its failure the second subassembly is automatically connected.

This operating condition of KURS-MP-1 equipment is the main one during landing approach using ILS and SP-50 systems;

4) the "combined" position - the signals proceed to the aircraft commander's NKP-4 only from the first subassembly, and to the copilot's NKP-4 - only from the second subassembly. In this position redundancy is not provided.

5) position "2" - signals proceed to both NKP-4 only from the second subassembly. In this position the second subassembly is not reserved automatically by the first, since it has been provided in case of breakdown of the first subassembly and the automation of switchovers.

and the second second

<u>A control unit</u> is located in each subassembly and is designed for tuning this subassembly to the operating frequencies of VOR, SP-50 and ILS ground beacons.

Beacon frequencies in the 108-118 MHz range are established with the aid of a drum and flag. When setting odd frequencies in the 108.1-111.9 MHz range the ILS mode is automatically turned on, and when setting the 112.0-117.9 MHz range and even frequencies in the 108.2-111.8 MHz range - VOR mode.

<u>The azimuth selector</u> is in both KURS-MP-1 subassemblies and serves to facilitate flight in a certain direction (azimuth), strictly oriented in space relative to the ground beacon of the VOR system. This is accomplished by setting the value of this azimuth on the selector.

Its second purpose is determining the precise value of the azimuth of the VOR beacon during the solution of navigational problems.

At the top of the selector are located two light signal panels: on the left - "To," and on the right - "From." On the lighting of one of them it is possible to judge the heading to the beacon or from it. In the center of the selector is a window, behind which is located a drum, numbered from 1 to 360° with scale value 1°. In the lower right corner of the selector is located a handle, with the aid of which there is set the given value of the azimuth, along which flight is accomplished by the null indicator, while in the left lower corner - a flag for change of azimuth to 180° with simultaneous phase transfer.

and a strategy of the second se

and an and a second in the second second with the second second

Automatic phase transfer occurs during flight past the VOR beacon. This provides the correct readings of the pointer of the NKP-4 null indicator with further holding of the aircraft on the LLP (pointer on the right - LZP to the right, pointer on the left -LZP on the left). Consequently, at the moment of flight past the beacon it suffices with the aid of the right lower handle to only refine the value of the new azimuth, by which further flight of the aircraft will be performed.

The manual transfer of the flag and change of the value of the azimuth 180° are performed only when the aircraft, without flying to the beacon, made a turn close to 180° for further flight in the opposite direction. In all other cases the flag should be dropped down.

The Operational Capabilities of KURS-MP-1 Equipment

1. Simultaneous operation by two different VOR beacons -basic version during flight along routes equipped with VOR systems. The indication of azimuths and KUR of both beacons is accomplished on RMI instruments, and indications of azimuths on the outer scale of the navigator's indicator - only with setting of the switches (narrow and wide flags) of RMI in the "VOR1" and "VOR2."

2. Simultaneous operation, of one subassembly in the VOR mode, and the second - in the ILS mode is used in accomplishing the prelanding maneuver, if the VOR beacon is located near the landing airfield. In this case it is more expedient to work in the "Combined" mode. The first subassembly is tuned to the ILS beacon, the second - to the VOR beacon. At the moment of entry into the zone of the ILS course localizer the switch on the radio-system

selection panel is placed in the position "l^h and for reservation of the landing channel the second subassembly is changed over to the ILS beacon by setting the frequency at which it operates on the control units. ないとうないできょうというとうとうというないできょうというないできたのでものできまであってい

3. Simultaneous opération of two subassemblies in the mode of SP-50 or ILS localizer beacons - main version when accomplishing the landing approach by the course and glide-path beacons.

Both subassemblies are tuned to the frequency of the landing system of the given airfield.

For reservation of the landing channel the switch on the radio-system selection panel is placed in position "1." To both NKP-4 navigational course instruments signals are fed from the first subassembly of KURS-MP-1 equipment.

The Problems Solved by KURS-MP-1 Equipment in the Navigation Mode

1. Determining the magnetic azimuth (bearing) from the aircraft position to VOR ground beacon.

2. Flight along the equisignal zone of the given magnetic azimuth of the ground beacon (with its agreement with the LZP) with the use of the null indicator.

3. Determining the aircraft position from the magnetic azimuth of two VOR beacons and determining the navigational elements during steady-state aircraft flight.

4. If the aircraft is equipped with "Svod" equipment, then the solution of all problems provided by this system is possible. In this case, with the establishment of mode "RSBN" "SP-50,"

on the radio-system selection panel, the aircraft commander's NKP-4 will operate similar to the KPP-M of the "Svod" system.

Turning on the KURS-MP-1 equipment and determining its readiness for operation:

1. Turn on the power supply of the equipment with the five AZS on the navigator's TsRSh: "KURS-MP signal," "KURS-MP-1," and "KURS-MP-II," "RMI-T," and "RMI-II." It is necessary to remember that the equipment should be turned on 5-10 min before the beginning of operation for warming up its elements, stabilization of operation and final adjustment of servomechanisms in the initial position.

7. Place the function selector on the radio-system selection panel in position of the system selected for use, and also place the "ILC-SP-50" switches and "Route-Landing" marker in the appropriate positions. いていたい いいてい いたい いいい いたい しょうちょう しょうしん

3. On the control units set the frequency of the selected VOR, SF-50 or HS beacon.

4. Set the azimuth on the selector.

5. Flace the switches on the aircraft commander and copilot RMI in the appropriate position: "ARK1," "VOR1," ARK2," "VOR2."

6. For the havigator set the switch "ARK1," "VOk4" and "ARK2," "VOK2" in the necessary position.

The readiness of the subassemblies of the equipment for operation in the navigation mode is determined by:

the course ("K") signal lamps going out on the radio-system selection panel (left - the first subassembly, right - the second);

coverage of the white course blinkers on NKP-4 instruments.

The readiness of the subassemblies of the equipment for operation in the "Landing" mode is determined by:

the course ("K") and glide-path ("G") signal lamps going out on the radio-system selection panel; the state of the second sec

「おおいろのことのからない

by coverage of the white course and yellow glide-path indicators on NKP-4 instruments.

In the "Navigation" and "Landing" modes on the signal panel located on the pilot's and copilot's control panels the signaling of the selected operating mode should light up: VOR, SP-50 or ILS.

The Use of KURS-MP-1 System

During flights by VOR beacons:

1. Check the connection of the power supply of the equipment.

2. Set the frequency of the selected VOR beacon on the control unit. In the commander's and copilot's light signal panel the label VOR will appear.

3. Listen to the call sign of the VOR beacon, having placed the switch of the subscriber's set of the SPU in the "RK1" position for the first subassembly and in the "RK2" position "for the second, and set switches "ARK1, VOR1" and "ARK2, VOR2" in the "VOR1" and VOR2" positions. In this case on the KUR scale of the USh it is possible to read the azimuths of VOR beacons, indicated by the ARK pointers.

4. On the radio-system selection panel set the operating mode of the equipment ("1," "Combined," "2").

A second second second second

5. Place the RMI flags in the "VOR1" and "VOR2" positions.

6. For flight to the VOR beacon or from it on the selector set the magnetic azimuth taken from the chart. In this case the label "To" or "From" respectively should light up.

In all cases, regardless of whether flight to the beacon or from it is accomplished, the magnetic azimuth will be close to the magnetic course and be different from it only by the magnitude of convergence of meridians, by the difference of magnetic declinations of the aircraft position and the installation point of the beacon, drift angle and error in the course system.

After setting the given azimuth by the position of the course tar of the NKP-4 the alreaft position is determined relative to the LZP, approach to it is performed and it is followed with the aid of the null indicator in the usual order. With this the pointers of the RMI during the entire flight show the azimuth of the VOR beacon, to which the subassemblies of KURS-MP-1 equipment have been tuned.

Approach to the VOR beacon is e^{-1} Led in the following manner: there is taken the MK, equ. to the azimuth taken from the RMI, it is set on the a much selector and the aircraft is piloted by the course bar (the NKP-4.

When taking the an much to the VOR beacon by the outer fixed scale of the USh opposite the sharp ends of indicator pointers it is necessary to place the switches "ARK1-VOR1" and "ARK2-VOR2" in the "VOR1" and VOR2" positions.

Landing by the ILS system:

1. Before switching on the power supply of the equipment check that the NKP-4 bars are in the cross-hairs of the scales, if not, then set them in this position with the mechanical correctors. One should remember that with power supply of equipment connected the indicated correction is forbidden, since this will lead to distortion of the NKP-4 readings.

2. Connect the power supply of KURS-MP-1 equipment.

3. On the control units of both subassemblies set the operating frequency of the ILS beacon.

4. On the control units of both subassemblies the operating frequency of the ILS beacon.

5. Place the switches on the RMI in the "ARK " and ARK2" or "VOR1" and "VOR2" positions depending on which radio aids will be used in the prelanding maneuver.

The readiness of the subassemblies of KURS-MP-1 equipment for operation with ILS beacons is determined by:

a) the course (" \dot{K} ") and glide-path ("G") signal lamps going out on the radio-system selection panel;

b) coverage of course (white) and glide-path (yellow) blinkers on NKP-4 instruments.

Landing by the SP-50 system:

1. Correction of the null indicator is performed exactly as when landing using the ILS system. One should remember that here correction is also forbidden with the power supply of

153

「おうちのない」というという

equipment connected, in order to avoid incorrect readings of NKF-4 instruments.

2. Connect the power supply of the equipment.

an production of a state of the contract of the state of the

3. On the radio-system selection panel place the switches in the "SP-50" positions, "Landing" and "1" positions.

4. On the control units of both subassemblies set the operating frequency of the 21-50 beacon of the landing airfield.

). On the RMI pices the switches in the "ARK1" and "ARK2" positions.

U. On ek the electrical null of equipment.

The alreault commander should check the placement of the switch levers on the radio-system selection panel in the "SP-50" and "1" position and press the "Balance-I" knob on the balance board. If 'n this case the course bar of the NKP-4 is not placed in the center of the null-indicator scale, then by rotating the pressed "Balance-II" knob to the right and left set the bar in the center of the cross-hairs, then release the knob. ういろう ひとう ちろうない

ころうちょう うちょうちょう いちをから していていていたい

With the "Balance-II" knob do the same operations for the second sub-states of equipment, having preliminarily placed the switch on the endio-system celection panel in the "p" position. It is necessary to remember that the electrical null can be checked only have a zone of coverage of the SP-50 radio range bencon with deflected course bars, signal lamps out and JKE-4 blinkers closed.

The readiness of the subassemblies of KURS-MP-1 equipment for operation with SP-50 beacons is determined by: à) course ("K") and glide-path ("G") signal lamps out on the radio-system selection panel; b) coverage of course and glide-path blinkers on NKP-4 instruments.

During piloting with the NKP-4 on the last straight line using both the SP-50 and ILS systems the usual procedure for landing approach by the course and glide-path systems is used.

AIRBORNE SYSTEM BSU-ZP

The BSU-ZP airborne control system consists of the following main parts:

1. Flight system "Put'-4MPA," providing:

a) aircraft control by the command pointers of the PP-1PM flight instruments during landing approach from the beginning of the 4th turn;

b) sending of command signals to the autopilot AP-6YeM-ZP through BS-3 coupler;

c) indivation of the basic aircraft location parameters.

2. The AP-6YeM-ZP autopilot, which accomplishes:

a) stabilization of center of gravity of the aircraft relative to a given trajectory, using the signals of the altitude corrector and "Put'-4MPA" system;

b) stabilization of the angular positions of the aircraft around the center of gravity under all operating conditions, starting with altitude 200 m, including during acceleration and braking.

AL SIGNAL STAND FROM THE JOUNDAN ALFORMENT. ON to all of AP the tree when blink i is cartched off, burton-ling "Cource" year on Star a let a fucio signal. Fignational "AF intervition" and "AF longitudi-to all dights due. In the PU of 21 the transfer and longi-tudin 1 bilinkers are sufficient off, thitton-things "Course" (and "Giide-path" go out AULIC STERAL. Signal ranal MAL LingtuaInal", "TrGV" and "Tath Longitudinal" light up. Cultic U of AD the Longi-tudinal blinker is sufficed off, a tron-lamp "Glide-path" Fullo signal. Signal perviver Patural', "Taly" and "Fata lateral" lights in. On the FU of A the transverse blinker is sultohed off, inthra-lisho "Course" goes out Signal panel "KRF" if the up. On the NKi-H the course blinker is open: On the NURS-PF-1 panel signaling K_1 and "Glide-He fore 50 s whatse after pressing the button-lamp "Gilde-rich": signal panel "JRF" lights up; on the NKP-4 the gifter th bither is open; on the KURS-KP-1 panel signaling G_1 and G_2 burns; button-lamp "Gilde-path" goes After 50 s glapse after pressing the button-lamp "Glide-path": Signal panel "GRP" lights up; on the NKP-h the glide-path beacon is open; on the KURS-MP-1 panel aignaling G_1 and G_2 lights up; button-lamp "Glide-path" K_2 lights up. On the PU of AT the button-lamp "Course" of AP A LINE AL HERE OF Or the PU On the signal path "Augeratic trip control" the UAT-3 lamp burns more than δ : 3ntbull of reactive mattine I-Gn the PU Signal panel "Path longiouting" lights up. of A. the putton-lamp "Glide-path" foes out 2. Cnal panel "Fath lateral" lights up. Us button-lamp "Gilde-path" gees out Audie (Frais Strath Company) the War strathe Jon . . . Butt - lary "Elling . . . 中方的 计容 cut, and "KV" - burns 11-11goes out × burne the signature of failure. EE , Traney. Misalignment of command point-err of lateral change of "rgut'-4MPA" by 6 rm ł 1 KUFS-WF-1 (or ground beacons) with respect to course 'pointers of longitualinal channel of "Put'-WWIA" by 6 Fallure of both sets of KURS-MP-1 (or ground equipment) with respect to Misalighment of lov with respect a pitching by 5° Misalignment of TeGV with prespect to bank by 10° Fallure of automatic twin Fallere of lor-1'udinal charged of AP Fallure of both sets of lisalignment of consud Fallure of 12. AP gilde path Table Ct. arpr. ach control

and the second

and the start of the

 $1 \leq \ell_1$

Table 27. Signaling of fallures of BSU-Z approach.	P and KURS-MP-1 during ground-controlled landing
Malfunction	Signaling
Misalignment of TsGV with respect to bank hy 10°	Signal panel "TsGV" and "Path lateral" lights up
Misalighment of TsGV with respect to pitch by 10°	Signal panel "TsGV" and "Path longitudinal" lights up
Misalignment of comand pointers of the lateral channel of "Put'-4MPA" system by 6 mm	Signal panel "Path lateral" lights up
Misalighment of comand pointers of limiting channel of "Put'-4MPA" system by 6 mm	Signal panel "Path longitudinal" lights up
Failure of both sets of KURS-MP-1 (or ground beacons) with respect to course	Signal panel "KRP" lights up. On the NKP-4 the course blinker is open
	On the KURS-MP-1 panel signaling K _l and G _l lights up
Failure of both sets of KURS-MP-1 (or ground beacons) with respect to glide path	Signal panel "GRP" lights up. On the NKP-4 the glide-path blinker is open
	On the KURS-MP-1 panel signaling G ₁ and G ₂ lights up
-	

Constant of

ふいきき 二天 みや

しいき しきてい きちきゆうち

いまち ちょうろう ちま ちちんち ちいちちんち

† 1.

1

į

able 28. Signaling of failures of BBSU-2P in the aircraft stabilization control modes mrough the autopilot. Signaling mailures of longitudinal channel Audio signal. Signal panel "AP longitudinal" lights up. ailures of longitudinal channel Audio signal. Signal panel "AP longitudinal" lights up. ailure of lateral channel of AP Audio signal. Signal panel "AP lateral" lights up. ailure of lateral channel of AP the bransverse stabilization blink is switched off witch transverse stabilization blink is switched off modes Audio signal. Signal panel "AP lateral" and "AP lateral" and "AP latert or alternating current undico signal. Signal panel "AP lateral" and "AP latert or alternating current and longitudinal" lights up. On the PU of AP the transverse stabilization blinker is switched off asilignment of TsGV with respect Audio signal. Signal panel "AP lateral" and "TsGV" lasalignment of TsGV with respect and longitudinal". Signal panel "AP longitudinal" and "TsGV" lights up. On the PU of AP the iongitudinal and "TsGV" lights up. On the PU of AP the iongulated off button-lamp to the PU of AP the longitudinal" and "TsGV" lights up. On the PU of AP the longitudinal and "TsGV" lights up. On the PU of AP the longitudinal and "TsGV" lights up. On the PU of AP the longitudinal and "TsGV" lights up. On the PU of AP the longitudinal and "TsGV" lights up. On the PU of AP the longitudinal and "TsGV" lights up. On the PU of AP the longitudinal stabilization blinker is switched off button-lamp tortool "TsGV" lights up. On the PU of AP the longitudinal "TsGV" sepect to pitching by 5° Stabilization blinker is switched off button-lamp tortool "TsGV" <td< th=""><th>is switched offailure of power supply of AP onirect or alternating currentirect or alternating currentinect or alternating currentinect or alternating currentis and longitudinal lights up.is alignment of TsGV with respecto bank by 10°is alignment of TsGV with respectand longitudinal.is alignment of TsGV with respectand longitudinal.is alignment of TsGV with respectand longitudinal.is alignment of TsGV witho bank by 10°button-lamp "KV" goes outis alignment of TsGV withis aligned to pitching by 5°is abilization bilinker is switched offbutton-lampis abilization bilinker is switched off, button-lampis allure of automatic trimon the Signal panel "Automatic trim control" lampis allure of automatic trimis allure of automatic trimis allure of signal panel and push button-lamps, depending on the layer of the signalingis failuresis allure of signal panel and push button-lamps, depending on the layer of the signalingis allure of signal panel and push button-lamps, but ton of signal panel and push button-lamp, but ton signal panel but to</th><th>isalignment of TsGV with respect [Audio signal. Signal panel "AP lateral" and "TsGV" o bank by 10° [lights up. On the PU of AP the transverse stabilization] blinker is switched off</th><th>ailure of power supply of AP on Audio signal. Signal panel "AP lateral" and "AP irect or alternating current longitudinal" lights up. On the PU of AP the transverse and longitudinal signaling blinkers are switched off, button-lamp "KV" goes out</th><th>ailure of lateral channel of AP Audio signal. Signal panel "AP lateral" lights up. On the PU of AP the transverse stabilization blinker is switched off</th><th>ailures of longitudinal channel Audio signal. Signal panel "AP longitudinal" lights up f AP is switched off, button-lamp "KV" goes out</th><th>Malfunction Signaling</th></td<>	is switched offailure of power supply of AP onirect or alternating currentirect or alternating currentinect or alternating currentinect or alternating currentis and longitudinal lights up.is alignment of TsGV with respecto bank by 10°is alignment of TsGV with respectand longitudinal.is alignment of TsGV with respectand longitudinal.is alignment of TsGV with respectand longitudinal.is alignment of TsGV witho bank by 10°button-lamp "KV" goes outis alignment of TsGV withis aligned to pitching by 5°is abilization bilinker is switched offbutton-lampis abilization bilinker is switched off, button-lampis allure of automatic trimon the Signal panel "Automatic trim control" lampis allure of automatic trimis allure of automatic trimis allure of signal panel and push button-lamps, depending on the layer of the signalingis failuresis allure of signal panel and push button-lamps, depending on the layer of the signalingis allure of signal panel and push button-lamps, but ton of signal panel and push button-lamp, but ton signal panel but to	isalignment of TsGV with respect [Audio signal. Signal panel "AP lateral" and "TsGV" o bank by 10° [lights up. On the PU of AP the transverse stabilization] blinker is switched off	ailure of power supply of AP on Audio signal. Signal panel "AP lateral" and "AP irect or alternating current longitudinal" lights up. On the PU of AP the transverse and longitudinal signaling blinkers are switched off, button-lamp "KV" goes out	ailure of lateral channel of AP Audio signal. Signal panel "AP lateral" lights up. On the PU of AP the transverse stabilization blinker is switched off	ailures of longitudinal channel Audio signal. Signal panel "AP longitudinal" lights up f AP is switched off, button-lamp "KV" goes out	Malfunction Signaling
---	--	--	---	---	--	-----------------------

158

143

, £16

and in the stration which a strategic files

and the state of the second state

100

NY AND A

Sec.

Sector Sector

MANAGER CONTRACTOR OF A CONTRACTOR OF

During stick control "Turn" or "Descent-Climb" the pilot can maneuver in horizontal and vertical planes, namely: go into a turn with bank up to 22° or change the pitch up to 10°.

3. <u>Automatic trim control AT-2</u>, which provides indication and automatic removal of forces by the elevator in the control system, which appear with change in the flight mode and the center of gravity position of the aircraft. The automatic trim control is turned on simultaneously with actuation of the longitudinal channel of the autopilot and it operates throughout the flight under the autopilot. When accomplishing automatic landing approach it is switched off simultaneously with cutoff of the autopilot by the rapid cutoff knob. ายการเลี้ยงได้เป็นสมบรณหมัด แล้วและได้เรื่อย่องที่สมบัณฑิต จากการเหล่ายการเข้าสมบัณฑิต สมบัณฑิต และก็ที่ได้กับการการก

The BSU-ZP system solves the following problems:

aut matic and command aircraft control during landing approach by the signals of radio beacons of the SP-50M system or ILS system up to altitude 60 m (from the beginning of the fourth turn on course; and by the longitudinal channel - from the moment of entry into the glide path);

the automatic stabilization of the angular position of the aircraft in space and the barometric flight alitude, and also the aircraft control through the autopilot in all ranges of operational altitudes, beginning with an alitutde of 200 m.

Furthermore, the BSU-ZP system makes it possible to accomplish combined aircraft control during the landing approach:

a) on course - automatically, on the glide path - on a directional pointer;

b) on course - on a directional pointer, on the glide path - automatically.

Also possible is a combination of automatic control on one of the channels with piloting on position strips on another channel.

Descripted bes (Werth Werth Comer

ないでいまいのかくちょうないのかの

Action of the Crew in the Case of Failures of the BSU-ZP

State of the State of the State

In the case of failures of the BSU-ZP the crew has to turn off the autopilot or to discontinue piloting by command pointers, if:

the signaling of failures of the BSU-ZP operates;

the bank of the aircraft when using the crank "Turn" is more than 25°;

the deviation of the aircraft from the course and glide path zones exceeds the permissible limits when passing the outer marker beacon and the inner marker beacon;

after inscription into the equisignal sector of the course the banks exceed 10°;

after inscription into the zone of the glide path the vertical rate of descent is greater than 6 m/s;

jerks or twitchings of the controls appear;

vertical overload changes by more than +0.5.

In the absence of visual orientation in the mode of automatic or command landing approach, having detected the failure of the BSU-ZP, it is necessary to turn off the autopilot by the rapid disconnect button and switch to manual piloting. If the autopilot is not switched off by the rapid disconnect button it is

necessary to immediately turn off consecutively the switches "AP podg," "Transverse," and "Longitudinal."

In the case of failure of the BSU-ZP the action of the crew should be the following.

In the mode of automatic landing approach:

tanih produku na na siste kan pangangan na sangan kan na na na sangan kan pangan kan pangan na na sangan na na

1. The triggering of signal panel "TsGV" with the simultaneous triggering of signal panel "AP lat." or AP long." and signal panel "Path lat." and "Path long." in the case of diconnection of the appropriate channel of the automatic machine with the delivery of sound signaling indicates the failure of one of the TsGV.

and the first state of the state of the set of the

With the triggering of the signal panel "TsGV" the crew has to:

disconnect the autopilot by the rapid disconnect button;

compare the readings of the PP-1PM instruments with the AGD-1 and EUP-53, determine if the PP-1PM is operable, i.e., the TsGV is operable and change over the switch key on it;

turn off the switches "AP podg," "Transverse," and "Longitudinal," whereupon the siren and signal panel cease to operate;

in forward flight correct course system;

in the condition of manual control for working with the PP-1PM and AGD-1 complete the landing approach.

On aircraft which have the BKG-l approach is solved in an automatic mode in the event of failure of one of the TsGV.

2. The triggering of the signal panel "AP lat." or "AP long." with the delivery of sound signaling attests to failure and disrépair of the appropriate channel of the autopilot. In this case the actions of the crew are the following: and the second of the

disconnect the autopilot by the rapid disconnect button;

compare the readings of the instruments of the PP-1PM with the AGD-1 and EUP-53, being certain of their soundness;

be certain of the soundness of the KS.

Repeated connection of the autopilot is permitted only if there is confidence that the disconnection was false, as occurs during the control from the cranks "Turn" and the "Descent-Climb" or during the lowering of flaps. It there is a repeated signal response of failure on the same channel it cannot be used and it is necessary to switch to manual piloting.

3. The prolonged (more than 6 s) burning of the AT-2 warning lamp with the simultaneous presence of non-trimmed forces in the elevator channel (on indicator UAT-3) attests to the failure of the automatic trimmer. On aircraft with an improved system in this case the signal panel "Automatic trimmer" and the tube for indication of forces burn. In this case it is necessary:

to turn off the longitudinal channel of the autopilot by the switch "Long." on the control panel while holding the control wheel by hand;

to remove the forces from the elevator by the mechanical trim tab;

to complete approach in the command mode of control on the longitudinal channel (at the moment of the entry into the glide path press and release the "Glide-path" button-lamp). and the state of the second second

4. The triggering of the signal panel "Path lat." or "Path long." indicates a breakdown of the command system. The crew should disconnect the appropriate channel of the autopilot and through this channel carry out the landing approach using the strip of position NKP-4.

The repeated connection of the autopilot is permitted if there is confidence that the signal response was false.

5. The triggering of the warring lamps "KRP" or "GRP" (in the modified system - by the signal panel "KRP," "GRP") and the dropping out of the appropriate indicators on the NKP-4 indicates the failure of both assemblies of KURS-MP-1 or the failure of ground beacons.

With this failure the appropriate channel of the autopilot is switched off and the crew performs the landing approach using the CSP and RSP systems [Translator's note: RSP - expansion unknown].

In the mode of command landing approach:

the second of the second se

1. The triggering of the signal panel "TsGV" with the simultaneous triggering of the signal panel "Path lat." or "Path long." indicates the failure of one of the T. W. In this case it is necessary:

to discontinue piloting on and pointers;

to compare the readings of the PP-1PM with the AGD-1 and
EUP-53, determine the operable TsGV, and set the TsGV switch on it;

Section 200

in forward flight to correct the course system;

to set the "STU" switch in the "Off" position;

on the working PP-1PM and AGD-1 to complete the landing approach.

2. The triggering of the signal panel "Path lat." or "Path long." indicates disrepair of the command system. In this case the crew must:

discontinue piloting on command pointers;

set the "STU" switch in the "Off" position;

be convinced of the FP-1PM, having compared their readings with the readings of the AGD-1 and EUP-53;

complete the landing approach on the KGG, OSP, and RSP.

3. The triggering of the warning lamps "KRP" and "GRP" and the falling out of the appropriate drops on the NKP-4 attests to the failure of both KURS-MP-1 assemblies or the ground beacons. With this failure the crew should make the landing approach using the OSP, RSP and the working channel of the KGG.

In the mode of automatic stabilization and aircraft control through the autopilot:

1. The trigrering of the signal panel "TsGV" with the simultaneous triggering also of the signal panel "AP lat." or

a School of a state of the second state of the second

"AP long." and the disconnection of the corresponding channel of the autopilot with the delivery of sound signaling indicates the failure of one of the TsGV.

Having seen the triggering of the signal panel "TsGV" the crew is obliged;

to disconnect the autopilot by the rapid disconnect button;

by a comparison of the readings of the PP-1PM with the AGD-1 and EUP-53 to determine the operable TsGV and to set on it the switch "TsGV";

to turn off the switch "AP podg." having thus terminating the signaling of the siren and signal panel;

in forward flight to conrrect the KS;

if on the aircraft there is a BKG-1, to again connect the automatic machine. In the absence of BKG-1 repeated starting of the autopilot is forbidden.

2. The triggering of the signal panel "AF lat." or "AP long." with the delivery of sound signaling attests to disconnection and disrepair of the corresponding channel of the autopilot.

The crew should:

And a state of the second state of the

turn off the appropriate switch "transverse" or "long.";

compare the readings of the PP-1PM with the AGD-1 and EUP-53 and be certain of their soundness;

be convinced of the soundness of the course system.

If the crew if confident that the signal response of failure was false, repeated connection of the autopilot is permitted, but without its use in the event of a secondary signal response.

NAMES AN ADDRESS OF ADDRESS OF ADDRESS AND ADDRESS AND ADDRESS ADDR

こころのない、このないないないないないないないない、いろうちょうないとう

and a second second

and the second second

3. Prolonged, more than 6 s, burning of AT-2 warning lamps with the simultaneous presence of untrimmed forces in the elevator channel (based on the UAT-3) indicates the failure of the automatic trimmer. If on the aircraft the system has been modified, then in the event of failure the signal panel of the "Autotrimmer" and the tube for indication of forces light up.

In the event of fai. re of the automatic trimmer the crew must:

turn off the longitudinal channel of the autopilot while holding the steering control manually;

remove the force from the steering control by the mechanical elevator trim tab;

turn off the AZS-AT-2;

again turn on the longitudinal channel of the autopilot;

After this acceleration and wraking are carried out with the longitudinal channel of the autopilot turned off.

In 1-1.5 h switch the autopilot off and on, thus removing the forces from the elevator control and the mechanical trim tab.

NAVIGATION COMPUTER

to be all only on the second of the second

The navigation computer is intended for automatic air navigation on route and in the zones of airports for departure and landing. It ensures: the continuous automatic determining of the presentposition data of aircraft in the main or particular coordinate system by the method of dead reckoning;

the conversion of calculated coordinates of the aircraft;

and the second second

a) in flight in the main orthodrome - relative to the introduced coordinates of the intermediate points of the route;

b) in flight in a particular orthodrome - relative to the following section of route;

flight by the shortest distance to any point of the route.

the correction of calculated coordinates according to the radio equipment of the RSBN system (automatically) and based on radar reference points using the RPSN radar (semi-automatic);

the interpretation of radar unidentified reference point according to data from the RPSN;

the determining and display of wind velocity and wind direction;

the delivery of ZPU signals to the NPP and USh-3 indicators;

forming and delivery into the automatic device of the ready signals of the lateral deviation and course angle of the OZPU.

In calculator the digital method is used for the indication of all parameters, except the values of IZPU, OZPU, U and δ , which are counted off on the sliding scales of master indicators. The calculator ensures the motor installation, automatic input, and indication of the following parameters:

San bake Sat Berkins in the set of the set

the coordinates of the aircraft X_c and Y_c - on the calculator-indicators of units P-2-1 and P-3-1;

current calculated particular orthodromic coordinates Z and S relative to assigned course - on counters on which the lamps with the symbols "Z" and "S" are lit up;

the current orthodromic coordinates of aircraft X and Y in the main orthodromic coordinate system - on the counters with display lamps "X" and "Y";

the current particular orthodromic converted coordinates of the aircraft Z_{np} and S_{np} relative to the following assigned course line - on counters without the literal signaling of coordinates;

the coordinates of intermediate point $X_{\Pi}(Z)_{\Pi}$ and $Y_{\Pi}(S)_{\Pi}$ on counters with display lamps which have the appropriate designations;

「ある」の「あるのないない」というないないとうないというというでき、いい

coordinates $Z_{pc}(Z_p)$, $S_{pc}(S_p)$, $X_{pc}(X_p)$ and $Y_{pc}(Y_p)$, the beacons of the RSBN or the radar reference points relative to the current assigned track or main orthodrome - on counters on which the display lamps with the appropriate images are lit up;

the given course angle OZPU1 of the current specified track on scale No. 1 and the given course angle OZPU2 of the following specified track on scale No. 2 of the master-indicator of the OZPU of unit P-12, true given course angel (IZPU) or the orthodromic track angle of the meridian (OPUM) on the scale of the IZPU controller unit P-9;

the velocity and direction of wind - on the scale of the wind controller (unit NV-2P), the distance which remains to the PPM, and number of the nearest PPM or TPM on unit P-33.

The Preparation of Data for Programming of Flight

For the accomplishing of flight using the navigation computer the navigator has to prepare the following data:

given course angles;

the middle latitude of the sections of route;

the length of the sections of route;

the rectangular coordinates of radio correction aids;

the azimuths of orthodromes relative to the meridians of the RSBN ground beacons.

The given course angles of the sections of route are determined from the formulas:

 $3\Pi \mathbf{y}_{i} = \alpha_{\mathbf{g}} + \sigma_{\Sigma} + \delta_{\mathbf{x}\mathbf{n}};$ $3\Pi \mathbf{y}_{2} = 3\Pi \mathbf{y}_{1} + \mathbf{y}\Pi_{i};$ $3\Pi \mathbf{y}_{\mathbf{g}} = 3\Pi \mathbf{y}_{\mathbf{g}-1} + \mathbf{y}\Pi_{\mathbf{g}-1},$

where ZPU_1 , ZPU_2 , ..., ZPU_n - the given course angles of sections of route;

 $\sigma_{\Sigma}^{}$ - the total convergency of meridians between the IPM and KPM;

 $\sigma_{_{\rm MD}}$ - the magnetic declination of the landing airfield;

 α_{μ} - the azimuth of the orthodrome relative to the meridian of the IPM;

 UP_1 , UP_2 , ..., UP_{n-1} - the angles of turn (Fig. 94).



「ないない」とないないないないないないないないないである

attered and a strand a district and the second and and a second a second a second as

President and the states a successive states and

Departure from the airfield zone can be accomplished by two methods. If aircraft before leaving on the IPM (the last point of the exit corridor) should pass over several sections of small length, then the mode of the main orthodrome ("GO") and shortest distance ("KR") is used. In the remaining cases the mode of particular orthodrome ("ChO") is used.

Departure of the Aircraft from the Airfield Zone in the Mode "GO"

1. Before taxiing out for a takeoff (after turning on the A7S):

set the "G(-ChO" switch in the position "GO";

turn on the toggle switch "Network";

on the X_e and Y_c indicators set the values X = 0 and Y = 0;

on the master-indicator of the OZPU set the value of the magnetic heading of takeoff;

on the master-indicator of the PPM coordinates set the value of PPM coordinates in the zone of the airfield;

turn on the toggle switch "KR" on the P-14 unit.

On the master-indicator of the $OZPU_2$ the ZPU on the first PPM from the center of the RW should be developed.

On the counters of present-position data "Z" and "S" Z = 0and S should be worked out equal to the distance from the center of the RW to the PPM₁. One should compare this value with that taken from a map and on the master-indicator for the coordinate of correction and IZPU the data for correction is set.

2. After taxiing to the axis of the RW carry out the initial display of the TKS-P gyro-assemblies.

Set the switch "Users" in the position "Counter."

Place switch "Calculate" in the position "Anal." (during take-off run).

3. At an altitude of 1000 m connect the calculator.

4. During approach to the PPM, at a distance of 10-20 km from it:

turn on the toggle switch "KS" on the P-14 unit;

on the indicators of PPM coordinates set the value of the next PPM coordinates.

5. After flight over the PPM the toggle switch "KS" is turned off. The aircraft will follow to the next PPM. The correction of coordinates according to the RSBN is performed when necessary.

6. After turning on the IPM (the last PPM in the zone of the airfield) switch to the calculation of coordinates in the mode "ChO," for which:

A \$1 MAY \$34 TO \$27 TO \$35

toggle switch "KR" on unit P-14 is turned off;

the switch "GO-ChO" is set in position "ChO";

on the master-indicator of the OZPU of unit P-12 set the ZPU value, and on the PPM set the distance to the IPM.

7. After flight over the IPM on the master-indicator of the PFM of units P-4 and P-5 set the value Z = 0 and S equal to the length of the second section of the route.

The order of operation in the following stages is analogous.

The Departure of an Aircraft from the Zone of an Airfield and Flight Enroute in the Mode "ChO"

As the IPM the center of the RW of the airfield of takeoff is taken.

1. Before taxiing:

the switch "LZP-1-LZP-2" is set in the position "LZP-1";

the switch "GO-ChO" - in the position "ChO";

the toggle switch "Network" is turned on;

on the counters of the present-position data of units P-2and P-3 set the values Z = 0 and S equal to the length of the first section of route; on the master-indicator of unit P-12 set the values of ZPU_1 and ZPU_2 ;

on the controllers of the PPM coordinates of units P-4 and P-5 set the values Z = 0 and S equal to the length of the second section of route;

switch "LZP-1"-"LZP-2" is set in a neutral position.

2. Having taxied to the axis of the RW, set the initial display of the TKS-P gyro-assemblies and set the switch "Users" in the position "Contr."

3. During the take-off run in the center of the RW the switch "Calculate" on unit P-14 is set in the position "Anal." or "Pulsea."

4. During the climb to 1000 m follow the PPM, having hooked up the calculator.

On the master-indicator of the OZPU of unit P-12 advance the value of the ZPU of the next section of the LZP.

On the controllers of PPM coordinates of units P-4 and P-5 set the value Z = 0 and S equal to the length of the next section of track.

Flight on the Shortest Distance with Calculation of Coordinates in the Mode "ChO"

The mode "KR" (shortest distance) is used if necessary for changing the route and going to a new PPM.

For this it follows:

on the controllers of the PPM coordinates of units P-4 and P-5 set coordinates Z and S of this PPM relative to the current track.

The given course angle of new PPM should be worked out on the free master-indicator of the OZPU, and on the free counters of present-position data values Z = 0 and S equal to the distance to the new PPM should be developed;

and the second second

switch "LZP-1-LZP-2" is set in a neutral position.

With this the aircraft will follow the shortest distance to the new PPM.

Correction of Calculated Coordinates According to the RSBN

On the controllers of correction coordinates of units P-6 and P-7 set the value of the rectangular coordinates Z_p and S_p relative to the current assigned track.

On the master-indicator of the IZPU of unit P-9 set the azimuth of the current orthodrome relative to the meridian of the ground beacon.

127

Turn on the toggle switch "Plot" (plotting).

If the "plotted" azimuth and distance, projected on the PPDA-Sh, differ considerably from actual, projected by the RSBN, it is necessary to make a correction:

turn off toggle switch "Plot";

the "Correction" switch of unit P-14 is set in the position "RSBN-500."

On the navigator's signal panel the label "Coord. RSBN" will light up.

When the signals of the azimuth and distance of the RSBN are present in 3-5 s the label will go out and the correction of coordinates calculated in the NV will occur. After this it is necessary to turn off the correction switch of unit P-14.

If after this "plotting" the azimuth and distance again differ considerably from actual, one ought to check the correctness of the advanced data for correction and with the help of the other means to determine if there actually is a considerable error in the NV-PB in determining the present-position data of aircraft, whereupon correction from the RSBN is carried out.

The Correction of Calculated Coordinates of an Aircraft According to Airborne Radar

atomate bitter a sine to this in the start wat the second start

On the controllers of the correction coordinates of units P-6 and P-7 set the rectangular coordinates of the selected radar reference point relative to the current specified track.

The correction switch of unit P-14 is set in "RLV calc."

On the radar screer an electronic crcss will be shaped in the form of an azimuthal mark and distance ring. The non-coincidence of the center of the cross with the mark of the selected reference point will be equal to error in determining the coordinates of the aircraft. With considerable errors one ought to make a correction of the coordinates of the aircraft;

the correction switch is set in the position "RLV corr.";

with the control lever of the electronic switch combine the

center of the cross with the mark of the radar reference point on the screen of indicator;

based on the correction performed the correction switch is set in the "Off" position.

Approach to an Airfield with Calculation of the Coordinates of the Aircraft in the Mode "GO"

1. During approach to the first PPM of the entry corridor of the landing airfield or to the KPM at a distance of 50-70 km;

on the free scale of the master-indicator of the OZPU of unit P-12 set the magnetic heading of landing;

on the master-indicator of the PPM of units P-4 and P-5set the rectangular coordinates of the PPM and KPM relative to the center of the RW of the landing airfield;

the switch "GO-ChO" is set in the position "BO";

toggle switch "KR" is turned on.

2. During approach to the PPM at a distance of 15-90 km;

the toggle switch "KS" of unit P-14 is turned on;

on the master-indicators of the PPM of units P-4 and P-5 set the rectangular coordinates of the next PPM i. the zone of the airfield;

turn off toggle switch "KS."

and the second second

3. During approach to the first point of the large rectangular route use the coordinates in the mode "GO" relative to the center of the RW based on the counters of current coordinates of units P-2 and P-3, on which the symbols "X" and "Y" are lit up.

THE NAVIGATION SLIDE RULE NL-10m

and the second as the second as successive strategy in the second second second second second second second sec

The purpose of the scales on the navigation computer (Fig. 95):

1, 2 - for the calculation of path time, of ground speed, for the solution of multiplication and division problems;

la - for the calculation of the parameters of turn;

3, 4, 5 - for determining the trigonometric functions of . angles, values of products a sin α and b tg β , for the solution of navigational triangle by the theorem of sines, and for the calculation of the radius of turn (roll angle);

6 - for squaring and taking the square root (jointly with scale 5 or 1 and 2);

7, 8, 9 - for the recomputation of flight altitude at H < < 12,000 m;

10, 12, 14, 15 - for the recomputation of flight altitude at H > 12,000 m;

11, 12, 14, 15, 16 - for the recomputation of airspeed with the usual (non-combined) speed indicator

11, 13, 14, 15, 16 - for the recomputation of airspeed with a combined speed indicator;



William D

ndenther detroiter all a chaine ar a chaine traite and the state of the second s

Cirr (z) Runce (zm): (b) Angle of turn; (c) Velcetry (zm/nr); (d) Time (in min or s); (e) afnes; (r, Time (in Ar ar min); (z) UV-IV-FV; (h) Tangents; (1) Radres of turn; (5) Renge; (z) Altitude; (1) Adjusted altitudes. (r) Por slutudeo; (n) Tangar sture for altitude; (o) For velocity, (p) Instrument altitude (in m); (q) Instrument altitude and velocity; (r) instrument slutudes; (c) Adjuiced altitude and velocity.

\$

17 - for the measurements of distances on a map.

The Solution of Basic Problems on the NL-10m

1. The calculation of horizontal range by height and slant range. Key - Fig. 96.

Example. Given hD = 26 km; N = 9 km [Translator's note: HA = ND and H = N].

Find: $\alpha = 20.2$ and then GD = 24.3 km.

2. Determining the radius of turn based on angle of bank and rate of turn. Key - Fig. 97.



Example: 1. Given: V = 500 km/h; $\beta = 15^{\circ}$. Find: R = 7.35 km.

2. Given: V = 250 km/h; $\beta = 50^{\circ}$. Find: R = 415 m.

Note. Using the foregoing keys for the solution of problems, it is possible to find the value of any magnitude entering into the given problem based on two known values.

3. Calculation of the corrected altitude of flight according to the reading of a pressure altimeter. Note. The value of temperature of height of flight taken from a thermocouple during all calculations of altitude and velocity must be corrected for the heat absorption of the sensitivity of the element of thermocouple according to scale 16 and calculated according to the formula found on the right of scale 16

$$n_{cup} = t_{np} - \Delta$$
.

For altitudes up to 12,000 m (Fig. 98).

Example. Given $H_{np} = 2200 \text{ m}$; $t_0 = +25^\circ$; $t_{np} H = +18^\circ$; V = 560 km/h.

We find:

$$l_{H} = l_{np}_{H} - \Delta l = +18 - 9 = +9^{\circ};$$

 $l_{g} + l_{H} = +25 + 9 = +34^{\circ};$
 $H_{uenp} = 2270 \text{ m}.$

4. The calculation of true airspeed according to the reading of a speed indicator for speed indicators of the type $KUS=12^{(i)}$ (Fig. 99) [Translator's note: HYC = KUS = combined airspeedindicator].



Example. Given: $t_{np H} = +5^{\circ}$; $V_{HYC} = 650$ km/h; $H_{np} = 4500$ m. We find: $t_{H} = +5 - 11 = -6^{\circ}$; $V_{ucnp} = 660$ km/h.

5. Determining the time of turn and on an angle different from 360° .

Example 1 (Fig. 100). Given: V = 500 km/h; R = 3000 m; $YP = 100^{\circ}$. We find: $t_{360} = 2 \text{ min } 17 \text{ s}$; $t_{yP} = 38 \text{ s}$.

Example 2 (Fig. 101). Given: $t_{360} = 2 \min 17 \text{ s}$; $y_P = 60^{\circ}$. We find: $t_{y_P} = 23 \text{ s}$.



6. Determining the time of turn of an aircraft on 360° from the angle of the bank and rate of turn and on an angle different from 360° .

Example 1 (Fig. 102). Given: $V = 600 \text{ km/h}; \beta = 20^{\circ}$. We find: $t_{360} = 290 \text{ s}$.

Example 2 (Fig. 103). Given: $t_{360} = 290$ s; $YP = 110^{\circ}$. We find: $t_{YP} = 89$ s:

()	***	* T
S 1.105"	1	•
Fig. 1	02.	

7

r K

•		•	340-
0	•		1 260.
$\overline{\textcircled{O}}$, t _p it		1 pe 14
Fig.	103.		

and the second of the second s

ł

. . .

Determining the relationships between flight speed and M number with the help of the NL-10M

Billing and a Barrena at mouse of

On scale 12 of the "Indicated altitude (km)" slide inle a graduation line is plotted which corresponds to the flight altitude 3250 m, the continuation of which is designated by a clicular index. When the air temperature at the altitude of flight according to scale 11 "Temperature at altitude for speed" is set against this reference line, on scales 14 "Corrected altitude and speed" and 15 "Altitude and indicated airspeed" the relationship between air speed in kilometers per hour (scale 14) and M number (scale 15) is automatically calculated. On scale 15 the Mach number, equal to a unit, has a corresponding rectangular index with numbering 1000 (airspeed on scale 14 against this index is equal to the speed of sound).

In order to determine the speed of sound expressed in meters per second on scale 15 it is necessary to plot the graduation mark which corresponds to division 277.5, and designate it by index "a." Opposite this index according to scale 14 the speed of sound in meters per second is read off.

At the end of scale 14 it is necessary to place a supplementary designation "1" (true speed), while at the end of scale 15 - the designation "M."

Example. Air speed is limited by M number = 0.83, the air temperature at the flight height -45° C, determine the maximum value of airspeed.

Solution. Opposite the round index on scale 12 we set the air temperature according to scale 11, equal to -45° C. M number = = 0.83 corresponds to an air speed of 900 km/hr. The speed of sound at this temperature is equal to 1085 km/hr, or 302 m/s.

Calculation of landing approach on a rectangular route with a left-hand turn in a cross wind from the moment of passing the outer marker beacon [DPRM]

1. Determine the value of the wind angle to the runway [RW] (BNN) - YB $_{\rm noc}$ using the formula

$SB_{noc} = \delta - \Pi M \Pi S$.

[landing (magnetic) track angle [PMPU] (NMNY)]

2. Determine the value of the lateral component of wind velocity to the landing strip - ΔU_6 (Fig. 104)

 $\Delta U_6 = U \sin y B_{noc}$.

Fig. 104.

3. Determine the value of the counter component of wind velocity to the RW - $\Delta U_{_{\rm D}}$ (Fig. 105)

 $\Delta U_{n} = U \sin (90 - YB_{noc}).$

() (90.VB) () Fig. 105 () J, U

4. Det armine the value of the drift angle for a straight line from the beam of the outer marker beacon to the beginning of the third turn (Fig. 106)

 $\operatorname{tg} \operatorname{VC}_{\mathbf{s}} = \frac{\Delta U_{\mathcal{S}}}{V}$.

5. Determine the value of lead for the beginning of the third turn (Fig. 107)

$$t_{ynp} = \frac{\Delta U_{a} (t_{np} + t_{pasa})}{W_{np}},$$

where typp - lead time;

となきはなどしいないなどがに

- t_{πp} flight time from the beam of the outer marker beacon in a calm;
- t pass time for the third turn;

 $W_{\Pi P}$ - ground speed from the beam of the outer marker beacon before the beginning of the third turn $(V_{\mu} + V_{B})$.

6. Determine the time of onset of the third turn using the formula

Inay, 1435 -- Inay, 1430, 107 -- fypp.

7. Determine the value of the drift angle for a straight line from the third to the fourth turn - US_3 [YC₃] (Fig. 108)

$$\operatorname{tg} VC_{\mathbf{s}} = \frac{\Delta U_{\mathbf{s}}}{V}.$$

8. Determine the value of magnetic course for a straight line from the third to the fourth turns - $MK_3 = MPU_3 [M\Pi Y_3] - US_3$.

9. Determine the KUR for the beginning of the fourth turn - KUR_{ll} by the formula

$$\mathsf{KNP}_{\mathbf{4}} \leftarrow \mathsf{KNP}_{\mathsf{int}} + \mathsf{NC}_{\mathbf{5}} \pm (\Delta^{\bullet}_{\mathsf{KNP}}),$$

 $\Delta_{\rm KIIR}$ - is determined on the NL-10 (key see on Fig. 109),

where S - the distance from the beam of the outer marker beacon to the straight line between the third and fourth turns;

- BU [5Y] (lateral deviation) the product of the time of turn (t_{pays}) by the lateral component of wind velocity to the landing pattern $(\Delta U_{c});$
 - $\Delta_{\rm KUR}$ is taken with the "plus" sign at $\Delta U_{\rm G}$ incidental and "minus" at $\Delta U_{\rm G}$ counter to the straight line from the third to the fourth turns.

10. Determine the value of the drift angle for the last straight line - US $_{\rm noc}$ (Fig. 110).

George Martin and the state of the state of

$$ig \ VC_{noc} = \frac{\Delta U_6}{V_{cp}}.$$

11. Determine the value of the magnetic course for the last straight line - MK_{noc} using the formula

$MK_{uoc} = \Pi M\Pi Y - YC_{uoc}$.

12. Determine the distance to the RW from the entrance point to the glide path - S_{TEF} (Fig. 111)

$$S_{TB\Gamma} = \frac{H_{BX}}{Ig} YH\Gamma$$

[TEF - entrance point to glide path] where H_{BX.FA} - altitude of entry to glide path; UNG [YHF] - angle of tilt of glide path.

13. Determine the time of flight from the outer marker beacon to the RW - T (Fig. 112)

THOR THE SWCP .

14. Determine the vertical rate of descent from the outer marker beacon to the RW (Fig. 113)

 $V_{\text{sept}} = \frac{H}{t}$.



Ø<u>νς,</u> Ø<u>ν</u>,

Fig. 108.

Fig. 109.

というないとうというたいのないないであるというか



Éig. 111.



Fig. 112.





NRK-2 NAVIGATIONAL COMPUTER

Purpose and performance data

The NRK-2 navigational computer developed by M. V. Kalashnikov is a computing instrument intended for making navigational calculations during preflight operations and in flight.

With the help of the navigational computer the following problems are solved:

the calculation of drift angle, ground speed, the angle between course and wind direction, flight course of actual track course based on the known wind vector;

determining wind from the known angle of drift and ground speed, from two drift angles, and from two ground speeds;

determining the route traversed, speed, and flight time;

determining the radius and time of turn on assigned angle based on known velocities and angle of bank; recalculation of true speed into instrument and instrument into true in the range of 100-2500 km/hr;

determining the M number which corresponds to the assigned flight speed and vice versa;

determining the correction for air compressibility into readings of the wide points on the aerodynamic speed indicators;

conversion of true altitude into indicated and indicated into true in the range of 100-25,000 m;

determining the values of trigonometric functions, multiplication and division of numbers into the trigonometric functions of angles.

Forthermore the navigational computer makes it possible to carry out some other mathematical calculations, and also to convert nautical and English miles into kilometers, feet into meters, millimeters of mercury column into millibars, degrees into radianc, and vice versa.

The over-all dimensions of the navigational computer are $130 \times 11 \text{ mm}$.

Table 29. Scales and nomograms on the NRK-2.

40 M P

ŧ,

STREET, STREET

~ ~

J.			, ,	_
а. Т.	Name (purpose) of the	Intervals of gradu-	Scale v	value
No	Scare of Homogram	action of the scales	Smallest	Greatest
l	Speed (km/h)	1-2,500 km/h	0.1 km/h	50 km/h
2	Tangents of angles	1-85°	l°	l°
3	Percentages: of relative ground speed of relative wind velocity	70-130% 4-30%	1% 0.1%	1%
Ц	Rate/velocity	$1_{-2} 500 \text{ km/h}$	0.1 km/h	50 km/h
۲		1 2 500 km	lem	Jo Riny II
_		T-2,000 Kin	KIII -	, Kill
5	in seconds and minutes in minutes and hours	; 1-100 min (s) 1-10 h	1/6 s 1.0 s	0.5 min / 0.5 h
	Nomograms: a) concentric circles for the reading of relative wind	0-204		5%
	b) arcs for the reading of relative vectors		± /0	, ri of
	c) vertical lines for the reading of drift	70-130%	1%	2%
	angles	0-17°	1°	5°
	d) heading line	70-130%	1%	5%
	e) scales for angle between course and wind direction (KUV)	0-360°	10°	. 30°
	f) scale for wind disk	0-30% or m/s	1% (m/s)	5% (m/s)
6	Sines of angles in degrees	6-90°	l°	1°
7	True air speeds	100-2,500 km/h	2 km/h	50 km-h
8	Indicated, equivalent airspeeds and M numbers	100-2,500 km/h	2 km/h	50 km/h

TUNT	<u>c c). bouaco ana nomogram</u>	on one min ha (oom	Janaca)	
lo. of . scale	Name (purpose) of the scale or nomogram	Intervals of gradu- ation of the scales	Smallest	Greatest
20			DIRCLICOU	
9	Correction in the readings of the electrical outside- air temperature gauges:		-	2
	for TUE for TNV	4-1009 2-1409	22°	20°
10	Indicated altitudes	0-11 km	l km	l km
11	Indicated altitudes	0-25 km	0.5 km	0.5 km
12	Invicated altitudes	0-11 km	l km	l km
13	Values of outside air temperature	From +30 to -80°	10°	1.0°
<u>1</u> 4	Correction in speed for compressibility of air	10-170 km/h	10 km/h	10 km/h
15	Indicated airspeeds	400-1,300 km/h	100 km/h	100 km/h
16	Indicated altitudes	2-25 km	l km	l km
17	Values of the true or corrected barometric height less than 12,000 m	10.0 -12, 000 m	100 m	100 m
18	Indicated altitudes	1000-12,000 m	100 m	100 m
19	Indicated altitudes	100-1200 m	1.0-	-50 m
20	Sums of the air temperatures at the ground and at that altitude	From +80 to -120°	10°	ŀ0°
21	Air temperature at that altitude	From -30 to -90°	20°	20°
22	Values of the true or corrected altitude above 12,000 m	12,000-25,000 m	100 m	200 m
23	Values of indicated altitude above 12,000 m	12,000-25,000 m	100 m	200 m
-	• المريد التركيم المريد الم			

Table 29. Scales and nomograms on the NRK-2. (Continued)

 $\cdot h$

Serenau .

And the set of the set

State State States

25

- - 1 **-**

27 2 E







Ľ

AND A COM

Construction and the principles of operation

The NRK-2 navigational computer (Fig. 114, 115) consists of four disks which rotate around a common axis. The disks have logarithmic and other scales and a nomogram plotted on them and also indices and transparent windows for reading the corresponding scales of assigned or desired values. One disk is the base navigational computer, scales are plotted on both sides, the other disks (two - on the face side, one - on the reverse) have a smaller diameter and are movable. For reading there are aiming rules (Fig. 116).

On the face side of the navigational computer (see Fig. 114) on the base and on the two rotating disks there are scales, nomograms, and indices which form a drift computer and ensure the graphical solution of the navigational velocity triangle.

The principle of solution of navigational velocity triangle on the drift computer of the NRK-2 is based on the fact that the vectors of air and ground speeds and wind are represented in relative values. Thus the vector of airspeed \overline{V} is accepted as 100%, and the vectors of ground speed \overline{W} and wind \overline{U} correspondingly as

W 100 U V 100. and



Fig. 116. Rules for the rule (a) and face (b) sides of the NRK-2 Signs and indices on the face side of the computer

● 90* ●1360* - round indices, colored black on a gray movable disk on scale 2 (tangents) for determining the turning time of an aircraft on any angle up to 360°

- triangular index on scale 5 (time) serves for the solution of problems connected with determining the flight time, distance covered, and ground speed. Corresponds to a division of 60 min or 1 h (60 s or 1 min)
- triangular index, colored black against a gray background on scale 2 (tangents), which corresponds to a division of 45° for the solution of problem with the trigonometric functions of the tangents of angles.
- Ŷ
- figure index, colored black on scale 2 (tangents), serving for the solution of problems on the determinations of radii of turn of the aircraft
- [0]
- rectangular index on scale 5 (time) is used as the initial prime of the scale
- **(**
- circular index on scale 5 serves for the conversion of velocity expressed in km/h into velocity expressed in m/s. It corresponds to a division of 36 (3.6).

On the back side of the computer

100 k000

triangular indices. Upper - on the base of the computer, lower - on the gray movable disk on scales 7 and 8. They serve for the designation of decimal

intervals of the scales and are used during multiplication and division of numbers

- indices on the base of computer on scale 7 for the am mm conversion of kilometers into English and nautical miles and vice versa
 - ſ
- index of the relationship of the circumference length to the radius on scale 7, used when determining the circumference length
- index on scale 7, used for the conversion of feet into meters and vice versa
- a m/s index on scale 8 for determining the speed of sound in m/s
- a km/h index on scale 8 which corresponds to M-1 number. Airspeed against this index, equal to the speed of sound in km/h, is calculated according to scale 7
- rhombic index on scale 18 which corresponds to a division of 11,000 m and serves for determining H
- triangular index colored black on scale 19. Is installe¹ for reading scale 20, which corresponds to the sum of the temperatures at the ground and at the altitude of flight

circular index on scale 21 which corresponds to temperature at altitude of flight

- figure index on the base of the computer on scale 17, serving for determining of M number based on assigned airspeed and vice versa
- Har figure index on the base of the computer on scale 15, serving for determining the correction in velocity for compressibility
- mm Hg cm index on the basis of the computer on scale 7, serving for the conversion of millibars into mm Hg and vice versa.

On the rotating disk of the back side, furthermore, there are formulas, by which the conversion of altitude and speed is conducted. The upper row of signs in the formulas is used in the conversion of the indicated values into true, the lower row during the conversion is conducted with the navigational computer's help.

The order of solution of problems

Dм

1. The conversion of speeds expressed in km/h into the speeds expressed in m/s, and vice versa, and also the calculation of sweep, speed and flight time is accomplished by the same rules as on the NL-10m with the help of scales 4 and 5 (see Fig. 115).

2. Calculation of the flight course and ground speed based on the known wind vector.

On the wind computer set the triangular index of time scale 5 on the division of speed scale 4 which corresponds to the

value of assigned airspeed V km/h. On the scale of percentages¹ based on the wind velocity U km/h determine the value of relative wind velocity U% (or U/V 100).

Expand the course dial so that opposite the pointer of the course line of the nomogram the division of the course scale which corresponds to the magnetic wind bearing δ would be set, and opposite the division of the heading line which corresponds to U%, on the dial with a pencil place a mark which is the end of relative wind velocity.

an a mana canyang na kanyang na kanyang na kanyang sa kanyang sa kanyang sa

Opposite the pointer of heading line set the value of given magnetic course angle (ZMPU). On the nomogram opposite the mark which was made count off the value of the drift angle (US). Determine the assigned heading of the aircraft by the formula ZMK = ZMPU = US and set it opposite the pointer (or expand the dial on the hour hand - in the case of right drift, opposite the hour hand - in the case of left by the value of the US). Opposite the wind mark, using lines a and arcs b of the nomogram, measure off the refined values of US and relative ground speed² W%. (If the new value of drift angle is different from the first by more than 1°, set the magnetic heading taking this US into account opposite the pointer of the heading line.)

²Divisions on the upper part of the heading line of the nomogram are enumerated 5, 10, ..., 25%, which when reading values relative to ground speed correspond to 105, 100, ..., 125%.

¹The scale of percentages has numbered divisions from 4 to 30, and the divisions which correspond to 7, 8, ..., 13, are numbered respectively 70, 80, ..., 130 and the intervals between them are divided into ten parts. Thanks to this with the help of the scale it is possible to convert the values of relative ground speed W% (or W/V 100) into absolute values and vice versa within the limits of 70-130%, and U% within the limits -1-30% (for example, opposite the division 100% the velocity which corresponds to 1 and 10% can be measured oft).

Having checked that the triangular index of the time scale is set at the value of airspeed, from the value of W% obtained with the help of the scale of percentages determine the value of ground speed in km/h.

and the second of the second second

Example. Given: the V = 900 km/h; $\delta = 85^{\circ}$; U = 120 km/h; ZMPU = 335°. Find: U% = 13%, US + 7°; W% = 95%; W = 885 km/h; MK = 328°.

3. The calculation of actual track angle and ground speed based on a known wind vector.

Set the triangular index of the time scale on the division of the velocity scale which corresponds to actual airspeed. With the help of the scale of percentages on U km/h determine U%. Opposite the pointer of the heading line set the division which corresponds to the magnetic bearing of the wind, and, having noted the end of the vector of relative wind velocity, set the value of the average actual (or calculated) magnetic course. Measure off against the mark on the nomogram the value of the drift angle in degrees and the value of relative ground speed, after which with the help of the scale of percentages determine the value of ground speed in km/h. The actual (calculated) magnetic course angle is determined from the formula FMPU = FMK + US. [FMPU = actual magnetic course angle].

4. Calculation of wind according to ground speed and angle of drift.

Set the triangular index of the time scale at the value of airspeed. With the help of the scale of percentages based on W km/h determine the value of W%. Opposite the pointer of the course line set the mean value of the magnetic flight course and based on the values of W% and US plot on the course dial a mark which will be the end of the vector of relative wind velocity.

Expand the course dial to agreement of the mark made with the course line, measure off the values of magnetic bearing and relative wind velocity U%, whereupon with the help of the scale of percentages determine U km/h. 5. Calculation of wind according to two drift angles measured on two courses.

Set the triangular index of the time scale on the value of airspeed, and opposite the pointer of course line - the mean value of the first magnetic heading. Along the line of the nomogram which corresponds to the value of the first measured US draw a line with a pencil on the course dial. Having established the mean value of the second magnetic heading, draw a line which corresponds to value of the second US. The pointer of intersection of the lines is the end of the vector of relative wind velocity. Direction and wind velocity km/h are determined just as in p. 4.

6. Calculation of wind according to two ground speeds determined on two courses.

Set the triangular index of the time scale on the value of airspeed and with the help of the scale of percentages based on known values of W_1 and W_2 in km/h determine W_1 % and W_2 %. Opposite the pointer of the course line set the mean value of the first magnetic course and on the course dial draw an arc which corresponds to the value W_1 %. Set the mean value of the second magnetic course and draw an arc which corresponds to the value W_2 %. The point of intersection of arcs is the end of the vector of relative wind velocity. Direction and wind velocity in km/h are determined just as in p. 4.

7. Determining the longitudinal and transverse components of the wind vector.

The problem is solved with the help of a rectangular grid applied on the sector of the aiming rule. For this first it is necessary to set the triangular index on the value of airspeed and to plot, as shown in p. 2, on the course dial the vector of relative wind velocity. Having established the magnetic course, for which it is necessary to determine the wind component, combine the movable sector with the sector on the nomogram in which the wind vector is found. With the help of rectangular grid determine the wind component in percentages and their signs. Component wind velocities in km/h are determined with the help of the scale of percentages.

このかま

ij

j.

うしいいました

8. Determining the vector by its longitudinal and transverse components.

Set the triangular index of the time scale on the value of airspeed, and opposite the pointer of the course line - the value of the magnetic course to which the values of wind components correspond. With the help of the scale of percentages determine the relative longitudinal and transverse components of wind velocities. Combine the movable sector with the sector on the nomogram in accordance with the signs of components; using a rectangular grid based on the values of relative components plot on the sector the mark which is the end of the vector of relative wind velocity.

The magnitude of relative wind velocity can be determined with the help of concentric circles, and the velocity in km/h with the scale of percentages. The wind direction is measured off on the course scale, having continued with a pencil the wind vector up to the edge of the sector.

9. Determining the correction in the readings of the outside-air temperature gauges of the type TUE and TNV.
10. Calculation of the true flight altitude according to the readings of a barometric altimeter and, on the contrary; below]/2,000 m.

STRAKT , SEROREMON

The account of the systematic error in the altitude indicator which appears as a result of the nonconformity of the actual air temperature at altitude of flight to the standard value is conducted just as on the NL-10m. For this scales 17 and 20, 18 and 19 and the triangular index are used.

The formulas, which are applied on the rotating disk, show the order of solution of problems on the conversion of altitudes and velocities. The upper row of signs in the formulas is used in the conversion of indicated values into true (the course of solution is from left to right), the lower row - in the conversion of true values into indicated (the course of solution - from right to left). The designation "NR" shows that henceforth the conversion is conducted with the help of the NRK-2.

11. Calculation of the true altitude of flight according to the readings of a barometric altimeter and, on the contrary, for altitudes greater than 12,000 m.

Systematic error is considered with the help of scales 3 and 21, 23, and the triangular index, just as on the HL-10m.

The correction ΔH_{11} , which considers the deviation of the position of the tropopause from the standard value, equal to 11,000 m, is determined with the help of scales 17, 20, and the triangular and rhombic indices on scale 18. For this opposite the triangular index set the value of the sum of the temperatures at the earth and at altitude of flight. The rhombic index will indicate the magnitude and sign of the correction ΔH_{11} reckoned

on the scale $H_{H_{c}}$ (17) to the right and to the left from the division which corresponds to 11,000 m.

12. Calculation of the true flight speed according to the readings of the airspeed indicator and vice versa.

The account of the systematic error of the wide pointer of the speed indicator which appears as a result of the nonconformity of the actual air temperature at the altitude of flight to its standard value is fulfilled with the help of scales 7 and 11, 8, 13 or 12 on the computer.

If flight is performed at a speed greater than 400 km/h and altitude above 5000 m, then during the conversion of velocities it is necessary to consider the correction for air compressibility. In this case (just as on the NL-10 m) on scale 8 the value of equivalent, and not indicated airspeed is set or measured off, i.e., the velocity not allowing for correction for air compressibility.

Correction for air compressibility is determined on the navigational computer the the help of scale 15, the figure index and scales 14 and 16. For this it is necessary that opposite the figure index " H_{np} " the division is set which corresponds to the indicated flight altitude, and opposite the value of indicated airspeed read off the value of correction.

The order of calculating the correction is shown by the formula, applied on the rotating disk.

13. Calculation of the true velocity of flight according to the readings of the narrow pointer of the KUS and vice versa.

Systematic error is considered with the help of scales 7, 10, 8 and 13 just as on the NL-10 m.

14. Determining the M number according to the value of true flight speed.

Thé problem is solved with the help of scale 10 and index 13 and scales 8, 13, or 12. For this opposite index "M" 13 set the value of actual air temperature on scale 13 or indicated altitudé on scale 12. Opposite the division which corrésponds to true airspeed in km/h (on scale 7), read off on scale 8 the value of M number.

and the second second

In the same order the true airspeed is determined based on M number.

15. Determining the radius of turn with an assigned angle of bank and speed on the turn.

The radius of turn is determined with the help of scales 1, 4 and the scale of tangents 2. For this set the value of bank angle according to the scale of tangents opposite the value of true speed in km/h on scale 2. Opposite index "R" on the distance scale 4 read off the value of the radius of turn in kilometers.

Determining the bank angle from a known radius and flight speed on the turn is the reverse problem.

16. Determining the time of turn on an assigned angle with assigned bank and speed.

The time of turn on an assigned angle is determined with the help of scale 4, the scale of tangents 2 and the indices marked on it. For this the division of the tangent scale which corresponds to the value of assigned bank is set opposite the value of airspeed in hundreds of kilometers per hour on scale 1. Opposive the index which corresponds to the value of the angle of turn read off the time of turn in seconds or tens of seconds. 17. It is more convenient to carry out the multiplication and division of numbers with the help of the logarithmic scales of true and equivalent speeds 7 and 8.

ž

18. The squaring of numbers and extraction of square root from numbers is possible with the help of scales 1 and 4.

19. Determining the values of trigonometric functions, multiplication and division of number into trigonometric functions of angle and the solution of a right triangle is conducted with the help of the scales of sines and tangents and their adjacent scales.

20. The conversion of nautical and English miles into kilometers, feet into meters, and millimeters of mercury conumn into millibars and back is carried out with the help of scale 7 and the indices plotted on it and scale 17. For this it is necessary to set against one of the indices (mm, am, 1b, mm Hg) the division 100 and 1000 of the scale of equivalent airspeeds ô. In this case on the lower scale the values expressed in miles, feet, or millimeters Hg are read, on the upper - respectively in kilometers, meters, or millibars.

For the conversion of degrees into radians division 180 is set opposite the index.

Example of the calculation of actual flight altitude higher than 12,000 m based on the readings of barometric altimeters.

Given: $H_{np} = 15,000 \text{ m}; \Delta H_{uHC} = -150 \text{ m}; \Delta H_{app} = +250 \text{ m}; \Delta H_{n} = +400 \text{ m}; t_{H} = -70^{\circ}; t_{o} = -10^{\circ}.$

<u>Solution</u>. 1. Into the reading of indicated altitude, taken from the barometric altimeter, corrections are introduced for the instrument and for the excess of the airfield relative to sea level: $H_{\mu cn} = H_{np} = \Delta H_{\mu Hc} + \Delta H_{a 3 p} = 15,000 + (-150) + (+250) = 15,000$

2. Into the altitude obtained a systematic correction is introduced with the help of the navigational computer and a result of 15,300 m is obtained.

m.

3. Into the altitude obtained a correction is introduced for the excess of terrain relative to the airport of departure and the corrected altitude H'_{HCD} is obtained

$$H_{\rm Here} = 15.3(0) - (-400) = 14.960 \, {\rm m}$$

4. A supplementary correction H is determined from the formula

This correction can be calculated on a navigational computer and with a great deal of accuracy. For this, having set the triangular index of scale 19 on the sum of temperatures on scale 20, on scale 17 one should take a reading $H_{\mu C \Pi} = 10,150$ m. Then correction ΔH_{11} is found. It will be equal to:

 $\Delta H_{11} = H_{1001} = 11\,000 = 10\,150 = -11\,000 = -850$ M,

5. With the introduction of correction ΔH_{11} into the resulting altitude $H'_{\mu CP}$ the value of the desired flight altitude is obtained.

 $H_{\rm HCT} = H_{\rm HCH} + (--850) = 14\,900 + (--850) = 14\,050$ M.

Calculation of magnetic flight course, drift angle, ground speed, and the angle between course and wind direction according to a known wind vector

For the solution of this problem it is necessary to know the following data:

V_μ - true airspeed; ZMPU - given magnetic course angle; δ - wird direction; U - wind velocity.

When solving the problem with the help of a navigational computer the following scales are used: 4 - route and velocity, 5 - time, 3 - percentages, course angles of wind disk, nomogram of the base of the computer, transparent wind disk, and the triangular index of scale 5.

The order of soulution:

1. By rotatio of the movable disk the triangular index of scale 5 is set at the value which corresponds to the calculated true velocity $V_{_{II}}$ km/h according to scale 4. The thread of the aiming rule is set according to scale 4 on a reading equal to wind velocity U km/h, and opposite this reading, according to scale 3 (percentages), relative wind velocity is determined

$$\frac{U}{V} = U^{*}_{*}.$$

2. The transparent wind disk is turned so that the division of the course scale of the disk which corresponds to the magnetic bearing of wind δ° is set opposite the course line of the nomogram and on the course line of the nomogram, computing on concentric circumferences a, with a pencil a point is plotted which determines the end of the vector of relative wind velocity U%. 3. By rotation of the wind disk the division which corresponds to assigned magnetic course angle is set opposite the course line. As a result the point of the end of relative vector will be misaligned and opposite it on nomogram on straight lines "b" the drift angle (US) is read off. のないで、ないないないない

4. The wind disk is turned to the right in the case of right drift, to the left - in the case of left drift by the value of the US obtained. Opposite the course line of the nomogram the value of the calculated magnetic heading (MK_{pacy}) is read. Opposite the end of the relative wind vector the value of the refined drift angle is counted off. From the point of the end of relative wind vector mentally a line is drawn parallel to arcs "b," on the course line the value of relative ground speed in percentages (W%) is read off, and on the scale of course angles of the nomogram - the angle between course and wind direction (KUV). Opposite the value W% obtained, which is located on scale 3 (percentages), below on scale 4 the desired W km/h is read.

Example.

Given: $V_{\mu} = 750 \text{ km/h}; \delta - 146^{\circ}; \text{ZMPU} - 262; \text{U} = 130 \text{ km/m}.$

Solution: U% - 17.2%; W% = 91%; U3 = -10%; $MK_{pacy} = 272\%$; W = 680 km/h; KUV = 235\%; refined US = -9\%.

<u>Note</u>. A detailed description c, the navigational computer and a large number of examples which illustrate the operation with it are given in the textbook "Navigational computer NRK-2," compiled by 1. I. Baranovskiy.

NOMOGRAMS AND CHARTS, THEIR USE IN AVIATION

It is convenient to use nomograms when it is necessary to repeatedly perform a computational operation of one and the same kind, but each time with different numerical data.

For addition and subtraction of any physical quantities it is possible to compile nomograms of two types.

1. If any physical quantities (for example the speed of the aircraft and the incidental or counter component of wind velocity) x and y (Fig. 117), measured with the help of some scale, are plotted on the appropriate coordinate axes, then under the condition AC = y and AO = x slopes drawn from point C at angles of 45° toward the x axis will intercept segments x + y and x - y on it.

If on millimeter graph paper we draw a family of slopes, then we will obtain a nomogram for addition and subtraction. For using the nomogram there is no need to draw new lines, but it suffices with the tip of a pencil to follow those already made.

2. If on two parallel lines 1 and 2 (Fig. 118), beginning from zero line MN, we plot in the form of segments measured with the help of the same scale, the value x and y, which are to be added, then straight line AB will cut off on the third parallel line, passing in the middle between straight lines 1 and 2, the segment LC, equal to $\frac{x + y}{2}$. Straight line DK, drawn parallel to AB, will cut off on scale 1 a segment equal to x - y. All three parallel lines are called the scales, and points A, B, and C the adjusted points.



Fig. 117.



Fig. 118.

In order to read immediately on straight line LZ the desired answer x + y, and not $\frac{x + y}{2}$ it is necessary to take for it a different scale than for straight lines 1 and 2.

Example. x and y have been plotted to a scale of 1 cm = 20 km/h. If for straight line LZ we take a scale of 40 km/h, then on it we will immediately have the desired answer.

The first method is called the grid method, the second - the method of adjusted points.

<u>Multiplication and division</u> are performed in the following manner: the values x and y being multiplied are plotted as usual on the X and Y axes (Fig. 119). From the terminal point of segment X a perpendicular is erected to axis X and is continued to its intersection with a horizontal line drawn parallel to axis X at a distance y = 1. The intersection of the extension of ray OC with a horizontal line drawn from a point which corresponds to value y give us the desired xy value.

In addition and subtraction it is possible to operate only with values given in the same measurements. It is possible to multiply and divide the values which are measured by heterogeneous measures.



Fig. 119.

With the help of the logarithmic operation multiplication can be reduced to addition, and division - to subtraction. For this on the scales (see Fig. 118) we plot not the numbers themselves, but the so-called "dividing points" which correspond to the logarithmic values of the numbers. However, at the points of division obtained in a special manner the logarithms of numbers are not written but the logarithmized numbers themselves. Such scales are called functional scales (Fig. 120). If scale LZ passes strictly along the middle between functional scales 1 and 2, then, on the strength of the fact that on it the results of the multiplication of numbers x and y are found, the squares of the numbers which correspond to the divisions of numbers of scales 1 and 2 lie at the points of intersection of scale LZ with the horizontal lines which connect the identical divisions of scales 1 and 2. In order to find sum or difference, product or quotient, when using a prepared nomogram there is no need to draw the connecting straight line AB, but it is simpler to add a ruler or a tightly drawn thread.

Since with the help of a nomogram not only the simplest problems of addition and subtraction, multiplication and division, raising to a power and root extraction are solved, but also the more complex problems of the graphical solution of numerical equations with any coefficients, in aviation nomograms have received wide distribution.



Fig. 120.

A number of values determined during aircraft tests by experiment can be plotted on nomograms in the form of a family of curves. This considerably increases the field of application of the nomogram. Still more expanded are the possibilities of their use by the introduction of nomogram with auxiliary scales.

In their daily operation not one crew on a turbojet can manage without the use of nomograms for determining the takeoff and landing runs taking into account meteorological conditions, at various take-off weights, on concrete and on soil, at different state and gradient of RW, etc. Nomograms are also used for determining the required distance of a prolonged takeoff (Fig. 121) depending on the takeoff conditions and a number of others.

Examples 1. <u>Initial data</u>: $t_0 = o^\circ C(1)$, $p_0 = 760 \text{ mm Hg}$ (2), $G_{B3N} = 21 \text{ T}$ (3), counter wind component W = 4 m/s (4), slope $\gamma = 0$ (5).



Fig. 121. Nomogram for determining the required distance for a prolonged takeoff depending on the takeoff conditions (take-off weight from 2 to 21 T). KEY: (1) - Atmos. pressure, mm Hg; (2) - Air temperature at ground; (3) Take-off weight, T.; (4) By an angle; (5) Under an angle; (6) Head wind m/s; (7) Tail wind; (8) Required distance for prolonged takeoff.

Answer: Required distance for prolonged takeoff is equal to 1670 m(6).

2. <u>Initial data</u>: $t_0 = 5^{\circ}C(7)$, $p_0 = 760 \text{ mm Hg}(8)$, available distance for prolonged takeoff is equal to 1550 m (9), slope $\gamma = 0$ (10), head wind W = 6 m/s (11).

Control Aria

Answer: Take-off weight should be no more than 20.5 T (12).

The indicated nomograms are obtained during aircraft tests and are sent to the operational enterprises of civil aviation. In proportion to the changes in the characteristics of aircraft in connection with its refinement and modification in series the nomograms also undergo changes. Therefore it is not expedient to place in a handbook all the nomograms used, especially because each crew has the capability to use them constantly in airports during preflight operations and aboard.

In addition to nomograms in civil aviation wide used is also made of all possible graphic representations. In traffic control rooms they use a movement chart based on the following principle: along the X axis at the appropriate distances, taken in a specific scale, will be plotted the intermediate points through which an aircraft flies during its movement on route. On the Y axis and on a straight line parallel to it and drawn from a point on the X axis which corresponds to KPM, also in the necessary scale the time of day is plotted (most frequently Moscow). Knowing rated speed or scheduled speed, it is possible to draw a straight line between the point which corresponds to the take-off of the aircraft from the IAM and a point which corresponds to the time of its arrival at the KPM. Dropping to this line perpendiculars from points on the X axis which correspond to check points on route, and then carrying to axis Y the obtained points of intersection of the perpendiculars with the straight line of the calculated movement, we will obtain the calculated time of flying over the KO. Obtaining from the aircraft a report about the time of actual flight over the KO, the dispatcher can always draw the line of actual aircraft movement, determine the time of its actual flight over subsequent KO's, and introduce corrections to movement as needed. On such a graphic representation it is easy to determine the rendevous of aircraft, the catching up or overtaking of one by another, and also the time of encounter of the aircraft with darkness or dawn.

Most widely used by the crews of civil aviation are cruising charts (Fig. 122) for all types of aircraft. The schemes (keys) for the solution of problems with the help of such charts are given on them or are given in the manual of flight operations for the given type of aircraft.



Fig. 122. Cruising chart for IL-19 aircraft with AI-20K engines.

ABBREVIATIONS AND CONVENTIONAL SYMBOLS USED IN AIR NAVIGATION

Points and lines

- MS aircraft position
- IPM departure point
- KPM flight point of destination
 [also can mean route check point]
- IPOM initial point of return flight
 - KE control stage
 - KO reference landmark
- LZP specified track
- LFP actual track
- LRP locus of equal bearings

LRA - line of equal azimuth ALP - astronomical line of position LRV - line of equal altitudes RNT - radio navigation point RVS - radio broadcasting station PSBN - short-range navigation radio system Angles and directions IK, MK, KK - true, magnetic, and compass courses IPU, MPU, PMPU - true, magnetic and landing (magnetic) track angles ZPU, FPU - assigned and actual course angles $\Delta_{\rm m}$ - magnetic declination Δ_{μ} - deviation Δ - variation Λ_n - radio deviation PK - aircraft course correction DP - supplement to correction (for the remaining distance) US - drift angle UV - wind angle KUR - radio station angle of approach OK - orthodromic course OPU - orthodromic course angle OMPU - orthodromic magnetic course angle KUR - precalculated heading of RNT KUO - reference point angle of approach IPO, MPO, KPO - true, magnetic, and compass bearings of reference points OP - supporting meridian IPR, MPR - true and magnetic bearings of RNT IPS, MPS - true and magnetic bearings of aircraft (from reference point or RNT) - reference landmark (IPM, PPM, IPOM, KPM) - target



€); <u>-</u> 2	 rotating light beacon (rotation 5 rpm, operation 1 min, interruption 2 min)
+5	- magnetic declination (with its sign)
•215	- altitude mark of locality over sea level
+95	- mark of excess (+) and decrease (-) in the locality of the landing airfield
	- track
<u>11.08</u>	- line of bearing from the reference point to aircraft (time 11 h 08 miñ)
n.36	- line of bearing from RNT to aircraft (time 8 h 36 min)
14.05	- line of equal altitudes (astronomical line of aircraft position, time 14 h 05 min)
12.31 12.31	- calculated and actual time of passage of reference point
<u>s</u> т <mark>и</mark> мпу	- numerator (S = 150) is distance in the kilometers between reference points; denominator (t _n = 0.30) is the flight time between reference points; magnetic course angle (MPU = 147) for the flight between reference points
BU	- lateral deviation in degrees
LBU	- course line deviation in kilometers
φ°	- latitude of station (point)
λ°	- longitude of station (point)
٥°	- correction for the convergence of
	meridians (for the maps with a
	conical projection)

Ş

A STATE OF A STATE

Į.

ALC: NO

hadden belands on a star in the start of the

 γ° - loxodromic correction (for maps with an isogonal cylindrical projection) VU - vertical angle UR - angle of turn (change of course) t_{pas} - time of turn β° - angle of a bank UUR - lead angle of turn R - radius of turn LUR - linear lead of turn ω - angular velocity of turn δ° - wind direction (meteorological - from which it blows) Δ_{i_1} - instrument correction of altitude indicator ΔH_{κ} - correction to barometric altitude on a pressure change $\Delta H_{\rm p}$ - correction for terrain relief ΔH_{+} - systematic temperature correction of altitude indicator X - mark of aircraft position determined by flight over a reference point or over the point ZOS (visually or with the help of instruments) [208 - ground aids to navigation] Δ - mark of aircraft position obtained by plotting and by the dead reckoning (including with help of automatic plotters and calculators) - mark MS, obtained from the ground by request of the crew - normal turn (left)

Ha

and a second state of the second state of the second states and the second states of the

- broadcasting station with an indication of the height of the tower

MK1, MK2, - magnetic landing patterns: first, second, MK3, MK4 etc. Velocity, distance, and altitude V₁ - true airspeed V - indicated airspeed W - ground speed U - wind velocity GD - horizontal range ND - slant range S - distance between two points in kilometers B - base (the distance between RNT) D - distance on earths surfaces from the place of the projection of aircraft to some point in km H_u - true altitude N_s - barometric altitude N_{O} - relative altitude (the altitude of aircraft relative to any level) N_{abc} - absolute altitude (the altitude of aircraft relative to sea level) $N_{6/760}$ - safe altitude for a pressure of 760 mm Hg $N_{6/app}$ - safe altitude based on the pressure at the airfield $N_{\rm p}$ - absolute altitude of point of relief N_{app} - the airfield elevation relative to sea level $N_{\rm HD}$ - indicated altitude (readings of altimeter) N_{760} - conditional altitude (vertical separation)

Elements of time

Deriver and the second of the second state of the second state of the second state of the second state of the s

 T_{M} - the local (civil) time T_{rp} - Greenwich time $T_n - local time$ T_____ - standard time t_n - course time t - time of flight u, - correction of chronometer (watch) N₁ - number of time zone ω - daily variation of watches T - time for measurement of astronomical altitude T_{\odot} - true solar time Tom - mean solar time n - the equation of time S - sidereal time S_{rp} - sidereal Greenwich time $S_{_{M}}$ - sidereal local time D - correction for movement of aircraft

Elements of aviation actronomy

Z - zenith Z' - nadir γ - the vernal equinox K - the point of summer solstice - - the autumnal equinox L - the winter solstice z - the zenith distance of a celestial body h° - the astronomical altitude (measured, corrected)

1. M. M. Carter Sugar Star Star Star

 h_{HOM}^{O} - astronomical altitude (measured by aircraft sextant) h_{p}^{0} - computational altitude (tabular) h_{non} - the altitude of Folaris Ah - altitude difference of celestial body A^O - azimuth of celestial body, navigational δ^{O} - declination of celestial body α^{o} - right ascension of celestial body t - hour angle of celestial body $(t_{PD} - Greenwich, t_{M} - local)$ r - correctlor for refraction of earth's atmosphere K - dome refraction +p - parallax $-\beta$ - correction for a dip of the horizon C - correction for sextant (instrument) +q - correction for rotation of earth E - correction for movement of aircraft (during the observation of Polaris it is designated D_) $\Delta \phi_{nov}$ - correction for the altitude of Polaris

the second s

(it is added to the altitude of Polaris when determining the latitude of a place)

Meteorological elements

 p_0 - atmospheric pressure at the earth p_H - atmospheric pressure at altitude t_0 - the temperature at earth t_R - temperature at altitude t_{cp} - temperature average $t_{cp} = \frac{t_0 + t_0}{2}$; t_{cpad} - vertical temperature gradient.

SIXTH SECTION

. ·

and and a second

261-120

ないちょ

.

ie.

INFORMATION ABOUT AIRBORNE RADARS

BASIC INFORMATION ON RADAR

Radar is the name of the field of radio engineering which uses for the detection and position finding of airborne, abovewater, and ground-based objects the phenomenon of the reflection and radiation of electromagnetic waves by these objects.

Radar Methods

Pulsed radiation. In such a method short-lived signals with long pauses between them are periodically sent out and then the reflected signals from the object are received during the periods between the next sending of signals (pulses). Distance to the object can be calculated from the following formula

$$d = \frac{cl}{2} ,$$

where c - the propagation velocity of radio waves; c - the delay time (passage of the signal from the station to the object and back).

The pulsed method is characterized by: the pulse duration τ ; the period T or frequency F of pulse repetition; pulse energy W_u; power in pulse P_u and by average power P_{cp}.

Distance to distant object should not be more than

$$d=\frac{cT}{2}.$$

The minimum range of detection for a radar station is

$$d_{\min} = \frac{c\tau}{2}$$

The energy being transferred by the impulse of radio waves is called <u>pulse energy</u>. The power being developed by a transmitter during the pulse duration is called <u>pulse power</u> P_{μ} . The power in a pulse is connected with pulse energy by the relationship

$$P_{\rm II}=\frac{W_{\rm II}}{\tau}.$$

The average power of a transmitter is the power which it would develop while working continuously and maintaining the same energy of radio waves

$$P_{\rm cp} = W_{\rm H} F = P_{\rm H} \tau F = P_{\rm H} \frac{\tau}{\tau} \, .$$

Continuous radiation consists of the fact that the transmitter and receiver work in frequency, whereupon the degree of distinction depends on the distance to the object. For a decrease in the influence of transmitter on receiver in similar stations two antennas are used one for transmission, the other for receiving.

The Doppler effect amounts to the fact that in the case of movement of a transmitter relative to a receiver or the receiver relative to a fixed transmitter the frequency of vibrations being received by the receiver does not coincide with the frequency of the radiated radio waves.

The difference frequency

 $l = l_{orp} - l_{opd} = \pm l_{opd} \frac{2\sigma_r}{\lambda_{opd}}$

where v_r - the radial velocity of an object in the direction toward the radar station.

If we express $v_{\mathbf{r}}$ in kilometers an hour, and the wavelength λ in centimeters, then

1=± 55,8 0, Hz.

In general the difference frequency

$$l = \pm 55.6 \frac{v}{\lambda} \cos \alpha$$
,

where v - the velocity of the object; α - the angle between the velocity vector of the object and the direction to the radar station.

By means of measurement of f it is possible to determine v_r of the discovered object. With the help of this method it is possible to find only moving objects, but it is not possible to determine the object distance and the quantity of other smaller objects found in it.

This principle is used in aircraft radio navigation stations for determining the ground speed of an aircraft and drift angle. The formula for determining the ground speed of an aircraft from Doppler frequency takes the form:

$$W'=\frac{F_{R}\lambda}{2\cos\beta},$$

where β - the angle between the direction of the vector of ground speed of the aircraft and the direction of the axis of the beam of the station.

The drift angle (US) is determined by rotation of an antenna device in a horizontal plane relative to the vertical axis at constant angle between the left and right beams, attaining an equality of frequencies of reflected signals.

DETERMINING THE POSITION OF AN AIRCRAFT AND NAVIGATIONAL ELEMENTS WITH THE HELF OF AIRBORNE RADARS

Airborne radars make it possible to solve all problems of air navigation.

It is most convenient to identify landmarks at scales of operation of radars which are close to the scales of flight maps. For example at a screen radius of 55 mm an image scale of 1:1,000,000 is obtained at a range scale of 55 km in the radius of the screen.

When using maps with a scale of 1:2,000,000 it is most convenient to use a radar scale of 110 km, if it has been provided for by the construction of radar, if it has not been provided for, then use a scale of 100 km. With the help of the selection of contrast by the separate strengthening of signals of high and low levels, by the selection of the slope angle of the antenna and luminance of the scanning beam the clearest isolation of radar reference points on the screen of radar is attained.

14 N.

aparta and a service and when

The position of the aircraft (MS) is determined with the help of a circular scan radar with a rotating bearing scale by plotting on a map the bearing and distance from the reference point to the aircraft taking into account the correction for the convergence of meridians, if the difference in longitudes of the reference point and MS is considerable.

and a second state of the second

If onboard there is a circular scan radar then the bearing of aircraft is obtained as a result of the summation of the heading of the reference point and the course of the aircraft.

Since radar measures not the horizontal, but slant range, at distances to the reference points less than fivefold the flight altitude the correction ΔR should be introduced into the measurements. This correction always has a negative sign. For the introduction of these corrections it is recommended to use Table 30.

(1) Цакдана нам даль- ность, ам	(2) Bucora n'acta, An											
	1	:	3		5	U		8	9	10	11	12
5 10 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15 15		0,5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	1 0,5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0		5 1,5 1 0,5 9 0 0 0 0 0 0			$ \begin{array}{c} - \\ - \\ 2,5 \\ 2 \\ 1 \\ 0,5 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0$	G 3 2,5 1,5 1 0,5 0 0 0			

Table 30. Correction for the slant range (-AR).

KEY: (1) Slant range, km; (2) Flight altitude, km.

When the slant range is equal to the flight altitude, then the horizontal range is equal to zero. This is explained by the appearance in the center of the radar screen of a dark spot with a sharply designated border, the distance of which from the center of the screen is equal to the actual flight altitude over the particular locality. Therefore this spot is called altimetric.

Airborne radar can serve directly for determining orthodromic MS coordinates. For this purpose the bearing scale of the indicator should be set on the lead angle (UU) of the aircraft relative to its assigned orthodromic track angle (FU) (Fig. 123).



Fig. 123. The determination and calculation of the track bearing of the reference point: a) with a positive US; b) with a negative US.

Examples. 1. If drift is positive and $UU = -15^{\circ}$, the bearing scale is set with the division 345° opposite the course line. Then in the case of a heading of 35° for the reference point its track bearing (PP) will be equal to 20° .

2. If drift is negative, $UU = +8^{\circ}$ and the heading of the reference point is equal, for example, to 17° , then the division of 8° on the bearing scale of indicator is set opposite the course line. Then the PP of the reference point will be equal to 25° . Knowing the orthodromic coordinates of a reference point relative to the intermediate point of the route (PPM), and also the track bearing and the distance from the aircraft to the reference point, on the NL-10 rule it is possible to calculate the orthodromic coordinates of the aircraft relative to the last PPM. For this the triangular index of scale 4 (Fig. 124) is combined with the distance of the reference point from the aircraft R on scale 5. The aiming hair is combined on scale 3 with the value 90° - PP and on scale 5 the value R sin (90° -PP) is read; then the hair is combined with the value PP, reading on scale 5 the value R sin PP. After this the first value obtained is subtracted from the coordinate of the reference point x_{op} , and the second - from z_{op} and the x and z of the aircraft are obtained.

3 <u>90°nn</u>	$\underline{\nabla}$	_0
© R sin (90*-111)	R	
3	$\underline{\nabla}$	_0
S _{R sin nn}	R	
Fig. 124.		

This same problem, but considerable simpler and with a greater deal of accuracy, is solved during flight over the beam of a reference point, i.e., when PP = 90°. In this case $x_{MS} = x_{op}$, and $z_{MS} = z_{op} - R$.

Such a particular case of the solution of the problem is rarely encountered when using a sector scan radar.

When using a sector scan radar for determining the orthodromic coordinates of an aircraft the track bearing of the reference point is calculated according to formula PP = KUO + UU and the problem is solved just as for a circular scan radar. In this case it is recommended to sight the reference points with the largest possible headings.

Buch and a started a she was been a

The ground speed and drift angle of aircraft can be determined most simply by successive MS, but this method is frequently insufficiently operative for determination of the US, since it requires a considerable base for measurements.

It is possible to use several different methods if in the field of view there are unidentified sighting points which do not make it possible to determine the MS.

Sighting of a point near the course line. If a sighting point which is very noticeable on the radar screen is transferred near the course line, then W and US can be measured by sighting the run of this point. It is recommended to make such a sighting within the limits of a distance from 60 to 30 km in order to avoid altitude errors.

At the moment of intersection by the point of the 60 km range mark the time is noted and the bearing scale by point "0" is set opposite the course line, and the line of sight parallel to the movement of the point. When point intersects the 30 km range mark they again note the time and count off the time of flight of the base whereupon on the NL-10 W is determined while adding to the length of the base the correction for the flight altitude for a distance of 30 km. The drift angles are reckoned according to the bearing scale whereupon negative angles are taken as a supplement up to 350°.

This method is sufficiently precise for the measurement of drift angle. Ground speed due to a too short of a base of

measurements is determined with large errors. For example at a flight speed of 900 km/h the error in the flight time of a base of 4 s gives an error in measurement of W up to 30 km/h.

The method of a right triangle. This method is more precise and convenient than sighting the point near the course line and presents greater possibilities for the selection of reference points for sighting.

2

E.

and a star way to a star way and a star way to be a star of the star

Having set the zero on the bearing scale opposite the course lire and having measured with the help of the sight the heading of the reference point, and based on the circular marks its range, it is necessary to turn on the stop watch. After this, without changing the position of the sighting device, it is necessary to follow the movement of the reference point on the screen up to intersection of this reference point with the perpendicular line of the sight. At this moment the stop watch is stopped and again the range of the reference point is determined based on the circumforential marks (Fig. 125). After this, having introduced into both measured slant ranges the corrections for flight altitude from a table, the NL-10 is used to calculate the angle α between the position of the sighting line and the direction of movement of the reference point (key see in Fig. 126a), and also the length of the base of measurement S (key see in Fig. 126b); α and S can also be calculated from the formulas:

$$tg \alpha = \frac{R_2}{R_1}; S = \frac{R_1}{\sin(90^3 - \alpha)}.$$

In this case the drift angle is defined as the difference between the first heading of the reference point and angle α

 $VC = KVO_1 - \alpha$,

and the ground speed as the relationship of the base length to the time of its flight

 $W = \frac{S}{t}$



an strategy of the second or existence with the second of the second strategy of the second s

and the second second second



Fig. 126.

The twofold direction finding of sighting point at equal slant ranges. This method is most precise when determining US and W by the method of sighting, but requires greater expenditures of time than the previous one.

In the case of passage by a readily noticeable sighting point of some circumferential range mark in the forward section of the screen the timer i; turned on and the heading of this point is measured (Fig. 127).

A LAND THE REAL AND A LAND AND AND AND AND AN



Fig. 127. The twofold direction finding of sighting point at equal slant ranges.

At the moment of the secondary intersection of this sighting point with the same range ring in the rear end of the field of view the timer is turned off and for the second time the heading of the sighting point is determined.

It is evident that if $R_1 = R_2$, then the line of movement of the sighting point from A_1 to A_2 is perpendicular to the bisector of the angle between R_1 and R_2 and this means that with the passage of the sighting point more to the right of the course line of the aircraft

 $y_{C} = \frac{Ky_{O_1} + Ky_{O_2}}{2} - 90^{\circ};$

in the case of passage of the same sighting point to the left of the course line

$$VC_{-3} - \frac{KVO_1 + KVO_2}{2} - 270^\circ$$
,

where KUO - reference point angle of approach.

After introduction into the slant range of the correction for flight altitude the length of the base of measurement is determined according to the formula

$$S = 2R \sin \frac{K Y O_2 - K Y O_1}{2}$$

(key see Fig. 128a), and ground speed W - by the usual method on the NL-10 (key see in Fig. 128o).



Determination of US based on the secondary Doppler effect by the method of "stopped antenna." In the case of a certain experience in the selection of strengthening of the peceiver and slope angle of antenna the US can be measured by this method in several seconds, especially as some airborne sector scan radars have for this purpose a special mode and supplementary indication. The essence of this method lies in the fact that during the circular rotation of the antenna the pulsations of frequencies are not noticeable to the eye, since every flowing point is passed rapidly by the scan beam and is depicted on the screen as an individual flash with subsequent afterglow. 'The weak visual impression from the secondary Doppler effect remains' also with a fixed radar antenna in the case of considerable noncoincidence of the direction of its radiation with the direction of movement of the aircraft. In this case the scintillation of points occurs with a high frequency and it is smoothed out by the screen afterglow. But if the direction of the antenna is slow to approach the direction of movement of the aircraft, then the glowing points begin to flash with increasingly less frequency and with increasing amplitude.

In this way the most gradual, but the brightest flashing of the glowing points on the screen indicates the agreement of the antenna bearing with the direction of movement of the aircraft.

The drift angle is defined as the angle between the position of the sweep trace on screen in the case of maximum secondary Doppler effect and the course line.

Note. When determining the US by any of four methods examined here the bearing scale can be set not on zero, but on the aircraft course. In this case in all the calculations the KUO is replaced by the bearings of the reference points and as a result of the solution the US is not obtained, but the actual course angle (FPU) of the aircraft (for example, the orthodromic FPU of the aircraft, if the bearing scale is set on the orthodromic course of the aircraft).

POSSIBLE BREAKDOWNS IN THE OPERATING CONDITIONS OF THE RBP-4 AND METHODS FOR THEIR ELIMINA-TION IN FLIGHT

A REAL AND A REAL PORT

A State of the second

Disruption of the AFC in rear sector. In operation fairly often disruption of the AFC is observed in the rear sector (170-180°) with the formation of blackout. In this case the current of the crystal "Osn." in the case of passage of the rear sector by the antenna falls on zero. This phenomenon is connected with the intense reflection of antenna radiation from the rear wall of the hatch. With the emergence of the indicated defect it is necessary to increase the slant of the antenna, which decreases the intensity of irradiation by reflected beams.

[Translators Note: $A\Pi 4 = AFC = automatic frequency control;$ Och. = Osn.

San and the second second second second

Periodic disruption of the AFC. In the case of erratic operation of the AFC it is necessary to be guided by the follow-ing:

check the voltage level of the AFC and ascertain that the voltage is within normal limits;

check the presence of symmetric drops in the currents of crystals and if necessary attain their symmetricalness with. the potentiometer "Napr. AFC" [Hanp AN4].

If the operation of the AFC is not restored it is necessary to switch to manual adjustment, for which the rotation of the antenna is turned off and adjustment is conducted on the maximum image brightness on the 100 km scale.

During operation of the radar on manual adjustment the switch key "Control" [Нонтроль] should remain in that vosition in which adjustment was carried out. Its changeover requires supplementary tuning.

Frequent switching off of the transmitter usually occurs as a result of interelectrode breakdowns in the radio tube of the GMI modulator, failure of the magnetrons, and a change in the charging in the transmitter. In the case of frequent switching off of the transmitter it is necessary to switch to the 10-70 scale (with a smaller pulse duration).

It must be borne in mind that switching off of the transmitter is observed in the case of insufficient warming up. Warming up of the set before switching on the transmitter should take 5-7 min in the summer and no less than 15 min in the winter.
The spontaneous misphasing of scan is exhibited outwardly in the jamming of scan in the lower sector. In this case it . is necessary to turn off the circular rotation of the antenna, and, rotating the antenna in the search mode to both sides to 360° , achieve its smooth rotation.

Sector scanning. The phenomenon of sector scanning consists of an alternation in the luminance of scanning, as a result of which during rotation its screen is covered by fan-shaped sectors. Sector scanning can occur for the following reasons:

defects in the circuits for forming the scan;

defects in circuits for strengthening the scan;

misphasing of the selsyn system.

In the emergence of sectoring it is necessary to be certain which of these three causes caused the sectoring.

In the case of unstable phasing sectoring usually occurs in the rear sector, and the course line is displaced. In this case it is necessary to phase the selsyn system. If sectoring is caused by the other reasons, it is necessary to completely withdraw the knob "Amplification of receiver" opposite the hour hand.

When sectoring is caused by the abnormal operation of amplification circuits, then it disappears; if the cause is in the defects of the scan-forming circuit, then sectoring will continue.

- · · ·				
Protected unit	Voltage of clrcutt, V	Rating of fuse, A	No. of fuse in R15	Outward signs
Range unit	115	2	Pr15-1	Scan absent. In the center of the screen a glowing point.
Synchronizer	115	2	Pr15-2	Scan absent. No luminous spots in the center of screen. No illumination of indicator scale
Indicator	11,5	5	Pr15-3	Scan rotates with jamming in the rear
Regulated rectifier	115	5	Pr15-4	Scan absent. Glowing spot in the center of screen, but it is not controlled in brightness, there are no currents and +300 and -300 V voltages
High-voltage rectifier	115	2	Pr15-5	Scan absent. No luminous spots in center. Illumination of indicator works
Not working	-	-	Pr15-6	. –
Transmitter and modulator	115	10	Pr15-7	No image of terrain. No currents for crystals and magnetron
Antenna	115	5	Pr15-8	Scan rotates with jamming in the rear sector and is not phased
Control of range unit and panel	27	15	Pr15-9	Scale marks knocked off. During the rotation of the delay potentiometer for altitude the marks do not go into the center of the screen, but from the center
Not working	-	-	Pr15-10	-
Transmitter- receiver and medulator	27	15	Fr15-11	Are no currents of crystals and magne- tron. When starting the transmitter on scan there is no sounding pulse
Antenna and Indicator	27	10	Pr15-12	Scan does not rotate. The indicator of inclination goes off scale upward
Azimuth 1	27	1	Pr15-13	No sector fluctuation
Artimith 2	27	11	Tr15-14	No sector fluctuation

Table 31. Characteristic signs of the failure of fuses (in the table the fuses are arranged in the same order as in the regulating box).

ł

ŝ

ŝ,

1 1 1

237

A CONTRACTOR OF THE OWNER OF THE

and the second state of the second state of the second second second states and the second second second second

The basic causes in the latter case are:

faulty contact in the high-voltage sucking disk on the tube;

faulty contact in the high-voltage connector of the high-voltage amplifier;

erratic operation of the system for amplification of scanning.

With faulty contact in the sucking disk the contrast sectors are observed on the screen and their flare angle is changed with a change in the luminance of scan.

The same is observed with faulty contact in the connector of the high-voltage amplifier.

When defect is detected it is necessary to turn off set, free the wing nut securing the forward section of the housing, and carefully remove it without damaging the wire for illumination of the indicator. After this the suction disk is set by pressure on it. With the correct installation of the suction disk a distinct click will be audible. If the suction disk has been installed correctly, and sectioning continues, it is necessary to check the reliability of connection of the high-voltage rectifier.

In the case of erratic operation of the scan amplification system it is necessary to interchange the position of tube 6P3 in the synchronizer.

Sectoring because of the abnormal operation of the signal amplification circuits is difficult to eliminate in the air.

This sectoring will be less, the less the potentiometer "amplification of receiver" is put in.

In the case of inoperation of stations due to the breakdown of fuses it is necessary to be guided by Table 31.

In the case of burning out of the general 115 V fuse in the fuse board of navigator the voltmeter on the control panel will not show a voltage of 115 V.

The Order of Replacement of Radio Tubes in the Units of a Radar Set

During the replacement of radio tubes in units it is necessary to be guided by the following:

replace radio tubes only after testing the soundness of fuses;

based on the nature of defect determine in which unit it is not necessary to replace the radio tube;

unscrew the locks securing the unit; pull out the unit and open the upper lid;

based on the brightness of the incandescent filaments of glass radio tubes ascertain that the incandescent filaments are whole; be convinced by touch that metallic radio tubes are warm;

check the reliability of installation of radio tubes in the tube panels;

all a chair a share a s

Supplication and the second states and the

and the second second standing and the second s

Table 32. Some possible failures of radio tubes		
Xanifestation of failure	In which unit	Radio tube undergoing renlacement
Tean disappeared. Glowing point present. Upon rwitching on the stepped delay the scan appears	Range unit	Radio tube L3-4 for altitude delay
Tarks on all scales disappeared. On scale 10	The	Radio tube 13-2 for dividér 5:1
<pre>tre marks are knocked off. Currents of magnetron - 0. Image made worse, there are no i-kiloneter marks</pre>	same	Fadio tube LJ-1 for generator of 3- kilometer pulses
lrage disappeared. Marks on all scales. Current of magnetron - 0	=	Radio tube L3-5 for trigger amplifier
Can and mark normal, but no image. Current of 'agnetron - 0. Upon the introduction of stepped delay the magnetron current appears, and the your diuppears	£	Radio tube-2 pcs. (L3-6 and L3-9) for gene- rator of 16-kilometer pulces and coincidence amplifier
.can disappeared. Glow point present .	Ŧ	Radio tube L3-3 for divider of starting pulse
Can disappeared, glow point present. All coints, including the magnetron current, normal	Synchro- nizer	Consecutively replace tubes: L4-21 of buifer amplifier; L4-22 - sweep oscillator; L4-23 - sweep amplifier: L4-24 - sweep amplifier:
•	K A	L4-25 - end amplifier; this cube can be inter- changed with adjacent tubes 6P3
Inage and marks disappeared. Scan is disturbed	The same	L4-19 limiting of scan
Ccan shortened to 1/3 the radius of tube	2	L4-20 of multivibrator for starting of scan
Scan and mark normal, all points normal, Jut image disappeared	2	L4-9 of input amplifiers
AFC does not work inposition "AFC on." AFC voltage "not sawtooth," AFC voltage decreased. In the position of AFC turned on and turned off, reclever is adjusted by knob "Adjustment of reclever"	1	Tube for generator of sawtooth oscillations
Jean only on pertphery of tube. No300 V voltage	Regula- ted rec- tifier	L11-5
Larks and picture diffuse, +300 V off scale	The same	
foltage +300 V understated by 20-30 V	:	L11-4
· ·		

T

i,

when replacing a radio tube it is necessary to take it out of the panel carefully and to insert the new tube; having ascertained preliminarily that the key of tube fell into the slot.

In the case of failures of radio tubes it is necessary to be guided by Table 32.

POSSIBLE FAILURES OF THE RPSN-2 ["EMBLEM"] RADAR SET AND METHODS FOR THEIR ELIMINATION IN FLIGHT

haddende her regerichen matte allaite sen arabite iden autweiten strattenen.

A STATE OF THE ASSAULT OF THE ASSAULT

Set not connected. Power not supplied to set. Upon connection of the disc-type switch key "Control" into the position "~115 V" on the control and regulating panel the dial instrument does not show ~115 V.

It is necessary to check the connection of the following switches:

on the panel of the circuit breaker the switch keys "Power for "Emblem" set" and "Control of "Emblem" set," should be set in the "On" position;

the switch "ground-based power supply for "Emblem" - power supply of "Emblem" from SGO-8," located on the radio operator's panel, should be set in the position "power supply of "Emblem" from SGO-8";

switch "On-Set-High" on the control and regulating panel set in the position "Set" (mid-position).

If with the setting of the switches in the indicated positions the set is not turned on it is necessary to check the conditions

Failure of the AFC system. During operation of the set in the mode "Scanning" strong sectoring on the indicators appears and in the dark places of sectors signals are absent. With the setting of the "Control" switch in the position "Current of crystal 1F amplifier" and "Current of crystal AFC" fluctuations of the instrument pointer appear. and a second sec

For elimination of the indicated defect it is necessary that the "AFC-MFC" switch located on the control and regulating panel be set in the position "MFC." Slowly rotating the "MFC" potentiometer, which is located over the "AFC-MFC" switch strive for a peak signal of luminance from the earth's surface on the indicators for the pilot and navigator. In this case the set should operate in the condition "Scanning" or "Aircraft" and the antenna should be tilted down by $6-8^{\circ}$. [AP4-PP4 = AFC-MFC, automatic frequency control-manual frequency control].

The "MFC" system should be adjusted after a 20--minute warm-up of the set. After adjustment do not rotate the "MFC" potentiometer.

It is necessary to remember that the optimum signal from the earth's surface can be obtained in two positions of the "MFC" potentiometer. These two positions will correspond to the two different values of crystal current.

It is necessary to select the position of the "MFC" potentiometer which corresponds to the greater value of crystal current, equal to 0.4-1 mA (4-10 divisions on the scale). Scan absent on indicators. In this case it is necessary to check the fuses on the fuse and adjustment panel - unit No. 9 to the right of the pilot and on unit No. 5. If fuses are blown replace them. If the fuses are operable, then check the presence of scanning on the other scales. If there is a scan on another scale then it is necessary to work with this scale.

Deviation in the value of the magnetron current from the norm 14-21 mA. For the elimination of this it is necessary with the voltage regulator of the second engine, located on the radio operator's panel, to change the voltage level \sim 115 V within the limits of $\pm 4\%$, in order that with a change in voltage \sim 115 V to set the magnetron current within the required limits.

<u>Note</u>: It is necessary to remember that in the conditions "Drift" and "Drift accurately" and at a scale of "50 km" during control from the navigator the magnetron current can be different from the value of current during operation of the set in the other modes.

Gyrostabilization system does not work. On the navigator or pilot's indicator periodic illumination of the left and right edge of the indicator appears. It is necessary to be convinced of the soundness of the 36 V and 400 Hz frequency fuses on the radio operator's panel. Replace inoperative fuses.

In the case of nonoperating gyrostabilization switch to the operation of radar without gyrostabilization. On the RPSN-2 control panel the switch is set in the position "gyrostabilization off" and in the case of bypassing thunderstorms in climb and descent make platforms for the survey of the sphere.

Absence of one of the rectified voltages in the case of measurement by the dial instrument on unit No. 10. It is necessary to be convinced of the soundness of fuses in unit No. 8. Replace inoperative fuses. On the screen of the navigator's indicator the sweep length of one of the scales is considerably decreased. The potentiometers "displacement of X" and "displacement of Y" on the CW unit are maladjusted. Adjust the length of the scan lines on the navigator's potentiometers "displacement of X" and "displacement of Y" with the help of a screwdriver.

a second and the second s

There is no magnetron current and a scale marks of set synchronization. Fuses blown out in unit No. 3. Check and replace fuses in unit No. 3.

<u>Note</u>. Replace fuses only 1 time (in all units and by the appropriate ratings); in the case of repeated blowing out it is necessary to turn off the radar set.

THE AIRBORNE RADAR "GROZA"

The radar set "Groza" serves for a survey of the terrain in front of the aircraft for the purpose of navigational orientation. The radar image on the indicator is close to the image of the terrain on a map of the appropriate scale.

The bearing sector of survey of the "Groza" radar is $\pm 100^{\circ}$ on both sides from the longitudinal axis of the aircraft. The division of the azimuthal indicator scale is realized every 10° with numbering every 20° . A supplementary graduation every 2° for measurement of drift angle is given in the sector $\pm 20^{\circ}$ from the longitudinal axis of the aircraft.

The "Groza" radar, besides the assembly with one transmitterreceiver and one indicator, exists in other assemblies: with one transmitter-receiver and two indicators;

with two transmitter-receivers and one indicator;

with two transmitter-receivers and two indicators.

The controls are located on the face panel of the main indicator (Fig. 129):

and the second second second

1. The on-off keys of the radar. The radar begins to operate normally in 3-5 min after switching on when its units and elements are sufficiently warmed up. This delay takes place even in the case of a temporary disconnection of the radar.



Fig. 129. The face panel
of the main indicator of the
"Groza".
KEY: (1) Frequency; (2) Marks
(3) Antenna scale; (4) Brightness;
(5) Mode; (6) Isolation; (7) Radar
on; (8) Cut off.



2. The switch key for operating conditions marked by the label "mode" has the positions. "Ready," "Earth," "Thunderstorm," "Iso-Echo."

With the setting of the switch key in the "Ready" position, if 3-5 min prior to this the power supply of the locator was turned on, it is found in a state of readiness for immediate operation, although the radiation of the radar is absent.

With the setting of the switch in the "Earth" position the radiation of the locator is turned on and in the antenna the fan beam which is necessary for surveying the Earth's surface is formed. In this position the possibility is ensured for increasing the contrast of the marks from the necessary ground-based objects (cities, rivers, basins, against the general background of the earth's surface. This is accomplished with the regulator "isolation."

In the position "thunderstorm" a narrow beam is formed in the antenna and there is a changeover in the indicator which ensures the obtaining of the radar image of thunderstorms without interference from the earth at flight altitudes greater than 1000 m and with a luminance independent of the distance to the thunderstorms. In this mode it is possible to evaluate, from the viewpoint of safety, the magnitude of excess over the peaks.

In the position "Iso-Echo" the beam remains narrow, but because of changeovers in the indicator there is a subtraction of signals which exceed the assigned value in amplitude. This makes it possible based on the width of the darkened sections inside thunderstorm exposures to determine on indicator the probable turbulence.

In the position "Drift" the beam of the locator is fan-shaped, but the automatic azimuthal antenna rocking is switched off. All the necessary movements of the antenna beam in azimuth

are accomplished by means of pressure on one of the keys located on the left of the indicator, whereupon the rate of movement of the antenna beam of the locator can be changed with the help of the regulator "Isolation."

3. The band switch for scanning is marked "Km" and has five positions: "30," "50," "125," "250," and "400." With this switch key the scale of the radar image on the indicator is changed.

In the first four positions the scanning for range is begun at the moment of radiation of the radar and terminates at the moment of arrival of the radar from the ranges indicated on these positions. In the fifth position scanning is begun at the moment of the arrival of reflections from a distance of 200 km from the aircraft and terminates upon their arrival from a distance of 400km.

and a state of the second s

An increase in the observation range of ground echoes and ground-based objects while preserving the continuity of image for scanning at 250 km in the mode "Earth" is achieved by the automatic deformation of the antenna beam into fan during movement of the reflector from the left to right and narrow during movement from right to left.

At the scanning range "400" in the mode "Earth" scanning is accomplished by a narrow beam, automatically oriented in a vertical plane in such a way that it overlaps the entire range of distances being scanned on the indicator. By this an increase is achieved in the detection range of cities and especially large industrial and administrative centers.

4. The slant control marked by the label "Slant" makes it possible to slant the antenna beam relative to the plane of the horizon in a range of angles $\pm 10^{\circ}$.

5. The brightness control marked by the label "Brightness" is designed in such a way that a change in brightness does not require the simultaneous brightness control of the range rings or the position change of the knob "Isolation." All the necessary corrections are introduced automatically.

6. The brightness control of "Marks" is used for changing the brightness of marks relative to the radar image.

7. The regulator "Isolation" during operation in the mode "Earth" ensures an increase in the image contrast of the objects which most interest the observer. An increase in contrast is attained by means of the elimination of the images of small groundbased objects which do not yield to or are difficult to identify from the general radar image.

In the mode "Drift" this regulator is used to change the rate of azimuthal movement of the antenna. An increase in contrast in the given mode, if in it there is no necessity, is automatically eliminated.

8. The regulator "Frequency" serves for a frequency shift in the local oscillator of the radar set and ensures the manual frequency control in the case of failure of automatic solution, and also if necessary for the input of heterody of frequency into the zone of the capture of the system of automation after turning on of the radar.

9. The keys for manual control of the azimuthal movement of the antenna are intended for the measurement of drift angle. They are arranged on the left of the main indicator symmetrically to the keys for the turning on and off of the radar and are marked by special marks.

The assembly with two indicators. With installation on the aircraft of a radar with two indicators all the control of the

operation of the set, and also the selection of the optimum sweep length are accomplished from the main indicator.

Presenter ...

2

;

Ţ

こうしょう ないない とうない とうない ないない ないない しんない しんない

For the individual control of radar image on the supplementary indicator there are three regulators: "Brightness," "Isolation," and "Marks."

The assembly with two transmitter-receivers. A supplementar, transmitter-receiver, if the radar has one, car be immediately put into operation by means of chang-over of the toggle switch "transmitter" "thunderstorm" into the position "Recerve." This is done in the case of malfunction of the main transmitterreceiver. The supplementar, transmitter-receiver plays the part not only as a hot reserve, but is used during the operation of radar on scan at 400 km, somewhat increasing the detection range of objects. In this case its connection occurr automatically.

With any of the assemblies of the "droza" radar on an aircraft the switch key "Reserve-Stab," can be installed additionally. With its setting in the overhead position it switches off the stabilization system of the antenna from the aircraft gyro horizon when it goes out of order. This switch key is installed most frequently on the pilots' control panel in the area of the arrangement of the bank and pitch indicator of the aircraft.

Turning on the radar in flight. Before turning on the radar the controls on the main and supplementary indicators should be in the following positions:

the switch key "Mode" of the main indicator - in the "Ready" position;

the "Frequency" regulator of the main indicator - in the end position clockwide;

the "Brightmodd" are interested by heatened - in the mid-position;

the "Slant" regulator of the main indicator - in the zero position;

the "Isolation" regulator of both indicators - in the end position counter clockwise;

the "Marks" regulator of both indicators - in the mid-position;

the switch key for the scanning length of the main indicator - in the position "50" or "125"

With the radar assembly with two transmitter-receivers the switch key "Transmitter "Groza," located in the crews cabin, should always be located in the down position.

For turning on the radar it is necessary to press to the detent the key "hadar On" on the right from the main indicator, having preliminarily turned on the circuit breaker. The units of the locator, having warmed up, will be turned on automaticrly in 3-5 min.

In 3-5 min after providing the keys it is necessary to set the necessary "modes," whereupon on the screen of the locator the range rings should be lit up. If in this case even one of the indicators of the range ring does not appear, it is necessary to rotate the "Brightness" regulators of the appropriate indicators to a position in which the rings will appear. In case it is not possible to obtain the range rings by rotation of the "Brightness" regulators, this is accomplished by the regulators "Marks" with the setting of the "Brightness" regulators in the mid-position, and also by setting the switch key of sweep length of the main indicator in the position "400" and vice versa.

ç

The absence of rings at all accepted measures only on one of the two indicators attests to the breakdown only of this indicator while the efficiency of the entire radar as a whole is maintained. Further after the appearance of rings it is necessary to be certain of the normal operation of the locator, for which by rotation of the regulator "Slant" counter clockwise (antenna slanted down) an angle is set equal to 7°, and the scanning range equal to "30" - in flight at altitudes of 1,000-3,000 m. During flights at altitudes 3,000-5,000 m, 5,000-12,000 m, and higher than 12,000 m ranges "50," "125," and "250" respectively are set.

In case of necessity by rotation of the "Frequency" knob counter clockwise it is possible to gain the appearance of an image of the earth's surface on the indicator.

If after rotation of the "Frequency" regulator counter clockwise up to the detent the image does not appear, adjust the "mode" switch again from the position "Earth" to the position "Ready" and again set the necessary operating conditions, having set the "Frequency" regulator into the original position. Repeat the operations described above and after the appearance of an image unless it is necessary do not touch the "Frequency" regulator. With sufficient operating experience on the locator it is possible for the return of the "Frequency" regulator to the extreme clockwise position not to transfer the "Mode" switch into the "Ready" position and vice versa, but to simply rotate the "Frequency" regulator with a sharp jerk.

If with the help of the described operations it is not possible to obtain a radar image it is necessary to increase the angle of slant of the antenna to $8-9^\circ$ and to repeat the check.

During flights over a calm sea at altitudes of 5,000 m and 'igher the obtaining of an image on the indicator may not be possible, which does not always indicate the disrepair of the radar.

Turning on the radar on the ground prior to takeoff. After starting the aircraft engines the radar should be turned on with the help of the "Radar On" key as this was described earlier. The

"mode" handle should be moved from the "Ready" position to the "Earth" position only in the absence in an azimuthal sector with a magnitude of 100° on both sides from the longitudinal axis of the aircraft at distances less than 100 m of any large reflecting objects (hangars, large structures, etc.). Otherwise the radar can be put out of order.

ţ.

1

ì

With the approach of the aircraft toward the end of RW directly before lift-off the switch key "Mode" should be transferred to the position "Earth," the switch key for scanning duration - into position "30," and by rotation of the "Frequency" regulator if necessary the ?mage of large objects in the area of the airport should be obtained. The inclination of the antenna is zero.

After this it is possible to begin the inspection of cloud formations in the area of the proposed trajectory of climb, for which the antenna is raised upward to an angle equal to the angle of climb, and the switch key for mode is transferred to the position "Thunderstorm."

Switching off the radar. During normal operation of the radar, in the case of the absence of a need for it, but with a desire to preserve its readiness for operation at any moment, it is necessary to turn off the transmitter receiver, having set the mode switch in the "Ready" position. As soon as it is required to use the radar again it is necessary that this switch be moved to the required mode and the radar will operate whereupon the delay for warming up the equipment will not be required.

If the equipment will not be needed for a prolonged period of time or in the case of its failure it is necessary to turn the radar off completely, for which the "Off" key on the main indicator is pressed. Moreover, with the subsequent turning on, no matter how short the interval between turnings on was a 3-5 min delay will be required for warming up the equipment and an image can be obtained on the indicator only after this period.

AIRBORNE RADAR ROZ-1

The ROZ-1 is a panoramic circular scan radar set which has four scales of scan: 20, 55, 110, and 200 km. The ROZ-1 has been provided with a sweep delay relative to the sounding impulses (30 and 160 km), making it possible to examine radar reference points at more distance ranges than at a scale of 200 km.

In this way with a delay of 30 km the first 50-km mark will be 80 km, and with a delay of 160 km - 210 km (Fig. 130).



Fig. 130. The sweep delay.

Reversible control of antenna rotation ensures the determining of the drift angle by the method of "Stopped antenna,"

On the right side of the indicator below are the knobs intended for the control of the picture quality (Fig. 131) with the labels "Isolation" and "Foc." These knobs control the tonality of the image: dark tone - from a water surface, light from terrestrial surface, and bright - from individual objects. These knobs separate the weak signal against the background of nosies or strong by retraction of weak, and also emphasize the signals reflected from a water surface. More to the right is a knob with label "Illumination of scale."



Fig. 131. Right side of indicator. KEY: (1) Scale; (2) Isolation; (3) Background; (4) Illumination of scale; (5) Reg. foc.

On the left side of indicator below (Fig. 132) are the knobs with the labels: "Bright. Screen," "Bright. Mark," a switch with the label "Azimut. mark," intended for turning on the signal of the azimuthal mark. On the front of the indicator are: to the right a knob with the label "Scale" for control of the scale and on the left - a knob with the label "Sight" for the control of the sight of the indicator.

The remaining knobs are intended for operations on the maintenance of the locator.



Fig. 132. The left side of indicator. KEY: (1) Regulator W; (2) Regulator of screen brightness; (3) Azimuth. mark; (4) Bright. mark; (5) Bright. screen; (6) Sight.

On control panel (Fig. 133) there are: switch 1 for power supply of the radar with the label "power supply;" it has two positions" "On" and "Off;" switch 6 for high voltage of the transmitter with the label "transmitter;" it has two positions "on" and "off;" switch 18 of the control device for the control of operating conditions: the measurement of rectified voltages of the currents of crystals, the current of the magnetron and voltage of the pressure sensor in the pressurized section of the transmitter. On the switch there are the appropriate labels; switch 15 for scanning scales with the label "Scale" and four positions: "20," "55," "110," and "200;" switch 11 for delay of scan with the label "delay" and with three positions: "0," "30," and "160;" knob 9 for slant of antenna dish with label "Antenna slant" and two directions of movement "Up" and "Down." Over this knob for controlling the setting of the antenna angle is indicator

4 with the appropriate numbering; switch 10 with the label "Rotation of antenna" has two positions: "On" and "Manual," In the overhead position of the switch ("On") the antenna has continuous circulation, while in the down position of the switch ("Manual") the antenna is stopped and changed over to manual control; knob 13 of the switch for rotation of the antenna by hand with the label "Left-right." In this mode the direction of rotation of the antenna will be determined by the direction of pressure on the knob; knob 12 for regulating the rate of rotation of the antenna during the manual control with label "Rate. manual;" knob 17 for the regulation of receiver amplification with the label "Amplification of receiver;" knob 8 for the manual tuning of frequency with the label "Tuning;" knob 7 for turning on the AFC with two labels: "AFC" and "MFC;" knob 16 for turning on the beacon with the Jabel "Beacon" and two positions: "On" and "Off;" knob 14 for the brightness control of dial lights with the labe? "illumination;" monitor 3 with switch 18, intended for the measurement of the basic supplying voltages and currents with the appropriate setting of the switch; warning lamps: turning on of the power supply of station - green 2 - on the left above, the turning on of high voltage - red 5 - on the right above and red dial lights for the face panel.

S.C. States

ALCONT OF

10.1



Fig. 133. Control panel of the radar set.

The turning on and functional check of the ROZ-1

1

Before take-off when connecting to the aircraft electrical system of the airport power source or after starting the engine the operation of the ROZ-1 is checked in this sequence:

1. The controls before turning on are set in the following manner: power switch - in the position "Off"; the switch "transmitter" - in the "Off" position; the switch "Delay" - in the "O" position; switch "Rot. ant." - in "Manual" position; switch "Beacon" in the "Off" position; switch "AFC-MFC" - in the position "MFC;" knob "Amplification of receiver" - in the extreme left position by counter clockwise rotation; knob for antenna rotation rate by hand ("Rate. manual") - in extreme left position by counter clockwise rotation; knob for "Illumination" of panel in extreme left position by counter clockwise rotation; switch "Azimut. mark" - in the "Off" position; knob "Bright. screen" - in the extreme left position by counter clockwise rotation; knob "Background" - in the extreme left position by counter clockwise rotation; knob "Isolation" - in the extreme left position by counter clockwise rotation; knob "Illumination" of scale - in the extreme left position by counter clockwise rotation.

2. After setting the control knobs in the indicated positions check on the voltmeter the voltages 115 V (400 Hz) and 27 V.

3. Turn on the radar, having placed the switch "power supply on" in the overhead position. In this case the dial lights on the face panel and the green warning lamp on it (next to the toggle switch "power supply on") should be lit up. By rotation of the knob "Illumination" adjust the illumination of the panel.

4. On the monitor on the control panel check the basic supply voltages (pointer should be within the limits of the appropriate sectors).

5. Regulate the luminance of the brightness of the sweep trace by clockwise rotation of the knob "Bright. screen."

6. Rotation of the antenna is turned on by setting the switch "Rotate antenna" in the overhead position.

7. For determining the efficiency of the receiving circuit "based on noises" on the screen of the radar it is necessary to set the "background" knob clockwise in the extreme right position and by the rotation of the knob "amplification of receiver" attain the appearance of "noises" on the indicator screen. After this the knob "Bright. screen" is used to attain such a luminance of brightness of scan at which "noises" remain still visible on the screen.

Land Brandstoner - Barbar

8. Attain the appearance of scale marks in the form of bright fine rings by rotation of the knob "Bright. mark" clockwise to the right.

9. Check the correctness of the range scales. For this the "Scale" knob is set successively in the positions "20," "55," "110", and "200." After testing the knob is set in the "20" position.

10. Change in the slope angle of the antenna dish is checked by instrument, for which the switch "Antenna slant" is held successively in the "up" and "down" positions.

11. Check the manual rotation of the antenna, for which the switch "Rotate antenna" is placed in the position "Manual" and by pressure on the "right" and "left" be convinced of the rotation of the antenna. Then the switch "Rotate antenna" is returned to the "On" position.

12. Check the currents of the crystals of the receiver and the AFC, for which the switch of the control device on the control panel is set in the position "Current cryst. receiv" and by

rotation of the "Tuning" knob attain the peak value of the current of the receiver crystal. After this set switch key in the position "Current crystal AFC." The pointer of the instrument should be located within the limits of the established sector.

to a start and the second start and a start of the second start and a start of

「「「「「」」」

13. Check the current of the magnetron. For this place the switch "Transmitter on" in the overhead position, whereupon the switch of the control device is placed in the position "Current of magnetron." At this its pointer should be located within the limits of the appropriate sector.

14. By rotation of the "Tuning' knob attain the appearance of reflected signals from reference points and maximum luminance of their brightness.

With the setting of the "AFC-MFC" switch in the position "AFC" there should be no deterioration in the brightness of radar reference points.

15. Check the operation of the video amplifier by means of setting the "Isolation" knob in the extreme right position by clockwise rotation. The brightness of the radar image should increase.

16. Check the presence of scanning at various delays, setting the "Delay" switch in turn in the positions "30" and "160." On the termination of testing return the switch to the "0" position.

When taxiing for takeoff from the flight line the navigator is obliged to set the switch "Rot. antenna" in the dcwn position and only after the lift-off of the aircraft from the RW to transfer it to the overhead position for the superstructure.

Some Breakdowns in the Operation of the ROZ-1 Radar in Flight and Their Elimination

During operation with ROZ-1 equipment it must be borne in mind that:

1. In the AFC system search is absent. In the case of the disappearance of display (when the current of magnetron, mixers and noises exists) it is necessary to set the "MFC-AFC" switch in the position "MFC," with the "Tuning" knob adjust the radar to the maximally observed distance based on the background of the earth, and after this return the switch to the position "AFC." If with this the image dampens or disappears, then continue the operation of the radar with the toggle switch in the position "MFC."

2. On TU-124 and TU-134 aircraft the pressurized part of the radar is boosted from the pressurized cabin and with a lowering of pressure in it to less than 500 mm Hg the transmitter should be turned off to avoid breakdown.

In the cases of disruption of scan on the radar screen and variations of magnetron current it is necessary to set the control switch on the control panel in the position "Volt. pressure sensor." If the pointer of the control device is located left of the vertical line of the dial face, then this attests to a lowering of pressure in the pressurized section below 500 mm Hg and the transmitter should be turned off.

The transmitter can be turned on only when the pointer of the control device is located to the right of the vertical graduation mark, i.e., when pressure in the pressurized section is above 500 mm Hg cm. 3. In the ROZ-1 there is the possibility of the random blowing out of fuses due to their aging.

5 to -----

Switching Off the Radar

÷ ų

1

an and a start and a start and a start of the start of the

and bold the light on the block of the second se

1. Before landing it is necessary to stop the rotation of the antenna and to turn off the high voltage.

2. After the landing turn off the power supply of the radar.

3. After switching off of the radar all control knobs and controls should be placed in the original position.

Tapept				
Number	of fuses	Circuit, V.	Unit	The signs of <u>failure</u>
Pr-1	0.25A	∿115 ´	LTS-6	There is no scan, the azimuth scale is not illuminated
Pr-2	la	+27	LTS-21	Set not turned on with the power switches in the "On" position
Pr-3 Pr-5	2A 5A	+27 +27	LTS-28 LTS-28	Slant of antenna does not work. Azimuth marks absent on the screen of the indicator with the "Azimut. mark switch turned on
Pr-6	2A	∿115	LTS-6, TR-1. Tr-2 in unit LTS-15	On the monitor of the control panel all supply voltages are absent.

Table 33. Failures in the ROZ-1 in the case of blowing out of fuses.

Table	33.	Continued
		~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~

MARCHINE K. . . .

1

Number of fuses	Circuit, V	Unit	The signs of Failure
Pr-7 10A	+27	LTs-1, LTs-2-12, LTs-21	Slant of antenna does not work, the range scales are not changed over, there is no jllumination of the scale of unit LTs-21, there is no high voltage, transmitter not turned on
Pr-8 10A	∿115	LTs-2-12	There is no magnetron current
Pr-9 2A	~115	LTs-1	Antenna does not rotate along azimuth

If after the replacement of a fuse its repeated burnout occurs, the radar must be turned off.

THE ORDER OF OPERATION WITH A PERISCOPIC SEXTANT

Using the observations of celestial altitude it is possible to solve the following navigational problems:

to lay one astronomical line of position (ALP) on the sun for the control of course for distance or direction during daylight flight;

to locate the aircraft position (MS) by plotting two ALP on a chart based on two navigational stars or one star in a complex with Polaris in flight at night.

In the daytime in flight to the east or west control of the course for distance (on the sun) can be accomplished in the morning and evening hours, control of the course for direction - at noon.

In flight to the north or south, on the contrary, the control of the course for distance is easily accomplished at noon, and for direction - in the morning or evening hours.

In cases when ALP passes to the track at an angle close to 45°, then it can be used only in conjunction with some other position line.

If in night flight the MS is determined by the altitude of the Polar and other navigational stars, then the second star should be found in the east or west.

When determining the MS from any another pair of celestial bodies it is important that their azimuths differ by an angle close to a straight line. The calculation of one ALF based on the sun, moon, or a planet is carried out in a form as shown in Table 38. For this:

1. Record the time of measurements of the celestial altitude T.

2. Record the measured celestial altitude  $h_{\mu a M}$ .

3-4. Record the longitude and latitude of enumerated point  $\lambda$  and  $\phi.$ 

5. Determine  $T_{\Gamma D}$  according to the formula  $T_{\Gamma D} = T_{\Gamma} - N$ .

6-7. From the AAE (Air Almanac) write down the star declination  $\delta$  and its western hour angle  $t_{\Gamma P}$  for a whole number of hours. For the moon also record the parallax.

8. On an interpolation table find and record the correction for  $t_{rp}$  for minutes and seconds  $T_{rp}$ .

9. Determine the local hour angle of the celest.al body  $t_{m}$ , and adding the  $t_{\Gamma p}$  correction to it for minutes and seconds  $T_{\Gamma p}$  and  $\lambda$ , in this case increasing or decreasing  $\lambda$  of the enumerated point is attained in order that  $t_{m}$  would be expressed by the whole even number of degrees.

If the western hour angle is obtained greater than 180, then a supplement to it up to  $360^{\circ}$  is taken and the hour angle is considered eastern.

10-11. Extract from the [TVA] (TBA) [Tables of altitude and azimuths of stars] the values  $h_B$  taking into account the correction for the minutes of declination and value A. If the hour angle is western, then as azimuth assume the supplement of its tabular value to  $360^{\circ}$ .

Table 38. ALP based o or a planet.	Calculation n the sun, :	of the
Orden of	Date	Ce
operation	₩. ПУ	
1	Т	
5	тр	
6	t _{rp}	
8	Correction	
4	Δΰгр	
0	^х п	
2	t _M	
5	^ф п	
7	δ	
2	h _{изм}	
13	C	
<u>]</u> 4	r	
15	q	
16	h исп	
10	^h в	
17	∆h	
18	∆h _{KM}	
11	A	

f one e moon elestial edy H NN

سم مې افغانور دې ۱۹۹۵م کې و ۱۰۰ مار مار د د د ۱۰۰ - بې او د مار

「「「「「「」」」をいっている」、「いった」で、「いいない」をいたいです。 ない

12:03:07:02:0

. . ....

.

alan an is i the line in the set of the set

, ¥

1

19 M C 1

<u>.</u>

12. Determine the course bearing of the celestial bodies:  $\Pi\Pi = A - \Pi Y.$ 

13-15. Write out on a form the corrections: sextant C, for refraction r, for the rotation of the earth q.

16. Amend the measured celestial altitude by the extracted corrections.

17. Calculate  $\Delta h' = h - h_p$ .

18. Convert Ah into kilometers.

After the operations conducted plot the ALP on the chart, for which:

plot the enumerated point with the corrected longitude;

through the enumerated point plot the azimuth line of the celestial bodies. If  $\Delta h > 0$ , then plot the segment equal to  $\Delta h$  in kilometers in the direction from the enumerated point to the celestial body. If h < 0, then the segment is plotted in the direction from the celestial body;

through the end of the plotted segment perpendicular to the azimuth line construct the ALP.

When determining the MS from the intersection of the ALP from two navigational stars the order of calculation remains as previous. Exceptions are:

the measurements and recording of the time of reading are carried out consecutively for two celestial bodies;

and the second second

instead of Greenwich and local hour angles  $t_{p}$  and  $t_{m}$  the Greenwich and local sidereal times  $S_{p}$  and  $S_{m}$ ;

instead of the TVA tables the TVAZ tables compiled on sidereal time are used. With this the value of azimuth is always obtained real without supplements up to 360°;

as a result of the time difference in the measurement of the altitude of the first and second celestial body it is necessary to introduce the correction E for movement of the first ALP during the time between measurements;

the position of the aircraft is defined as the point of intersection of the two ALF.

The order of accomplishing the recordings and calculations is numbered in the first column of Table 39.

Determining the MS by the altitude of the polar and one navigational star is most favorable from the point of view of the effectiveness of astronomical calculations. The order of calculation is shown in Table 40.

For western or eastern star it almost completely coincides with the order of solution by two navigational stars, while for polar the number of recordings is reduced.

Correction D for the movement of the aircraft between the moments of measurements is taken for Polaris based on the correction card E, but with a reverse sign, since the altitude of Polaris is measured later than the altitude of the first celestial body.

a Constitution of the Constitution of the state of the state

Table 39. The calculation of two ALP based on on stars for determining the MS. ٠

1

( A )	n 10551	(B) _{Lara} #	¥	II¥
	11		l chethard IIII(C)	2 спетило 1111_(C)
	1 5	T Trp	ŕ	
	6 7 4	$\frac{S_{1p}}{\Lambda S_{1p}}$		
	8 3	S _N Ŧ		
	2 12 13 14 15	низм С —r q L	-	
	16 9	h _{ucn} h _B		
	17 18 10	Δh Δh _{KM} Α		

KEY: (A) Order of operation; (B) Date; (C) Celestial body.

If navigator considers that the course of aircraft during the operating time of the averager was not changed, then instead of correction E it is more convenient to take a correction for the rotation of the earth (in km). In this case the MS should be shifted by the indicated correction in the northern hemisphere to the right, in the southern - to the left from the track.

267

and the second second

	Tab MS pol tio	le 40. by alti ar and nal sta	Deter tude c one na r.	rmining )f  viga-
(A)	Hiroka	(B) ,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	₩	пу.,
	13	1 съечнао 1011(-С.)	Зисяда (D)	110лярная - (Е)
	1 6	<b>Τ</b> <b>Τ</b> _{τμ}		****
	7 8 5	$\left  \begin{array}{c} S_{rp} \\ AS_{rp} \\ \lambda \end{array} \right $	-	
	9 4 ·	S _N Tn 4		
	2 14 16 18	назм С r hucu		
	21 23 11	$ \begin{array}{c} h_{\rm B} \\ \Lambda h \\ \Lambda \end{array} $		
	3 15 17 19 20 12	$\begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{E} \\ h_{\text{nonnp}} \\ \mathbf{C} \\ \mathbf{C} \\ \mathbf{C} \\ \mathbf{M}_{\text{non}} \\ D \\ \Delta_{7000} \\ \mathbf{C} \\ \mathbf$		
	24	ę	,	

Are Ser

a start a start was start as a start of the start of the

ì

2

: ; }

ś

KEY: (A) Order of operation; (B) Date; (C) Celestial body; (D) Star; (E) Polar.

## ASTRONOMICAL CALCULATION AIDS

The aviation astronomical (AAE annual) is intended for obtaining the equatorial coordinates of the Sun, Moon, Venus, Mars, Jupiter, Saturn, and the brightest stars and for the calculation of the conditions of natural illumination, and also the rising, setting, and phases of the moon at assigned points and enroute. The AAE is put out yearly and consists of excerpt tables for every day which contain: an second and the second second show a bear a bear and the second second second second second second second se

where we want the second

an an their second and

the moments of the visible rising and setting of the upper solar limb on the meridian of Greenwich for an observer who is located at sea level and their diurnal variations;

the duration of civil and nautical twilight for an observer who is located at sea level;

the moments of the visible rising and setting of the upper limb of the moon on the meridian cf Greenwich for an observer who is located at sea level and their diurnal variations;

Greenwich hour at les  $t_{\Gamma D}$  for the moon;

quasi-difference  $\overline{\Delta}$  between two successive tabular values for the Greenwich hour angles of the moon;

declination of the moon  $\delta$  and difference  $\Delta$  between two successive tabular values of the declination of the mocn;

correction of parallax p to the measured altitude of the moon;

the moment of onset of one of the fo.r main phases of the moon;

Greenwich sidereal time  $S_{\Gamma n}$ ;

Greenwich hour angles  $t_{\Gamma\rho}$ , declination  $\delta$  and the right ascension  $\alpha$  of the sun;

Greenwich hour angles  $t_{\Gamma P}$  and the declination  $\delta$  of the planets Venus, Mars, Jupiter, and Saturn.

The AAE makes it possible to solve the problems:

determining the moments of rising and setting of the sun and moon;

determining the moments of onset and termination of twilight;

determining the areas of a nonsetting and nonrising sun;

determinists of local hour angle t and the declination  $\delta$ of the sun,  $\delta > \alpha$  and planets at an assigned moment;

determining the moment. of culmination of celestial bodies;

determining of the right ascension  $\alpha$  of stars, the sun, moon, and planets;

determining the position of planets among the stars.

The tables of altitudes and azimuths of celestial bodies (TVA) and (TVAZ). For the calculation of the altitude and azimuth of celestial bodies the "Tables of altitudes and azimuths of the sun, moon, and planets" (TVA) and the "Table of altitudes and azimuths of stars" (TVAZ) are used.

The TVA is published in three books: TVA-1 - for latitudes from 0 to  $\pm 30^{\circ}$ ,  $TVA-II - from \pm 30$  to  $\pm 60^{\circ}$ , and  $TVA-III - from \pm 60$  to  $\pm 80^{\circ}$ .

All and the second s

and the state of the second states

The TVAZ is published in six books: three books for north latitudes and three for south. The TVAZ-I - for latitudes from 0 to  $32^{\circ}$ , TVAZ-II - for the latitudes from 2d to  $60^{\circ}$ , TVAZ-III - from 56 to  $88^{\circ}$ , TVAZ-S-I - for the latitudes from 0 to  $-32^{\circ}$ , TVAZ-S-II - from  $-2^{\circ}$  to  $-60^{\circ}$ ; and TVAZ-S-III - from -56 to  $-88^{\circ}$ .

Input data for the determination of the altitudes and azimuths of celestial bodies with the help of TVA are:

The latitude of the place ¢, expressed by an even number of whole degrees;

the western or eastern local hour angle of the celestial body t, expressed by an even number of whole degrees;

the declination of the heavenly body s, expressed in degrees and minutes within the limits of  $\pm 29^{\circ}$ .

The tables are constructed for whole degrees of declination within the limits of  $\pm 29^{\circ}$ . The declinations, similar (on sign) with latitude, are given in the upper part of the tables, and dissimilar - in the lower.

Every column of a page corresponds to one of the even latituder. It is ulvided into three parts: in the first the astronomical altitudes are given, in the second - factors f which are input data for the correction of altitudes for minutes of declination, and in the third - the azimetha of celestial bodies. Altitudes are given to within 1', and azimuths - to within 1.
In the appendices to every book correction cards are given for the astronomical altitude for minutes of declination, correction cards for the refraction of the atmosphere, for the rotation of the earth, for the movement of the aircraft, and tables for conversion of arc minutes of the great circle into kilometers.

The TVA are not connected with the continually changing concrete values of the equatorial coordinates of celestial bodies, therefore they can be used at any time regardless of the year of publication.

The input data for determination of the altitudes and azimuths of the stars with the help of TVAZ are:

the latitude of place  $\phi$ , expressed by an even number of whole degrees:

local sidereal time S, expressed by the integer of degrees;

the name of the star.

Along with the altitudes and azimuths of stars the TVAZ also contains corrections for the altitude of Polaris  $(\Delta \phi_{\Pi O \Lambda S P})$ . The altitudes of stars and corrections for the altitude of Polaris are given to within 1', and the azimuths of stars - to within 1°. When using the "Tables of the altitudes and azimuths of stars" one ought to focus attention on the year of the publication for which they are compiled. The tables can be used for ±4 years from that year for which they were published.

Airborne celestial charts. For studying the celestial sphere and selection of and searching for stars the airborne celestial charts (BKN) are used. They are compiled for the northern latitudes in three versions: BKN-II - for latitudes from 30 to 44°, BKN-II - from 46 to 60°, and PKN-III - from 62 to 70°.

With the help of BKN it is also possible to determine the approximate equatorial and horizontal coordinates of celestial bodies, the moments of rising, setting, and culmination of celestial bodies.

USE OF DAK-DB-5 ASTROCOMPASS IN FLIGHT

The DAK-DB-5 astrocompless ensures in flight the measurement of the true or orthodromic course of the aircraft.

A condition for the correct measurement of true course is the compensation of the rotation of the aircraft. In view of the fact that in the DAK-DB-5 astrocompass for compensation of bank a pendulum bank corrector is used, it is necessary to measure the true course only under the condition of forward flight or under the conditions of uniform climb or descent.

Another condition for the precision measurement of true course relative to the meridian of the position of the aircraft is the fine adjustment on the instrument of geographical coordinates  $\phi$  and  $\lambda$ . With this the measuring error of true course of the flight of the aircraft is also found in direct dependence on the solar angle.

Error in determining true course reaches the maximum values at high levels of the sun because of the inaccurate establishment of longitude. The permissible values of error in determining the position of an aircraft in the measurement of the flight course of an aircraft are shown in Table 41.

Table 42. Permissible $\lambda_{ycn} = -\lambda_{deйств}$					
¢°	80		85	86	87
λ°	18	28	44	58	84

The DAK-DB-5 astrocompass ensures the continuous determining of true course and its feeding to the indicators. By maintaining on the indicator a constant value of course, the airplane drew can perform flight on an assigned direction The assigned route is usually plotted either with true (magnetic) course angles (IPU), or with orthodromic course angles (OPU).

For accomplishing flight from an IPU(MPU) the coordinates of the aircraft position are introduced into the astrocompass periodically by hand. In this way the aircraft is established on the calculated loxodromic course (logarithmic curve arund PN) only at the moments of the setting of the actual coordinates  $\phi$  and  $\lambda$  on the calculator. In the intervals between the introduction of coordinates the aircraft will begin to deviate from the assigned heading and flight will occur on a certain curve similar to a rhumb line.

The magnitude of greatest deviation Z of the aircraft from the assigned route, indicated in Table 43, in flight on a rhumb line depends on the solar angle and length of stages of the route.

The calculations are made for a range of latitudes 40-70°.

275

lable	43.					
Z (KM)				1		
	5, 84					
A. deg	200	400	t ÇU	603	1660	
10	0.4	0,9	1.8	2,8	4,1	
30 50	1 2 4	4.6	10.5	18.5	29.6	
70	5,5	11,0	21.0	43,0	63,0	

201

From Table 44 it follows that at the solar angles up to 30 at 700 km stages of route the lateral deviations are so low that they can be disregarded. With an increase in solar angles the stages of the routes, on which the lateral deviations do not exceed 5 km, decrease: at solar angles of  $30-50^{\circ}$  - to 500 km, and at altitudes of  $50-70^{\circ}$  - to 300 km.

Table 44. Frequency of input of coordinates into the calculator of the astrocompass (hour min).

				• • •	
n. deg	Type of aircraft				
	I1-18	An-10	Tu-104	Tu-114	
10	3.00	3.00	2.30	2.30	
30	1.40	1.20	1.00	1.00	
50	1.00	1.00	0.45	0.45	
70	0.40	0.40	0.30	0.30	

From the indicated relationships it is possible to determine the frequency of input of coordinates into the calculator of the astrocompass during flight on a rhumb line (Table 44). In this case it is proposed that the flight course of the aircraft is calculated taking wind into account.

For accomplishing flight on the great circle the astrocompass DAK-DB-5 contains a special instrument which compensates the movement of the aircraft in flight. As a result of the operation of the course correctors the axis of search rotation of the plane of direction finding of the sighting system is always retained parallel to the vertical line of the departure point. With any turn of aircraft in a horizontal plane the axis of sighting system will depart from the correct position, since it will not be parallel to the vertical lines of the departure point. With this the sighting system will obtain supplementary rotation which will lead to an error in the course. This error will obtain the greatest value during flight to the sun or from it. In Table 45 the permissible angles of turn of an aircraft are indicated at whether the error in the course does not exceed 2° on sections of the great circle of various length. The calculation was conduct a for the solar angle h, equal to 45°, and the heading  $KU_{CONH}$ , equal to 0 or 180°.

Table 45. The permissible angles of the turn of an aircraft.

Length of the section of ortho- drome, km	200	400	600	800	1000
Fermissible angle of turn, degrees	64	32	2)	16	12

Error in the measurement of course during flight along the great circle appears also when there is a drift angle which is not considered by the course correctors. If we take the orthogonal drome section S = 1000 km, drift angle US = 10°, and solar angle h = 45°, then the error in course will not exceed 1.6°. With an increase in the solar angle and in presence of drift angle the error in the measurement of course increases.

## Astronomical numbers and dates

The visible apparent diameter of the sun and moon.....0.5° The mean circumference of the Difference in the equatorial and The average distance from earth to The average distance from earth to sun.....149,500,000 km The distance from the solar system to the nearest star (a Centaur).....4.3 light years The distance from the sun to the The distance from the earth to the nearest galaxy - Andromedia nebula.....l million light years Rate of movement of noon around the earth....l km/s The period of revolution of moon around the earth and the period of Rate of movement of earth around Rate of movement of the sun with the solar system relative to stars (to the constellations of Lyra and Hercules)......20 km/s The rate of rotation of the sun and its surrounding stars around the galactic center.....400 km/s The period of rotation of the sun The mass of the sun is greater than the mass of earth by ..... times

The diameter of the sun is greater The number of stars visible to the naked eye (on the entire celestial The replacement of the cycle of lunar phases occurs every ..... 29.5 days The general duration of crepuscular time at the pole in spring and in Orbital velocities of artificial bodies (at the earth): circular.....7.9 km/s planet escape.....ll.2 km/s

solar escape.....16.7 km/s

THE INTERNATIONAL SYSTEM OF STANDARD TIME

The entire earth's surfaces is divided into 24 time zones by meridians distant from one another by 15°, which corresponds to a difference of one hour in time. The numbering of time zones is conducted from the zero zone, included between meridians 7°30' east from the mean meridian of this zone - the Greenwich zero zone. To the east from the zero zone the zones are numbered -1, -2, -3, ..., -12; their mean meridians respectively  $15^{\circ}$ ,  $30^{\circ}$ ,  $45^{\circ}$ , ...,  $180^{\circ}$  east from the Greenwich meridian; to the west from the zero zone the zones are numbered from +1 to +12.

Within the limits of every zone the hours should indicate mean solar time of the mean meridian of this zone (with the exception of the cases when in any state or area to the determined period of time it is introduced the so-called "summer time" or the hour hand is constantly moved forward with respect to the time of the given zone.

รรรณมีและ และแรง สุขรับสี รักษณะ และสมบุรรม์ และรักษณ์ และ ได้สารใหม่และเราสารประวัติสารปล่อย

Readings of time in every two zones should differ by a whole number of nours equal to the difference in the numbers of these zones (the more eastern the zone the larger the readings of time).

**Examples:** 1. An aircraft is located in zone -2 and has on its clock the time of this zone. The clock shows 10 hours 5 minutes 10 seconds. What is the time in Greenwhich? The answer: 8 hours 5 minutes 10 seconds.

In the zone +5 the time is 14 hours 51 minutes 9 seconds.
What is the time in zone +3? The answer: 16 hours 51 minutes
9 seconds.

In practice the boundaries of time zones coincide with the boundary meridians only in open parts of the oceans and seas and in sparsely populated territories. On dry land, as a rule, they coincide with the state, administrative, or natural boundaries. The boundaries and the numbering of zones appear on the map of time zones.

280